
Document Number: 1792469 

 
 
 
 

 
MONDAY, JUNE 17, 2019 

COUNCIL MEETING – 6:00 PM 
 

“Live” Broadcast via City Website www.cnv.org/LiveStreaming 
Complete Agenda Package available at www.cnv.org/CouncilMeetings 

 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
1. Regular Council Meeting Agenda, June 17, 2019 
 
ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 
2. Regular Council Meeting Minutes, June 10, 2019 
 
3. Special Regular Council Meeting Minutes, June 11, 2019 
 
PUBLIC INPUT PERIOD 
 
PRESENTATIONS 
 

2019 Cool It! Challenge Winners – Mayor Buchanan and Manon Gartside, 
Environmental Educator, British Columbia Sustainable Energy Association 

 
Information Report, June 5, 2019 – “2019 Cool It! Challenge Winners” 

 
2019 Living City Award Recipients – Mayor Buchanan and Steve Tornes, 
Vice Chair, Advisory Planning Commission 

 
Information Report, June 5, 2019 – “2019 Living City Award Recipients” 

 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Item *4 is listed in the Consent Agenda for consideration. 
 
BYLAW – ADOPTION 
 
*4. “Local Area Service Parcel Tax Bylaw, 2019, No. 8711” (Paved Lane 

Construction East of the 1700 Block of Fell Avenue) 
 
  

AGENDA FOR THE REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL TO 
COMMENCE AT 6:00 PM, IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, CITY 
HALL, 141 WEST 14TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC, ON 
MONDAY, JUNE 17, 2019 



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – June 17, 2019 
 

  Page 2 
 
DELEGATION 
 

U11 North Vancouver Football Club Euro Travel Team 2019 – Ephraim Claro, 
Finn Montgomery, Szilard Puddiford, and Righ Walker – Euro Travel Team 2019 
– Report on Italy Travels 
 
Item 5 refers. 

 
CORRESPONDENCE 
 
5. Darla Johnston, Parent Volunteer, North Vancouver Football Club Euro 2019 

Parent Committee – Euro Travel Team 2019 – Report on Italy Travels, 
February 9, 2019 

 
DELEGATION 
 

Ian Rose-Innes, Director, Cycling Without Age North Shore, and Annwen 
Loverin, Executive Director, Silver Harbour Centre – Trishaw as a Mobility Aid 
 
Item 6 refers. 

 
CORRESPONDENCE 
 
6. Ian Rose-Innes, Director, Cycling Without Age North Shore – Trishaw as a 

Mobility Aid, April 11, 2019 
 
7. Rail-Volution – Building Livable Communities with Transit, September 8-11, 2019  
 
REPORT 
 
8. Mosquito Creek Bridge Replacement – Funding Reallocation 
 
BYLAWS – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
9. “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2018, 

No. 8623, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8722” (Funding Reallocation) 
 
10. “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2018, 

No. 8625, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8723” (Funding Reallocation) 
 
11. “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2018, 

No. 8690, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8724” (Funding Reallocation) 
 
REPORT 
 
12. Bike Valet at Community Events – Policy Updates  



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – June 17, 2019 
 

  Page 3 
 
PUBLIC HEARING – 151 East Keith Road – 7:00 PM 
 
BYLAWS – THIRD READING 
 
13. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8618” (Urban 

Systems / IMH 151 E Keith Apartments Ltd., 151 East Keith Road, CD-702) 
 
14. “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2018, No. 8622” (Urban Systems / IMH 151 E Keith 

Apartments Ltd., 151 East Keith Road, CD-702, Rental Housing Commitments) 
 
NOTICE OF MOTION 
 
15. Strategies to Steward Land and Housing Resources – Mayor Buchanan 
 
COUNCIL REPORT 
 
Each Council member is permitted 5 minutes to report on their activities. 
 
PUBLIC CLARIFICATION PERIOD 
 
COUNCIL INQUIRIES 
 
NEW ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
 
NOTICES OF MOTION 
 
CITY CLERK’S RECOMMENDATION 
 

THAT Council recess to the Committee of the Whole, Closed session, pursuant 
to the Community Charter, Section 90(1)(e) [land matter]. 

 
REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE (CLOSED SESSION) 
 
ADJOURN 



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – June 17, 2019 
 

  Page 4 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
1. Regular Council Meeting Agenda, June 17, 2019 
 
ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 
2. Regular Council Meeting Minutes, June 10, 2019 
 
3. Special Regular Council Meeting Minutes, June 11, 2019 
 
PUBLIC INPUT PERIOD 
 
The Public Input Period is addressed in sections 12.20 to 12.28 of “Council Procedure Bylaw, 2015, No. 
8500.” 
 
The time allotted for each speaker appearing before Council during the Public Input Period is two 
minutes, with the number of speakers set at five persons.  Speakers’ presentations will be audio and 
video recorded, as well as live-streamed on the Internet, and will form part of the public record. 
 
To make a submission to Council during the Public Input Period, a person must complete the Public Input 
Period sign-up sheet at City Hall prior to the Regular Council Meeting.  A person who fails to complete, or 
only partially completes, the Public Input Period sign-up sheet will not be permitted to make a submission 
to Council during the Public Input Period.  The sign-up sheet will be available on the table in the lobby 
outside the Council Chamber from 5:30 pm until 5:55 pm before a Council meeting. 
 
When appearing before Council, speakers are requested to state their name and address for the record.  
Speakers may display materials on the document camera at the podium in the Council Chamber and 
provide written materials to the City Clerk for distribution to Council, only if these materials have been 
provided to the City Clerk by 4:00 pm on the date of the meeting. 
 
The Public Input Period provides an opportunity for input only, without the expectation of a response from 
Council, and places the speaker’s concern on record. 
 
Speakers must comply with the General Rules of Conduct set out in section 5.1 of “Council Procedure 
Bylaw, 2015, No. 8500” and may not speak with respect to items as listed in section 12.25(2). 
 
Speakers are requested not to address matters that refer to items from a concluded Public Hearing/Public 
Meeting and to Public Hearings, Public Meetings and Committee meetings when those matters are 
scheduled on the same evening’s agenda and an opportunity for public input is provided when the 
particular item comes forward for discussion. 
 
Please address the Mayor as “Mayor, followed by his/her surname” or “Your Worship”.  Councillors 
should be addressed as “Councillor, followed by their surname”. 
  



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – June 17, 2019 
 

  Page 5 
 
PRESENTATIONS 
 

2019 Cool It! Challenge Winners – Mayor Buchanan and Manon Gartside, 
Environmental Educator, British Columbia Sustainable Energy Association 

 
Information Report, June 5, 2019 – “2019 Cool It! Challenge Winners” 

 
2019 Living City Award Recipients – Mayor Buchanan and Steve Tornes, 
Vice Chair, Advisory Planning Commission 

 
Information Report, June 5, 2019 – “2019 Living City Award Recipients” 

 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Item *4 is listed in the Consent Agenda for consideration. 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT the recommendation listed within the “Consent Agenda” be approved. 
 
START OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
BYLAW – ADOPTION 
 
*4. “Local Area Service Parcel Tax Bylaw, 2019, No. 8711” (Paved Lane 

Construction East of the 1700 Block of Fell Avenue) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Local Area Service Parcel Tax Bylaw, 2019, No. 8711” (Paved Lane 
Construction East of the 1700 Block of Fell Avenue) be adopted, signed by the 
Mayor and City Clerk and affixed with the corporate seal. 

 
END OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
  



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – June 17, 2019 
 

  Page 6 
 
DELEGATION 
 

U11 North Vancouver Football Club Euro Travel Team 2019 – Ephraim Claro, 
Finn Montgomery, Szilard Puddiford, and Righ Walker 
 
Re: Euro Travel Team 2019 – Report on Italy Travels 
 
Item 5 refers. 

 
CORRESPONDENCE 
 
5. Darla Johnston, Parent Volunteer, North Vancouver Football Club Euro 2019 

Parent Committee, February 9, 2019 – File: 01-0220-07-0001/2019 
 
 Re: Euro Travel Team 2019 – Report on Italy Travels 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
THAT the correspondence from Darla Johnston, Parent Volunteer, North 
Vancouver Football Club Euro 2019 Parent Committee, dated February 9, 2019, 
regarding the “Euro Travel Team 2019 – Report on Italy Travels”, be received 
with thanks. 

 
DELEGATION 
 

Ian Rose-Innes, Director, Cycling Without Age North Shore, and Annwen 
Loverin, Executive Director, Silver Harbour Centre 
 
Re: Trishaw as a Mobility Aid 
 
Item 6 refers. 

 
CORRESPONDENCE 
 
6. Ian Rose-Innes, Director, Cycling Without Age North Shore, April 11, 2019 

– File: 01-0230-0054/2019 
 
 Re: Trishaw as a Mobility Aid 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
THAT the correspondence from Ian Rose-Innes, Director, Cycling Without Age 
North Shore, dated April 11, 2019, regarding “Trishaw as a Mobility Aid”, be 
received with thanks. 

 
  



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – June 17, 2019 
 

  Page 7 
 
CORRESPONDENCE – Continued  
 
7. Rail-Volution – Building Livable Communities with Transit, September 8-11, 2019 

– File: 01-0390-01-0001/2019 
 

Re: Rail-Volution – Building Livable Communities with Transit, 
September 8-11, 2019, Vancouver, BC 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
PURSUANT to the correspondence regarding “Rail-Volution – Building Livable 
Communities with Transit”: 
 
THAT Council members be authorized to attend the Rail-Volution – Building 
Livable Communities with Transit Conference, to be held September 8-11, 2019, 
in Vancouver, BC; 
 
THAT the expenses be paid in accordance with City Policy; 
 
AND THAT the funds be provided from the Conference Education Travel 
Account. 

 
REPORT 
 
8. Mosquito Creek Bridge Replacement – Funding Reallocation 

– File: 11-5400-02-0001/1 
 

Report: Manager, Engineering Planning and Design, June 5, 2019 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Manager, Engineering Planning and Design, 
dated June 5, 2019, entitled “Mosquito Creek Bridge Replacement – Funding 
Reallocation”: 
 
THAT $1,480,000 of existing funding from Project 51162 B-Line: Queensbury to 
Heywood be reallocated to fund the Mosquito Creek Bridge Replacement; 
 
THAT “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2018, 
No. 8690, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8724” (Funding Reallocation) be 
considered; 
 

Continued… 
  



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – June 17, 2019 
 

  Page 8 
 
REPORT – Continued  

 
8. Mosquito Creek Bridge Replacement – Funding Reallocation 

– File: 11-5400-02-0001/1 – Continued  
 
THAT $1,000,000 of existing funding from Project 53226: Moodyville 
Neighbourhood Transportation Improvements be reallocated to fund the 
Mosquito Creek Bridge Replacement; 
 
THAT “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2018, 
No. 8625, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8723” (Funding Reallocation) be 
considered; 

 
THAT $200,000 of existing funding from Project 51168: 2019 Pavement 
Management be reallocated to fund the Mosquito Creek Bridge Replacement; 
 
THAT $190,000 of existing funding from Project 53240: East 3rd: Queensbury to 
Kennard be reallocated to fund the Mosquito Creek Bridge Replacement; 
 
THAT “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2018, 
No. 8623, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8722” (Funding Reallocation) be 
considered; 
 
THAT $350,000 of existing funding from Project 56084: Watermain Replacement 
East 21st: Lonsdale to St. Georges be reallocated to fund watermain replacement 
associated with the Mosquito Creek Bridge Replacement; 
 
THAT $180,000 of existing funding from Project 56085: Watermain Replacement 
St. Georges: East 21st to East 22nd be reallocated to fund watermain replacement 
associated with the Mosquito Creek Bridge Replacement; 
 
AND THAT $200,000 of existing funding from Project 51089: Bridge 
Rehabilitation be reallocated to fund the Mosquito Creek Bridge Replacement. 

 
Items 9, 10 and 11 refer. 

 
BYLAWS – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
9. “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2018, 

No. 8623, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8722” (Funding Reallocation) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2018, 
No. 8623, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8722” (Funding Reallocation) be given 
first, second and third readings. 

 



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – June 17, 2019 
 

  Page 9 
 
BYLAWS – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS – Continued  
 
10. “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2018, 

No. 8625, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8723” (Funding Reallocation) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2018, 
No. 8625, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8723” (Funding Reallocation) be given 
first, second and third readings. 

 
11. “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2018, 

No. 8690, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8724” (Funding Reallocation) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2018, 
No. 8690, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8724” (Funding Reallocation) be given 
first, second and third readings. 

 
REPORT 
 
12. Bike Valet at Community Events – Policy Updates – File: 16-8330-05-0001/1 
 

Report: Deputy Director, Planning and Development, and Planning Assistant, 
Transportation, June 5, 2019 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 

 
PURSUANT to the report of the Deputy Director, Planning and Development, and 
Planning Assistant, Transportation, dated June 5, 2019, entitled “Bike Valet at 
Community Events – Policy Updates”: 
 
THAT the updated Shipyards and Foot of Lonsdale Events Policy (C59B) and 
Policy for Events in Parks and Public Open Spaces (C57C) be approved. 

 
  



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – June 17, 2019 
 

  Page 10 
 
PUBLIC HEARING – 151 East Keith Road 
 
“Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8618” (Urban Systems / 
IMH 151 E Keith Apartments Ltd., 151 East Keith Road, CD-702) and “Housing 
Agreement Bylaw, 2018, No. 8622” (Urban Systems / IMH 151 E Keith Apartments Ltd., 
151 East Keith Road, CD-702, Rental Housing Commitments) would rezone the subject 
property from a High Density Apartment Residential (RH-1) Zone to a Comprehensive 
Development 702 (CD-702) Zone to permit the development of two infill buildings that 
would add 40 residential rental units to the existing tower. The infill buildings would add 
0.88 FSR to the property, with the tallest building being approximately 18.1 metres 
(59.3 feet) tall. A total of 77 parking stalls would be located within the existing parking 
structure. 
 
Bylaw Nos. 8618 and 8622 to be considered under Items 13 and 14. 
 

AGENDA 
 
Staff presentation 
Applicant presentation 
Representations from the public 
Questions from Council 
Motion to conclude the Public Hearing 

 
BYLAWS – THIRD READING 
 
13. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8618” (Urban 

Systems / IMH 151 E Keith Apartments Ltd., 151 East Keith Road, CD-702) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8618” 
(Urban Systems / IMH 151 E Keith Apartments Ltd., 151 East Keith Road, 
CD-702) be given third reading. 

 
14. “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2018, No. 8622” (Urban Systems / IMH 151 E Keith 

Apartments Ltd., 151 East Keith Road, CD-702, Rental Housing Commitments) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2018, No. 8622” (Urban Systems / 
IMH 151 E Keith Apartments Ltd., 151 East Keith Road, CD-702, Rental Housing 
Commitments) be given third reading. 

 
  



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting – June 17, 2019 
 

  Page 11 
 
NOTICE OF MOTION 
 
15. Strategies to Steward Land and Housing Resources – Mayor Buchanan 
 

WHEREAS the City of North Vancouver has the goal to be the healthiest small 
city in the world; 
 
WHEREAS the City is examining ways to build affordable and mid-market 
housing to help create a livable community for all our residents; 
 
WHEREAS the City values its limited land resources and remains committed to 
protecting these resources for generations to come; 
 
WHEREAS the City requires fiscal responsibility with respect to the management 
of its resources; 
 
AND WHEREAS there exists, in practice, numerous vehicles, approaches and 
scenarios for achieving Council’s healthy community, affordable housing and 
responsible fiscal management goals and objectives; 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT Council direct staff to initiate an 
examination of the appropriate vehicles and strategies to steward land and 
housing resources, including but not limited to, a community land trust, non-profit, 
and community foundation with clearly stated goals, objectives and outcomes. 

 

COUNCIL REPORT 
 
Each Council member is permitted 5 minutes to report on their activities. 
 
PUBLIC CLARIFICATION PERIOD 
 
The Public Clarification Period is limited to 10 minutes in total and is an opportunity for 
the public to ask a question regarding process or clarification on an item on the Regular 
Council Agenda. The Public Clarification Period concludes after 10 minutes and the 
Regular Council Meeting reconvenes. 
 
COUNCIL INQUIRIES 
 
NEW ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
 
NOTICES OF MOTION 
 

CITY CLERK’S RECOMMENDATION 
 

THAT Council recess to the Committee of the Whole, Closed session, pursuant 
to the Community Charter, Section 90(1)(e) [land matter]. 

 
REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE (CLOSED SESSION) 
 
ADJOURN 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



Document Number: 1519039 

  
 MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL HELD IN THE 

COUNCIL CHAMBER, CITY HALL, 141 WEST 14th  STREET, NORTH 
VANCOUVER, BC, ON MONDAY, JUNE 10, 2019 

 
 
PRESENT 
 
COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

 
 
STAFF MEMBERS 
 

Mayor L. Buchanan 
Councillor H. Back 
Councillor D. Bell 
Councillor A. Girard 
Councillor T. Hu  
Councillor J. McIlroy 
Councillor T. Valente 
 
 
 

L. McCarthy, CAO 
K. Graham, City Clerk 
C. Baird, Deputy City Clerk 
J. Peters, Assistant City Clerk 
B. Pearce, Director, Strategic and Corporate Services 
H. Reinhold, Deputy Director, Strategic and Corporate Services 
C. Nichols, Manager, Human Resources 
D. Pope, Director, Engineering, Parks and Environment 
B. Willock, Manager, Engineering Planning and Design 
B. Themens, Director, Finance 
M. Epp, Director, Planning and Development 
J. Draper, Deputy Director, Planning and Development 
S. Galloway, Manager, Planning and Development 
H. Evans, Community Planner 
L. Vargas, Traffic Engineer 
B. Green, Traffic Engineering Technician 
C. French, Planning Assistant 
L. Orr, Manager, Business and Community Partnerships 
P. Duffy, Manager, Bylaw Services 
 

The meeting was called to order at 6:00 pm. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Girard 
 
1. THAT the Regular Agenda of June 10, 2019 be amended by removing Item #13 – 

“Integrated Planning Strategy” and the related presentation; 
 

AND THAT the Agenda, as amended, be approved. 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 
ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Girard 
 
2. Regular Council Meeting Minutes, May 27, 2019 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 2 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 10, 2019 

PROCLAMATIONS 
 
Mayor Buchanan declared the following proclamations: 
 

National Health and Fitness Day – June 1, 2019 
Built Green Day – June 5, 2019 
World Elder Abuse Awareness Day – June 15, 2019 
 

PUBLIC INPUT PERIOD 
 

• Aline Burlone, 818 East 6th Street, North Vancouver, spoke regarding the Cloverley 
Traffic Calming Plan. 

• Miles Norman, 739 East 5th Street, North Vancouver, spoke regarding the Cloverley 
Traffic Calming Plan. 

• Olav Langelaar, 728 East 5th Street, North Vancouver, spoke regarding the Cloverley 
Traffic Calming Plan. 

• Sue Knapp, 605-108 East 14th Street, North Vancouver, spoke regarding smoke 
pollution emissions at 1352 Londsdale Avenue. 

 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Girard 
 

THAT the recommendations listed within the “Consent Agenda”, be approved. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
START OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
REPORTS 
 
*3. Statutory Report Required Under Bill 27 – File: 05-1610-01-0001/2019 
 

Report: Director, Finance, May 22, 2019 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Girard 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Director, Finance, dated May 22, 2019, entitled 
“Statutory Report Required Under Bill 27”: 
 
THAT the report be received and filed. 

(CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY) 
 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 3 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 10, 2019 

CONSENT AGENDA – CONTINUED  
 
*4. 2019 Living City Grants – File: 05-1850-20-0008/2019 
 

Report: Environmental Sustainability Specialist, May 22, 2019 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Girard 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Environmental Sustainability Specialist, dated May 29, 
2019, entitled “2019 Living City Grants”: 
 
THAT 2019 Living City grants totaling $15,000 be awarded as follows: 
 

Name of Applicant 
Amount 
Recommended 

The Cascadia Society for Social Working    $2,267 
North Shore Neighbourhood House, Edible Garden Project   $3,000 
Gerry’s Garden Society   $1,567 
Lower Lonsdale Community Gardens   $3,000 
Lookout Housing & Health Society   $2,066 
SFU, Pacific Water Research Centre   $1,500 
Wildcoast Ecological Society   $1,600 

TOTAL $15,000 

 
AND THAT the Coho Society of the North Shore, Fresh Air Learning Society, Ocean 
Ambassadors Canada and Wild Bird Trust be thanked for their applications and 
advised that their applications have been denied at this time. 

 
(CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY) 

 
END OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
DELEGATION 
 

Charlotte Ellice, Branch Manager, BC SPCA, West Vancouver Branch 
 
Re: BC SPCA Services and Resources 
 
Charlotte Ellice, Branch Manager, BC SPCA, West Vancouver Branch provided a 
PowerPoint presentation regarding “BC SPCA Services and Resources” and 
responded to questions of Council, along with the Manager, Bylaw Services. 

  
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 4 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 10, 2019 

CORRESPONDENCE 
 
5. Charlotte Ellice, Branch Manager, BC SPCA, West Vancouver Branch,  

February 28, 2019 – File: 09-3900-01-0001/2019 
 
 Re: BC SPCA Services and Resources 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Girard 

 
THAT the correspondence from Charlotte Ellice, Branch Manager, BC SPCA West 
Vancouver Branch, dated February 28, 2019, regarding “BC SPCA Services and 
Resources”, be received with thanks; 
 
AND THAT staff be directed to investigate the suggested bylaw amendments raised by 
the BC SPCA and associated cost implications. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
DELEGATION 
 

Murray Mollard, Executive Director, North Shore Community Resources 
 
Re: North Shore Young Citizens’ Forum Engagement 
 
Elizabeth Chick, Hassan Merali and Ali White, Members, North Shore Community 
Resources, provided a PowerPoint presentation and responded to questions of 
Council. 

 
CORRESPONDENCE 
 
6. Murray Mollard, Executive Director, North Shore Community Resources,  

May 1, 2019 – File: 10-4710-01-0001/2019 
 
 Re: North Shore Young Citizens’ Forum Engagement 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Hu 

 
THAT the correspondence from Murray Mollard, Executive Director, North Shore 
Community Resources, dated May 1, 2019, regarding “North Shore Young Citizens’ 
Forum Engagement”, be received with thanks. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 5 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 10, 2019 

REPORTS 
 
7. North Shore Young Citizens’ Forum Report – File: 10-4710-01-0001/2019 
 

Report: Community Planner, and Coordinator, Community Development,  
May 29, 2019 

 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Mayor Buchanan 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Community Planner and the Coordinator, Community 
Development, dated May 29, 2019, entitled “North Shore Young Citizens’ Forum 
Report”: 

 
THAT Council receive the “North Shore Young Citizens’ Forum Report” and thank the 
North Shore Young Citizens’ Forum for their work; 
 
THAT Council direct staff to review the recommendations of the North Shore Young 
Citizens’ Forum Report and bring a report to Council in Fall 2019 with priorities and 
proposed City actions in response to the recommendations;   
 
AND THAT the City continue to support the efforts and engage with the North Shore 
Young Citizens Forum regarding civic issues, as available.  
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
8. Community Emergency Preparedness Fund (CEPF) – New Resolution 

– File: 14-7130-01-0001/2019 
 

Report: Director, North Shore Emergency Management, May 30, 2019 
 
Moved by Mayor Buchanan, seconded by Councillor Girard 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Director, North Shore Emergency Management, dated 
May 30, 2019, entitled “Community Emergency Preparedness Fund (CEPF) – New 
Resolution”: 
 
THAT Council reconsider the resolution approved in the Regular meeting of 
April 1, 2019 regarding CEPF 2018 Evacuation Route Planning; 
 
AND THAT Council support the submission of an application to the 2018 Evacuation 
Route Planning Grant and overall grant management.  

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 6 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 10, 2019 

REPORTS – CONTINUED 
 
9. Petition for Local Area Service – Paved Lane Construction East of 1700 Block Fell 

Avenue – File: 11-5320-01-0001/2019 
 

Report: Manager, Engineering Planning and Design, May 29, 2019 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Manager, Engineering Planning and Design, dated 
May 29, 2019, entitled “Petition for Local Area Service – Paved Lane Construction 
East of 1700 Block Fell Avenue”: 
 
THAT “Local Area Service Parcel Tax Bylaw, 2019, No. 8711” (Paved Lane 
Construction East of the 1700 Block of Fell Avenue) be considered; 
 
THAT (Funding Appropriation #1928) an amount of $85,000 be appropriated from the 
Local Area Service Reserve Fund for the purpose of funding construction of a paved 
lane east of the 1700 block of Fell Avenue; 
 
THAT should any of the amount remain unexpended as at December 31, 2022, the 
unexpended balance shall be returned to the credit of the Local Area Service Reserve 
Fund; 
 
AND THAT a stormwater treatment device be installed on the 17th Street outfall at an 
estimated cost of $75,000 funded from Project 55066 – Stormwater Quality 
Infrastructure. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
BYLAW – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
10. “Local Area Service Parcel Tax Bylaw, 2019, No. 8711” 

(Paved Lane Construction East of the 1700 Block of Fell Avenue) 
 
Moved by Councillor Valente, seconded by Councillor Girard 
 

THAT “Local Area Service Parcel Tax Bylaw, 2019, No. 8711” (Paved Lane 
Construction East of the 1700 Block of Fell Avenue) be given first and second 
readings. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
Moved by Councillor Valente, seconded by Councillor Girard 
 

THAT “Local Area Service Parcel Tax Bylaw, 2019, No. 8711” (Paved Lane 
Construction East of the 1700 Block of Fell Avenue) be given third reading. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
 
 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 7 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 10, 2019 

REPORT 
 
11. Pier 7 Restaurant Food Primary Liquor Licence Amendment – Application for 

Extended Hours – File: 09-4320-50-0002/2019 
 

Report: Manager, Business and Community Partnerships, May 29, 2019 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Back 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Manager, Business and Community Partnerships, 
dated May 29, 2019, entitled “Pier 7 Restaurant Food Primary Liquor Licence 
Amendment – Application for Extended Hours”: 
 
THAT Council support the proposed change in hours from 12:00 am to 1:00 am on 
Friday and Saturday nights for the Food Primary Liquor Licence for Pier 7 Restaurant 
on the basis that: 
 

1. The Pier 7 Restaurant is located within The Shipyards waterfront destination 
with no adjacent residential uses; 

2. The impact on the community will be minimal; 
3. The potential for noise is minimal; 
4. There were no concerns raised by the public; and  
5. The proposed changes will not result in the establishment being operated in a 

manner that is contrary to its primary purpose; 
 

AND THAT staff be directed to apply the following operational conditions to the Pier 7 
Business Licence to limit any potential issues with the change in hours: 
 

1. Post signage asking patrons to respect neighbours when leaving the restaurant; 
2. Close the patios at 12:00 am; 
3. Turn off music on the patios at 11:00 pm. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

PRESENTATION  
 

Cloverley Traffic Calming Plan – Transportation Engineer 
 

The Transportation Engineer and Deputy Director, Planning and Development, 
provided a PowerPoint presentation and responded to questions of Council. 

  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 8 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 10, 2019 

REPORT 
 

12. Cloverley Traffic Calming Plan – File: 11-5460-30-0008/1 
 

Report: Transportation Engineer, May 29, 2019 
 

Moved by Buchanan, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Transportation Engineer, dated May 29, 2019, entitled 
“Cloverley Traffic Calming Plan”: 

 
THAT Council receive the report of the Transportation Engineer, dated May 29, 2019, 
entitled ‘Cloverley Traffic Calming Plan’ for information; 
 
THAT Council direct staff to engage with a third party traffic consulting firm to review 
current changes to-date and provide recommendations to achieve the objectives 
outlined in the above report by July 12, 2019; 
 
THAT Council direct staff, in coordination with the Ministry of Transportation and 
Infrastructure, to determine a preferred location for the installation of a variable 
message sign for east bound traffic along Keith Road and East 3rd Street; 
 
THAT Council direct staff to work with the District of North Vancouver and the Ministry 
of Transportation and Infrastructure to improve the signal timing at Keith Road and 
Brooksbank Avenue to allow for better traffic flow and reduce queuing;  
 
THAT Council direct staff to begin traffic management consultation west of 
Queensbury Avenue and coordinate traffic calming measures with the Cloverley 
neighbourhood once the new measures are recommended; 
 
THAT Council direct staff to monitor traffic conditions within the Cloverley 
neighbourhood on a regular basis; 
 
AND THAT Council direct staff to work in partnership with the RCMP and coordinate a 
plan of enforcement for the Cloverley neighbourhood. 

 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Mayor Buchan 
 

THAT the motion be amended by adding the following wording to the second active 
clause: 
 

“, taking into consideration no right turn restrictions from 3:00-6:00 pm onto 
Keith Road from Adderley, Cloverley, Shavington and Heywood Streets; no left 
turns from 3:00-6:00 pm onto 3rd Street from Heywood Street; and to install 
signage regarding no exit to Keith Road from 3:00-6:00 pm at the west end of 
those streets and at the entrance to the lane on 4th Street;” 

 

Amendment motion, CARRIED 
 

Councillor Back is recorded as voting contrary to the amendment motion. 
 

Main motion, as amended, CARRIED 
 
Councillor Back is recorded as voting contrary to the main motion. 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 9 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 10, 2019 

PRESENTATION 
 

Integrated Planning Strategy – Manager, Planning and Development, and Deputy 
Director, Planning and Development 

 
The presentation was removed from the agenda. 
 
REPORT 
 
13. Integrated Planning Strategy – File: 13-6430-01-0001/2019 
 

Report: Manager, Planning and Development, and Deputy Director, Planning and 
Development, May 29, 2019 

 
Item 13 was removed from the agenda. 
 
NOTICE OF MOTION 
 
14. Child Minding Services During Regular Council Meetings 

– File: 10-4750-01-0001/2019 
 
 Submitted by Councillor McIlroy 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Mayor Buchanan 

 
WHEREAS the City of North Vancouver is committed to continued improvement of 
citizen and civic engagement, transparency of City operations and Council decisions, 
and of the connection between members of Council and community: 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT staff be directed to report back to Council on 
the feasibility and cost of child minding services being available at City Hall during 
Regular Council meetings.  

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
PUBLIC CLARIFICATION PERIOD 
 
Nil. 
 
COUNCIL INQUIRIES 
 
Nil. 
 
NEW ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
 
Nil. 
 
NOTICES OF MOTION 
 
Nil. 
 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 10 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 10, 2019 

ADJOURN 
 
Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 
 THAT the meeting adjourn. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

The meeting adjourned at 8:06 pm. 
 
 
“Certified Correct by the City Clerk” 
________________________________ 
CITY CLERK 

 



Document Number: 1790013 V1 

 
 MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL HELD IN 

CONFERENCE ROOM A/B, CITY HALL, 141 WEST 14TH STREET, NORTH 
VANCOUVER, BC, ON TUESDAY, JUNE 11, 2019 

 
 
PRESENT 
 
COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

 
 
STAFF MEMBERS 
 

Mayor L. Buchanan 
Councillor H. Back 
Councillor D. Bell 
Councillor A. Girard 
Councillor T. Hu  
Councillor J. McIlroy 
Councillor T. Valente 

L. McCarthy, CAO 
K. Graham, City Clerk 
M. Epp, Director, Planning and Development 
R. Skene, Manager, Facilities and Real Estate 
T. Huckell, Committee Clerk/Secretary 
 
 

 
The meeting was called to order at 7:46 pm. 
 
CITY CLERK’S RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Moved by Mayor Buchanan, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 

THAT Council recess to the Special Committee of the Whole, Closed session, 
pursuant to the Community Charter, Section 90(1)(e) [land matter]. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
ADJOURN IN CLOSED SESSION 
 
The meeting recessed at 7:47 pm and did not reconvene.  A motion to adjourn was approved 
in the Committee of the Whole, Closed session, at 7:49 pm.  
 
 
“Certified Correct by the City Clerk” 
___________________ 
CITY CLERK 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



bt
Division
Manager

Director CAO

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

INFORMATION REPORT

To: Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council

From: Larisa Lensink, Environmental Sustainability Specialist

Subject: 2019 COOL IT! CHALLENGE WINNERS

Date: June 5, 2019 File No: 11-5280-15-0001/2019

PURPOSE:

The purpose of this report is to advise Council of the 2019 winners of the Cool It! Climate 
Leadership Training program delivered at local schools in partnership with the B.C. 
Sustainable Energy Association (BCSEA).

DISCUSSION:

The Cool It! Climate Leadership Training program engages City youth and their families on 
climate change and energy conservation, and empowers them to take action to reduce their 
household greenhouse gas emissions. The program results directly^cpntribute to the City’s 
community-wide emissions reduction targets.

The Program

The BCSEA (www.bcsea.orq) is a non-profit organization committed to promoting the 
adoption of sustainable energy and energy conservation in British Columbia. The BCSEA’s 
Cool It! Program includes three main activities for students:

1) Educational materials and preparatory exercises for teachers to introduce their students 
to the key ideas;

2) A workshop delivered by Environmental Educators with thought-provoking discussion, 
interactive activities and animated videos to encourage students to connect the choices 
they make today with the futures they will build; and

3) A take-home contest involving the entire family in which they participate in behaviour 
changing activities that reduce their environmental impact for one month, such as energy 
and waste reduction and transportation alternatives.

Document Number: 1787344 VI



INFORMATION REPORT: 2019 Cool It! Challenge Winners 
Date: June 5, 2019

In the spring 2019 term, five workshops were delivered to 122 students in grades four to 
seven at four elementary schools.

Greenhouse Gas Savings Achieved

A major strength of the Cool It! program is that the contest is supported by pre- and post-
workshop surveys, which are used to calculate the GHG emissions savings of students and 
families participating in the program. Overall, the spring 2019 program resulted in the 
projected savings of 83 tonnes of carbon dioxide emissions, equivalent to taking 18 
passenger vehicles off the road for a year. Lasting additional benefits are anticipated as 
students and their families sustain these behaviour changes.

Contest Winner

All contest participants worked extremely hard to reduce their GHG emissions. The top 
prize for class-wide reductions went to Ms. Cynthia Whyte’s Grade 3/4 class at Larson 
Elementary who reduced their emissions by 22 tonnes, equivalent to the annual emissions 
of 5 passenger vehicles.

CONCLUSION:

A number of outreach initiatives are currently underway in support of the City’s energy and 
emission reduction goals. The BCSEA’s Cool It! Climate Leadership Training program 
workshops are proving to be effective in achieving measurable emissions reductions in the 
community.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED:
Larisa Lensink, MREM 
Environmental Sustainability Specialist

Page 2 of 2



At- \M
Division
Manager

Director CAO

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

INFORMATION REPORT

To: Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council

From: Larisa Lensink, Environmental Sustainability Specialist

Subject: 2019 LIVING CITY AWARD RECIPIENTS

Date: June5,2019 File No: 01-0290-20-0005/2019

PURPOSE:

The purpose of this report is to advise Council of the 2019 Living City Award winners.

DISCUSSION:

The Living City Award Program recognizes the efforts of individuals, schools, community 
groups and businesses demonstrating outstanding leadership in environmental 
sustainability. The awards are an important part of the City’s environmental sustainability 
program and provide a means of supporting and fostering environmental leadership.

Nominations received for the 2019 Living City Awards were reviewed by members of the 
Advisory Planning Commission on May 8, 2019. The Commission unanimously 
recommended that the awards be given to the following recipients:

North Shore Community Garden Society

Founded in 2009, the North Shore Community Garden Society oversees the use and 
management of six community gardens in the City and District of North Vancouver. The 
Society fosters a sense of community at each of the gardens, where members contribute 
time and effort towards garden maintenance and learn together about sustainable 
gardening. The Society encourages members to grow organic produce and share the 
abundance with neighbours and the food bank. The gardens are showpieces in the 
community as greenspace for residents to enjoy and learn about urban agriculture. The 
Society’s garden coordinators are gentle, informative and effective guides, and empower 
members to grow their own food in the City.

Document Number: 1781793 VI



INFORMATION REPORT: 2019 Living City Award Recipients 
Date: June 5, 2019

David Roberts, Kathy Fung and Matt Dowds

Owners of a 1912 craftsman bungalow in Grand Boulevard, David Roberts and Kathy Fung, 
pursued significant energy efficiency and green building upgrades to their home while 
preserving its heritage history. North Vancouver builder, Matt Dowds of Dowds Homes, 
used advanced buildings techniques and systems to realize the owners’ vision. The home 
achieved Passive House Plus certification due to its high energy efficiency and generation 
of renewable energy through solar panels, and has low greenhouse gas emissions. Green 
building techniques were also used to repurpose old growth fir from the heritage structure 
and integrate water conservation features in the garden and driveway design, reducing its 
environmental impact. The initiative of Dave and Kathy, and expert work of Matt to create 
this high performance and low impact home, while preserving heritage elements, warrants 
recognition.

Christine Miller and Luci Cadman

In their respective roles as Executive Director and Education Coordinator with the North 
Shore Black Bear Society, Christine Miller and Luci Cadman work tirelessly to educate 
residents about attractant management to reduce human-bear conflict in the North Shore. 
Under Christine and Luci’s leadership, the North Shore Black Bear Society canvasses high 
conflict areas and responds to inquiries from residents through a hotline and email, 
increasing awareness of bears and bear proofing in the community. Christine and Luci 
provide bear and wildlife education to residents at City events, to children and youth through 
school presentations, and to newcomers to Canada through visits to MOSAIC. The 
outstanding work of Christine and Luci through the North Shore Black Bear Society helps 
residents and visitors safely enjoy both the urban and natural assets of the North Shore.

Sustainable Produce Urban Delivery

Sustainable Produce Urban Delivery (SPUD) goes above and beyond to reduce and reuse 
packaging in their grocery orders to residents across B.C., including many in the City of 
North Vancouver. Groceries are delivered in reusable bins with reusable freezer jackets and 
cold packs, and minimal single-use packaging. SPUD recently piloted a reusable takeout 
container program where plastic containers were given to members to use for takeout food 
orders, and returned to SPUD with the reusable grocery bins to be washed before being 
given back to members to use again. The plastic containers used in the program were 
made from 50% recycled plastic as a lower-impact alternative to virgin plastic containers. 
Due to its success, SPUD is expanding the program to all members and hopes to inspire 
other food delivery services to transition to a circular economy model for packaging. SPUD 
strives to be a leader in sustainability and demonstrate their environmental values through 
innovative programs that lead by example in the community.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED:

Environmental Sustainability Specialist

Page 2 of 2



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2019, No. 8711 Document: 1765747-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 

BYLAW NO. 8711 
 

A Bylaw to authorize the establishment of a local area service for the construction 
of paved lane east of the 1700 Block of Fell Avenue. 

 
WHEREAS Ms. Pat Hodgson and others have petitioned Council to construct, as a local area 
service, the work hereinafter described, and the City Clerk has certified that the petition is 
sufficient and it is expedient to grant this request of the petition in the manner hereinafter 
provided: 
 
THEREFORE the Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting 
assembled, enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Local Area Service Parcel Tax 

Bylaw, 2019, No. 8711” (Paved Lane Construction East of the 1700 Block of Fell 
Avenue). 

 
2. That the service will be the construction of a paved lane, to serve the east side of the 1700 

Block of Fell Avenue between East 17th Street and the dead end north, being a total length 
of 108 meters, as a local area service under the provisions of Division 5 of the Community 
Charter. 

 
3. That the City Engineer make such plans, profiles and specifications and furnish such 

information as may be necessary for the making of a contract for the execution of the 
work. 

 
4. The work shall be carried on and executed by the City under the superintendence and 

according to the directions and orders of the City Engineer. 
 
5. The cost of the work will be recovered as follows: 
 

The owners’ portion of the cost of the service shall be $5,375.43 and will be recovered by 
a parcel tax to be levied on all properties in the local area over a period of ten years. 

 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2019, No. 8711 Document: 1765747-v1 

Any person whose lot is specially assessed may pay any annual installment of the 
frontage-tax imposed thereon, at any time before such installment falls due, and the 
Director of Finance is authorized to make the necessary adjustment in the interest charge 
in such cases. 

 
READ a first time on the 10th day of June, 2019. 

READ a second time on the 10th day of June, 
2019. 

READ a third time on the 10th day of June, 
2019. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2019. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CITY CLERK 



+

U11 NVFC Euro Travel Team 2019

City of North Vancouver Delegation Meeting, Monday, June 17th

Presenters: Righ Walker, Ephraim Claro,

Finn Montgomery, and Szilard Puddiford



+ City of North Vancouver Delegation Meeting

NVFC & U11 Euro

• North Vancouver Football Club (NVFC) provided an opportunity for 13 

elite North Vancouver U11 players to travel to two of the top soccer countries 

in the world – Spain (Valencia) and Italy (Verona)

• NVFC has approximately 4,000 players (from tots to adults) in our club, and 

when you consider their siblings, parents, grandparents, and friends that 

support our Club, the number of people on the North Shore connected to 

the Club is phenomenal.

• NVFC’s mission is to develop human potential through soccer. The Club’s 

values are: Community, Accessibility, Progressiveness and Health.



+ City of North Vancouver Delegation Meeting

Itinerary

May 3 Arrive in Valencia

May 4 Training & Tour Valencia

May 5 La Liga: Levante vs Rayo Vallecano

May 6 Tour Villareal facility, NVFC Euro ’08 vs Villareal CF

May 7 NVFC Euro ’08 vs CD Benicasim, NVFC Euro ’08 vs CD Castellon

May 8 To Bergamo, Italy - Training with AC Milan

May 9 NVFC Euro ’08  vs U.S. Cremonese

May 10 Tour Padova, NVFC Euro ’08 vs A.S. Cittadella

May 11 Serie B: Hellas Verona vs Foggia

May 12 Tour Sirmione & Verona

May 13 NVFC Euro ’08 vs FeralpiSalo

May 14 NVFC Euro ’08 vs Brescia Calcio

May 15 NVFC Euro ’08 vs A.C.D. Sedriano



+ City of North Vancouver Delegation Meeting

Overview 

• Trip was over and above regular NVFC programming

• All families wanted their respective kids to earn their trip. They did.

• Great experience, lots of learning – about soccer as well as culture.



+ City of North Vancouver Delegation Meeting

Community Support & 

Earning Our Trip 

• We received so much support from family, friends, neighbours, people 

throughout North Vancouver who bought raffle tickets

• And so much support from local businesses that contributed auction items and 

donations

• Every player had minimum targets to reach to share in fundraising pool – ALL 

players worked hard and met their goals

• In addition, we are thankful for the contribution the City of North Vancouver 

made – it is very much appreciated.

• When we played there, it felt that we had our whole community supporting us.



+ City of North Vancouver Delegation Meeting

Community Support & 

Earning Our Trip 



+ City of North Vancouver Delegation Meeting

Competition & Facilities

• We played some really good teams!

• Of our 8 games, we lost our first 6 and then won our last two.

• But even in the games we lost, we had fun – and we got better as our trip went 

on.

• We faced some pretty good academies – the teams were good, their fields and 

clubhouses were good, and our parents liked it because most had clubhouses 

with food and drinks.

• We also had a chance to train with pro coaches and meet pro players!



+ City of North Vancouver Delegation Meeting

Competition & Learnings



+ City of North Vancouver Delegation Meeting

What We Learned

• If we want to compete against these teams, we need to practice more, and help 

our club become even better

• Outside of soccer, we found out that Spain and Italy were really nice places to 

visit. Everyone was super friendly.

• The Oranges were amazing in Spain. The Spaghetti Bolognese was amazing in 

Italy.

• For kids that are in French immersion, we found out that a lot of Spanish and 

Italian people can speak French – so communicating with locals was easier than 

we expected.



+ City of North Vancouver Delegation Meeting

What We Learned



+ City of North Vancouver Delegation Meeting

Would we recommend this

trip for next year’s group? 

• We’re better soccer players because of it. And we’re determined to get even 

better.

• We know if we want next year’s team or any future years’ team to do better than 

us, we can help make our club better by training hard and supporting our other 

teams.

• It was also a great feeling to be play in Europe knowing how many people 

supported us.

• Having the Canadian flag on the field with us and sharing North Vancouver pins 

with the other teams was a special feeling.



+ City of North Vancouver Delegation Meeting

Would we recommend this

trip for next year’s group? 



+ City of North Vancouver Delegation Meeting

Summary

• It was a great experience

• The boys worked hard and benefited from community support

• Lots of learning on how we can make our club better – from facilities and 

training, from inclusion and accessibility. 

• Thank you to the City of North Vancouver for your support, we hope you 

continue to support future teams!



Karla Graham

NVFC Euro Team DelegationSubject:

From: Darla Johnston 
Sent: February-09-19 2:02 PM 
To: Karla Graham
Subject: IMVFC Euro Team Delegation

Hi Karla,

Just to follow up from our conversation on Thursday.

The NVFC Euro Team would like to present to council at the end of June as a Delegation.

This will give the team a chance to thank council for the donation and show them what an amazing trip they had.

A great idea to compensate for the miscommunication and missing the meeting.

Thanks for your help.

Darla Johnston
NVFC Euro Team, Parent Volunteer
628 West 17th Street, North Vancouver, BC

•!

Reviewed by^

^ CAP

i



City of North Vancouver

Delegation to Council

June 17, 2017

NORTH SHORE



The right to wind in their hair. 

NORTH SHORE 



Enabling Service

• Base in Upper Lonsdale.

• Base in Lower Lonsdale.

• Classification – Mobility Aid.

• Alternative route – 21St W of Chesterfield.

NORTH SHORE



Please help mobility challenged people and 

the Mikes of North Vancouver to enjoy:

The right to wind in their hair!

Thank you.

NORTH SHORE



Christine Baird

Subject: FW: FW: Cycling Without Age North Shore - Delegation to Council

From: Ian Rose-1 nnes <ian(5)cvclinRwithoutage.ca>
Sent: April-11-19 12:16 PM
To: Karla Graham <kgraham(5)cnv.org>
Cc: Annwen Loverin <annwen(5>silverharbourcentre.com>
Subject: Cycling Without Age North Shore - Delegation to Council

Good day Karla,

Annwen Loverin, the Executive Director at Silver Harbour, and I have returned this morning from a 
meeting with Mayor Linda Buchanan. She suggested that we request an opportunity to present the Cycling 
Without Age North Shore organization's plans and needs for support to Council. This support does not 
include a request for funding.

Please can you advise when an opportunity exists for this delegation to address Council?

Many thanks,

Kind regards,

Ian Rose-Innes 

i



CYCLING 
WITHOUT 

AGE

NORTH SHORE

Cycling Without Age North Shore 
do Silver Harbour Seniors' Activity 
Centre

144 East 22nd Street 
North Vancouver, BC 
V7L4L5

northshoretalcyclinQwithoutaQe.ca

Mayor and Council.

City of North Vancouver, 

141 West 14th Street, 

North Vancouver,

BC VyMiHg

Re: Presentation to Council - June 17,2019

Your Worship,

We respectfully request an opportunity to present the current initiative to establish Cycling 
Without Age on the North Shore to yourself and Council on the subject date.

Yours truly,

Ian Rose-lnnes - Director 



City of North Vancouver

Council Meeting June 17, 2019

Draft Resolution Proposed by Cycling Without Age North Shore

BACKGROUND:

Cycling Without Age North Shore plans to offer rides to mobility challenged people living in care homes 
and in their own homes. These rides would desirably take place around the Green Necklace and along 
the Spirit Trail. Bases are required where a trishaw can be stored and batteries can be recharged. These 
should be near the Green Necklace or Spirit Trail and close to where persons transporting the mobility 
challenged person would go to undertake activities, such as an exercise class or shopping, while the 
mobility challenged person enjoys a ride on a trishaw. Seating and refreshments should be close at 
hand.

Classification of a trishaw as a mobility aid would allow it to traverse a sidewalk, where the road is 
unsafe, when transporting passengers fetched from their own homes or to visit children's' play parks.

A short section of the Green Necklace, in 21st Street immediately West of Chesterfield Avenue, is too 
steep to allow the trishaws to navigate it. One solution is to make a deviation to 19th Street and a return 
along the West sidewalk of Chesterfield Avenue.

To enable these activities the following is needed:

In Upper Lonsdale - A base with the characteristics described above near the Green Necklace.

In Lower Lonsdale - A base with the characteristics described above near the Spirit Trail.

Classification of a Cycling Without Age trishaw as a mobility aid to allow occasional use of sidewalks 
where it is unsafe to ride in the road together with motorized vehicles.

An alternative route to avoid the steep section of trail in 21st Street.

RECOMMENDATION:

PURSUANT to the above considerations.

THAT staff identify sites suitable as operating bases for Cycling Without Age North Shore in Upper and 
Lower Lonsdale.

THAT staff investigate the classification of Cycling Without Age trishaws as mobility aids to allow them 
to traverse sidewalks.

AND THAT staff investigate a route to allow trishaws to navigate around steep sections of the Green 
Necklace.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



September – Hyatt Regency Vancouver railvolution.org

#railvolution



Metro Vancouver 
Connected by nature. Livable by design. 

A band of cities in a sea of green. Come to Vancouver and see how 

intentional planning and development have shaped not only downtown, 

but suburban locations. Consistently rated one of the most livable 

places in the world, the region is a perfect laboratory for the 25th 

annual Rail~Volution conference. 

Metro Vancouver showcases dense, mixed-used development and 

abundant public and green spaces, all served by multimodal 

transportation options. The region is a global gateway and the 

largest port in Canada – a place immigrants, as well as First Nations 

communities, call home. Metro Vancouver captures the arc of a new 

century: defining the future of mobility and development, even as 

it grapples with the challenges of climate change, affordability, 

imminent automation, and competition between modes. 

 
or  

Half of all new development occurs within the region’s Frequent 

Transit Network, which includes the autonomous SkyTrain 

system. Vancouver strives to integrate all modes and new 

development, with approximately US$5.2 billion (CA$7 billion) 

of investment in transit corridors, bus expansion, transit stations, 

roads, cycling and pedestrian infrastructure.

Rail~Volution Vancouver
–

Hyatt Regency Vancouver



The annual Rail~Volution conference focuses on the interplay of transportation 

(especially transit and related multimodal options), land use and development 

in building livable communities. Join more than 1,200 practitioners, leaders 

and advocates from communities across the United States and Canada. 

Share best practices, real-world solutions and innovative approaches 

to the challenges that face cities and regions of every size.

Join us in this spectacular setting.

TransLink



Transit planning, multimodal planning, corridor planning, station area 

planning and design. 

Project management and construction management for different modes. 

Technology and integration of new mobility options with transit. 

Community engagement, outreach tools, communication, data, 

campaigns and marketing. Policies and strategies to combat 

displacement.

Transit-oriented development, trail- and bike-oriented development, 

joint development, housing and neighborhood development and 

placemaking. 

Community development financing, capital financing, gap financing, 

affordable housing, advocacy for transit, transit equity. 

Local, regional, national and 

international stakeholders involved 

in building livable communities

transit and multimodal planners

business, nonprofit and community leaders

elected officials

activists

community-based organizations

developers

transit agencies

transit-oriented development 

(TOD) managers

new mobility and technology innovators

transportation engineers

architects

urban designers

consultants

communications and engagement 

professionals

housing and transportation advocates

financial professionals

foundation officers … and you!  

Join us in Metro Vancouver
Connect with livability professionals from across 

2



“Each year we meet people who 

are further along in the process 

than we are. It is helpful to learn 

from their experiences – good 

and bad.”

“I actually think I most appreciated 

the sessions that raised questions 

in my mind … How do we accommo-

date transportation modes that 

occupy physical space really 

Considering questions like that is 

super-helpful as we consider our 

options moving forward.”

“I enjoy interacting with the built 

environment of the host city. 

I love that Rail~Volution tends 

to explore a vast diversity of 

cities that all contribute to 

the educational process.”

“I learned about a number of 

exciting things happening in 

other cities that I’d like to 

make happen in my own.”

Tourism Vancouver

3

%%
THE 

 
WAS EXCELLENT OR 



 

Re-evaluate infrastructure approaches 

and planning priorities for our agency.

Use the tools and networks to enhance 

my ability to do meaningful public 

engagement work related to greener 

forms of transportation.

Guide my professional work with technical 

information learned from attending sessions. 

Influence transit-oriented development 

in my community. 

Use strategies regarding public-private 

partnerships.

Explore new revenue streams for transit 

in my community.

Bring information from the outreach 

sessions to my own work. 

Connect with new people for future 

business opportunities.

Bring new ideas and examples of what 

works in other places to the work I do.

Explore new pilot programs based on 

presentations at the conference.

Make more-informed decisions as 

a transit board member.

Continue to learn about scooter and bike- 

share programs for my station design.

Meet with legislators and agencies 

and discuss transit.

 

Tourism Vancouver4



  
Elements

 

 
 

The annual Rail~Volution conference is the product 

of our network. Rail~Volution Partners – livability 

professionals from across the US and Canada – 

put together conference sessions, drawing on the 

350+ topics and presenters submitted in our Call 

for Speakers. They work to include a diversity of 

perspectives, geographies and backgrounds. The 

local host committee organizes mobile workshops, 

pre-conference events, the Welcome Reception and 

regional day. The New Rail~Volutionaries, a group 

formed to welcome new leaders in the livability 

movement, organizes networking events and 

innovative learning opportunities.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

N
a

tio
n

al P
artners

New Rail~Volutionaries

Loca
l H

o
st

 C
o

m
m

it
te

e

Conference Sponsors & Exhibitors

Sp
eake

r P
roposals

Tourism VancouverTourism Vancouver

5

TTTTouTouou irisrisrism Vm Vm Vm Vancancan ouvouveerrreTTToTouu irisrism Vm VancancouvuveerrTourism Vancouver



At this year’s conference (the first outside the US) we’ll learn from a global 

leader in livability, planning, development and urban design. The Vancouver 

region will share its stories through pre-conference events, the Welcome 

Reception, 27 Mobile Workshops and Vancouver Regional Day.

 
Metro Vancouver

Co-Chairs 
Sarah Ross, TransLink 

Gary Andrishak, IBI Group

 
host 

6

Mark Seinen, TransLink 

June Kinloch, IBI Group 

Michelle Babiuk, TransLink 

Iona Bonamis, City of Vancouver

“
The original artwork for 
Rail~Volution Vancouver is by:  

Susan Point 
a Musqueam Coast Salish artist

I have attempted to capture the 

essence of Vancouver while embracing 

all of our livability features, within my 

unique style and point of view. By 

characterizing the tall towers with 

many windows front and center within 

my design, I am using them as a 

metaphor of windows to the past, 

present and future.”

 – Susan Point 

    Read her full artist statement 

    at railvolution.org/news



In 2012, the City of Vancouver set 

a goal that 50% of all trips would 

be on sustainable modes by 2020. 

They reached the goal in 2015! 

Region-wide, 27% of trips are by 

transit, walking, bicycle or sharing.

SUCCESS!

TransLinkTransLink

New development centered on transit 

across the region

Cities of Vancouver, Burnaby, Surrey, 

North Vancouver, Richmond and more

Innovative approaches to affordable 

housing and gentrification 

First Nations community planning

Tower-podium built form 

of “Vancouverism” 

Greenways and nearby nature 

(thanks to intentional planning)

Bus, BRT and rail networks and the 

busiest bus corridor in North America!

7TransLink

SkyTrain – autonomous since 1985

SeaBus – transit to North Vancouver

Multimodal design, including car and 

bike share (but no ride-hailing – yet) 

Station design, upgrades and 

integration of modes

The only freeway-free downtown 

in North America

Placemaking and tactical urbanism 

Walkable neighborhoods 

Innovative urban design  



 Rail~Volution 
Over the past 25 years, the world has changed around us – and because of 

us. As we look to the next 25 years and experience firsthand the intentional 

decisions that have made Metro Vancouver a global leader in livability, it’s 

time to both reaffirm core values and ask fundamental questions about 

our communities – but in a new way. 

 
make  

 
 

 

      

  A MOVEMENT 
  Our roots are in transit, but our movement encompasses a wide range 

  of livability, equity and emerging mobility issues. 

  A NETWORK 
  We work across fields, at the cutting edge of land use, housing, community 

  development and transportation. Each year, more than 1,200 people from 

  300 communities come together to share ideas, breakthroughs, frustrations 

  and inspiration.

  A RESOURCE 
  The four days of the Rail~Volution conference provide a diversity of ideas 

  and approaches that boost your capacity to collaborate, innovate, 

  communicate and lead. 

We believe major transit investments are transformative, with the potential 

to make communities stronger — economically, socially and environmentally.

 

Check www.railvolution.org for complete conference and registration information. 

Also check out the Rail~Volution podcast, resources and news.

8



Boost your networks – both social and 
professional – at pre-conference events!

75+ workshop sessions & 3 plenary sessions 

27 Mobile Workshops – Sunday through 
Wednesday!

New Rail~Volutionaries know how 
to network! Don’t miss PK Slam + 
Mentorship Speed Networking + Idea 
Exchanges + R~V 101.  

Curate Your 
Conference

9

5:00 PM

6:00 PM

7:00 PM

8:00 PM

Friday, September 6 

Pre-Conference 
Events

All Aboard 
The Polar 

West Coast 
Express

8:00 AM

3:00 PM

4:00 PM

5:00 PM

6:00 PM

7:00 PM

8:00 PM

9:00 PM

Conference 
Registration 

Open

7:00 AM

8:00 AM

9:00 AM

10:00 AM

11:00 AM

12:00 PM

1:00 PM

2:00 PM

3:00 PM

4:00 PM

5:00 PM

8:00 PM

9:00 PM

10:00 PM

Lunch on  
Your Own

Rail~Volution PK Slam 
at Vogue Theatre 

(A New Rail~Volutionaries Event)

Continental Breakfast

Plenary Session

P
u

b
lic S

q
u

a
re

 &
 E

xh
ib

ito
r 

B
o

o
th

s O
p

e
n

  

D
o

w
n

tim
e

  

Afternoon 
Workshops

Morning 
Workshops

Consultant’s 
Corner

7:00 AM

8:00 AM

9:00 AM

10:00 AM

11:00 AM

12:00 PM

1:00 PM

2:00 PM

3:00 PM

4:00 PM

5:00 PM

Regional Day 

Continental Breakfast

Morning 
Workshops

Closing Plenary & Plated Lunch

12

Conference at a Glance

7:00 AM

8:00 AM

9:00 AM

10:00 AM

11:00 AM

12:00 PM

1:00 PM

2:00 PM

3:00 PM

4:00 PM

5:00 PM

6:00 PM

Continental Breakfast

Opening Plenary

Rail~Volution 
101 
(A New 

Rail~Volutionaries 
Event)

Reception in Public Square & Exhibitor 
Showcase, with Mentorship 

Speed Networking

Afternoon 
Workshops

P
u

b
lic S

q
u

a
re

 &
 E

xh
ib

ito
r 

B
o

o
th

s O
p

e
n

  

Workshops

B
o

x L
u

n
ch

 
&

 L
u

n
ch

tim
e

 
Le

a
n

in
g

Morning 
Workshops

M
o

b
ile

 W
o

rksh
o

p
s 

 

Idea Exchanges 
with the New 

Rail~Volutionaries

Consultant’s 
Corner

Lunchtime 
Workshops, 

Including TOD 
Managers’ 

Forum

details on 

7:00 AM

8:00 AM

9:00 AM

10:00 AM

11:00 AM

12:00 PM

1:00 PM

2:00 PM

3:00 PM

4:00 PM

5:00 PM

7:00 PM Welcome Reception

Pre- 
Conference 

EventsMobile 
Workshops 

Grouse 
Grind: Nature’s 
StairMaster to 
Breathtaking 

Views

Edge 
of the City: 
Suspension 
Bridge and 

Gondola

Whistler 
Village: The 
West Coast’s 

Summer & 
Winter 
Resort 

Welcome 
Reception
at The Polygon Gallery

Sip a cocktail and watch the sunset from Metro 

Vancouver’s newest art space, The Polygon Gallery. 

Start your evening amidst sweeping views of skyline 

and mountains during your 12-minute SeaBus 

crossing to the historic Lonsdale Quay Market, 

steps away from the gallery. The Polygon, designed 

by Patkau Architects, is the architectural heart 

of the Shipyards redevelopment transforming 

North Vancouver’s waterfront by integrating 

mixed-use development with working shipyards. 

Sunday, September 8

TIME  7:00 pm – late 

It’s all happening in the Rail~Volution Public Square. Breakfast, breaks 

and box lunch pickup. Creative activities. Exhibitor booths and presentations. 

Live podcast interviews. The Square is buzzing throughout the conference. 

Wrap up your Monday at the Exhibitor Reception at the Square, complete 

with Mentorship Speed Networking with the New Rail~Volutionaries. 

Public Square, 
Exhibitor Showcase 
and Reception

A New 
Rail~Volutionaries 

Event 
PK Slam Recovery Run

Regional day programming provides an opportunity 

for the local region to delve into issues that specifically 

affect them. Local conversations and local solutions. 

Open to the public - separate fees apply. Stay tuned 

for details later this summer. 

Vancouver 
Regional Day

It’s all happen

and box lunch

Live podcast 

Wrap up your

with Mentorsh

gramming provides an opportunity

n to delve into issues that specifically

l ti d l l l ti

ouver
onal Day

M
o

b
ile

 
W

o
rksh

o
p

s 

The Polygon Gallery

The Polygon Gallery

Karen Lee PhotographyKaren LKaren LKaren LKare ee Phee PhotPhotographyyographyographgKaren Lee Photography

M
o

b
ile

 W
o

rksh
o

p
s 

 

Afternoon 
Workshops

P
re

-C
o

n
fe

re
n

ce
 

 Eve
n

ts

New Rail~Volutionaries 
Welcome Event

Victoria: 
The Inner 
Harbour 

(overnight)

A Moveable 
Feast: The 
Richmond 

Night 
Market



The American Institute of Certified Planners and the American 

Planning Association approve close to 200 hours of 

Rail~Volution workshops and sessions for certification 

maintenance credits each year. The conference also is 

eligible for Canadian Institute of Planning Organized/Structured 

CPL (continuous professional learning) units. Qualification for 

this year’s workshops is underway. Details available on our 

website in late summer. 

INNOVATIONS IN MOBILITY 
First- and last-mile solutions, micromobility 

and shared-use mobility, innovative and 

on-demand partnerships, street design, 

big data, transit-network companies 

(TNCs) and ride-hailing, innovation 

and disruption, hyperloop.

TRANSIT-ORIENTED 
COMMUNITIES 
Transit-oriented development (TOD) in 

multiple settings (urban infill to corridors 

to historic suburbs), policies, planning for 

growth, Developers Roundtable, financing, 

fundamentals of real estate, value capture, 

public-private partnerships (P3s), TOD 

Managers Forum, best practices, 

placemaking, mixing uses, parking.

THE EVOLVING TRANSIT  
AGENCY
Project funding, ridership strategies, 

affordable housing, climate change, 

homelessness, Communications and 

Outreach Managers Forum, social 

media, safety, innovative governance, 

next-generation leadership, equity and 

enforcement, TNCs. 

COMMUNITY NEEDS  
SHAPING TRANSIT
Station design, right of way, BRT, 

streetcars, electric buses, high-speed 

rail, light rail, wayfinding, first– and last– 

mile with walking and bicycling, universal 

design, complete streets, planning 

processes, outreach tools, tactical 

implementation, making the case, 

mobility hubs.

Workshops provide many different ways to 

learn about a wide variety of ideas: debates, 

discussions, panels, real-life case studies, 

Q & As, success (or failure) stories. You 

don’t just attend, you participate! 

13

PROMOTING EQUITABLE 
COMMUNITIES 
Mobility justice, community engagement, 

equity and service evaluation, equity as 

a decision-making tool, innovations in 

housing, new partnerships, displacement 

and gentrification, zoning, placemaking, 

women-friendly cities, diversity of voices.



See full descriptions of Mobile Workshops at:

www.railvolution.org/mobileworkshops

14

Mobile 
Workshops
Get the Rail~Volution perspective on Metro Vancouver. Explore 

 
 

 
 

 

   Rail to Trail: Cycling the  
Arbutus Greenway 

 TIME:  10:30 am – 1:00 pm 
 MODE: Bike 
 FEE:  US$70

 The Art of Transit 

 TIME:  11:00 am – 3:00 pm 
 MODE:  SkyTrain + Walking 
 FEE:  US$45 (Includes lunch)

Vancouver’s Worst Zoning

 TIME:  noon – 4:00 pm 
 MODE: Bus + Walking 
 FEE:  US$45 
 

 

   Build It and They Will Come: 
Cycling for Everyone 

 TIME:  10:00 am – 1:00 pm 
 MODE: Bike 
 FEE:  US$70 (Includes lunch)

More Complex than Mortar 
and Brick: Understanding 
Heritage in the Changing City

 TIME:  10:00 am – 3:00 pm 
 MODE:  Charter Bus + Walking 
 FEE:  US$45 (Includes lunch) 

Jazzing Up the Bus Exchange 

 TIME:  10:30 am – 2:30 pm 
 MODE: Charter Bus 
 FEE:  US$45 (Includes lunch)



   Driving the Driverless Train:  
The SkyTrain OMC 

 TIME:  11:00 am – 3:00 pm 
 MODE: SkyTrain + Walking 
 FEE:  US$45 (Includes lunch) 

 Coquitlam Centre: The Past 
and Future

 TIME:  11:30 am – 4:30 pm 
 MODE:  SkyTrain + Walking 
 FEE:  US$60 (Includes lunch)

Vancouverism: Past, Present 
and Future

 TIME:  noon – 4:00 pm 
 MODE: SkyTrain + Walking 
 FEE:  US$60 (Includes lunch) 

Livable + Workable? Planning for  
Goods, Industry and People

 TIME:  noon – 4:30 pm 
 MODE:  SkyTrain + Charter Bus + Walking 
 FEE:   US$60 (Includes lunch)

A Walkable and Equitable City: 
Can it be Done?

 TIME:  12:30 pm – 4:30 pm 
 MODE: SkyTrain + Walking 
 FEE:  US$45

Granville Island: Parking, Parks  
and the Journey 

 TIME:  1:00 pm – 4:30 pm 
 MODE:  Bus + Ferry + Walking 
 FEE:   US$45 
 

 

   Musqueam First Nation: 
Recognizing Indigenous 
Culture in an Urban Context

 TIME:  10:00 am – 3:00 pm 
 MODE: Charter Bus + Walking 
 FEE:  US$75 (Includes lunch)

Transit Accessibility: From 
the Users’ Perspectives

 TIME:  10:00 am – 3:00 pm 
 MODE:  SkyTrain + Bus + Walking 
 FEE:  US$45 (Includes lunch)

Bus Bingo: Diesel, Trolley, 
Battery or Natural Gas 

 TIME:  10:30 am – 2:00 pm 
 MODE: Bus + Walking 
 FEE:  US$45 (Includes lunch)

Burnabyism: The Distinct TOD 
of Vancouver’s Neighbor

 TIME:  11:00 am – 3:00 pm 
 MODE:  SkyTrain + Bus + Walking 
 FEE:   US$45 (Includes lunch)

 
Planning for Us All 

 TIME:  11:30 am – 3:30 pm 
 MODE: SkyTrain + Walking 
 FEE:  US$45 (Includes lunch)

 Complete Campuses: 
Transit and the City at UBC 

 TIME:  noon – 5:30 pm 
 MODE: SkyTrain + Bus + Walking 
 FEE:  US$60 (Includes lunch)

15

“The mobile workshops were fantastic. They were educational, but 

also allowed you to experience what was happening locally – not 

always the case at conferences.” 

 – happy person, from 2018 conference survey



   12:30 pm – 5:00 pm 
  Bike 

    US$70

   1:00 pm – 5:00 pm 
  SkyTrain + Walking 
   US$60

  2:00 pm – 5:00 pm 
  SkyTrain + Walking 
   US$45 

  2:30 pm – 4:00 pm 
  SkyTrain + Walking 
   US$45 
 

 

   7:30 am – 11:30 am 
  SkyTrain + Bus + Walking 
   US$45 

  8:00 am – 11:30 am 
   SkyTrain + Walking 
   US$45

  8:00 am – 11:30 am 
  SkyTrain + Walking 
   US$60 

   8:30 am – 11:30 am 
  Bus + Ferry + Walking 

    US$60

  9:00 am – 11:30 am 
  SkyTrain + Walking 
   US$45

16 Thatcher Imboden



 

Just steps from the Bridgeport Canada 

Line station is a vibrant, multicultural 

experience: the Richmond Night Market. 

The Night Market features over 100 food 

stalls and more than 200 retail vendors. 

Learn about the history of this market 

and the opportunities of activating an 

under-utilized space near a major rapid 

transit station. Hear from TransLink about 

plans for a rapid transit station along the 

Canada Line to be funded by development. 

Meet other attendees in this casual, 

learning atmosphere while indulging in 

some of the stalls’ offerings. Note: Food 

not included. Most stalls are cash-only. 

ATMs available at the market.

    Saturday, September 7 

4:45 pm – 9:00 pm 

   SkyTrain 
    US$20

17

All Aboard the  

Take Vancouver’s commuter rail line, the West 

Coast Express, out to Moody Centre Station 

in Port Moody, a former mill town and original 

West Coast terminus of the Canadian Pacific 

Railway. Hear from a local urban transit expert 

about the history of rail in Metro Vancouver, 

the land use changes that have come with it 

and the early changes the recent LRT expansion 

have brought to the area. Afterwards enjoy a 

pint at one of the new craft breweries. Ride 

the SkyTrain back to downtown Vancouver. 

Note: Pint not included in price.

    Friday, September 6 

5:00 pm – 9:00 pm 

   Commuter Rail, Walking 
    US$20

Victoria’s compact size and a key City policy 

prioritizing walking, cycling and transit give 

this historic city one of the best modal splits 

in the country. Experience it yourself on an 

overnight adventure to British Columbia’s 

capital city. Take a walking tour of Victoria’s 

best public spaces integrating new AAA 

cycling, pedestrian and transit infrastructure, 

surrounded by historic Old Town, the iconic 

Inner Harbour and Legislative Precinct, and 

a rapidly urbanizing downtown core. After the 

tour, enjoy several hours in Victoria’s downtown 

on your own.

    Saturday, September 7, 8:00 am through 

Sunday, September 8, 3:30 pm  

   Bus, Ferry, Walking 
    US$120 

  (includes transportation and 

  meals; does not include hotel)

 
EVENTS

Tourism Richmond



18

Grouse Grind: Nature’s Stair-
Master to Breathtaking Views

Walk, run, or crawl your way up the infamous 

Grouse Grind. At a modest 1.8 miles (2.9

kilometers), this hike is considered short

by Vancouver standards — until you factor 

in more than 2,800 feet (800 meters) of

elevation gain and nearly 3,000 steps.

Not for the faint of heart! Join us for a

sweaty morning and bragging rights. You’ll

be rewarded at the top with a breathtaking

view of Metro Vancouver, hang time with

a working wind turbine and live Canadian

grizzlies; lumberjack show and several

dining options at the top. The hike up takes

1-2 hours. Fee includes gondola ride back

down the mountain but bring extra for

activities and meals up on top.  

TIME:   Sunday, September 8

8:30 am – return via transit on

your own schedule; allow just

over an hour for the bus-

SeaBus return trip. 

MODE:  SeaBus, Bus, Hiking, Gondola 

FEE:   US$25

Edge of the City: Suspension
Bridge and Gondola 

Explore Vancouver’s North Shore mountains,

just minutes from downtown. Ride over the

Lions Gate Bridge to the Capilano Suspension 

Bridge Park. Take a guided tour across the

450-foot (137-meter) bridge suspended 230

feet (70 meters) over the Capilano River.

Explore the Treetops Adventure or the terrifying 

Cliffwalk. After a few hours in Cap’s Canyon,

hop the shuttle for a fi ve-minute ride to Grouse 

Mountain. Take a gondola up 3,937 feet 

(1,200 meters) in 12 minutes, with breathtaking 

views across and breathless hikers (conquering

the Grouse Grind trail) below. At the top, sweat-

free, eat lunch and explore the Eye of the Wind

wind turbine, a grizzly bear sanctuary, and a

variety of summer shows – or just kick back

and enjoy the view. Fee includes lift ticket,

some activities at the top and a free shuttle

back to Waterfront Station. 

TIME:   Sunday, September 8

9:00 am – return via transit

on your own schedule 

MODE: SeaBus, Bus, Walking, Gondola

FEE:   US$60

Whistler Village: The West Coast’s 
Summer and Winter Resort

Take a daytrip to Whistler, one of North

America’s largest ski resorts and a key

venue for the 2010 Winter Olympics.

Relax in Whistler’s pedestrian village,

nestled at the base of the mountains.

Explore local First Nations culture at the

Squamish Lil’wat Cultural Centre or visit

the Audain Art Gallery, home to an

impressive array of First Nations masks

and contemporary British Columbian art.

On the 1.5-hour return drive via the scenic

Sea to Sky Highway, watch the sun set over

the Pacifi c Ocean.

TIME:   Sunday, September 8

9:30 am - 5:30 pm 

MODE: Charter Bus, Walking

FEE:   US$60

18

Pre-Conference
EVENTS

(co
n

t.)



How can you make the most of Rail~Volution 

2019? Get the scoop from the New 

Rail~Volutionaries.

   Monday, September 9

  10:00 am – 12:00 pm 

Riveting topics in an open forum. Grab a box 

lunch and join in on Idea Exchange discussions 

facilitated by the New Rail~Volutionaries.

   Monday, September 9

  12:00 pm – 1:30 pm 

Mentorship Speed Networking 

Fast-paced. Concise. Focused. Establish 

a mentoring relationship with an industry 

expert or emerging leader – speed-dating 

style!

   Monday, September 9

  5:00 pm – 6:30 pm

19

 
Rail~Volutionaries 
Events

 
 

 

 

A funny name for a fun- and fact-filled 

evening! Meet us at The Vogue, an art 

deco theatre recognized as a National 

Historic Site of Canada, just blocks 

from the conference hotel. Grab a 

drink. Grab a seat. Find out why this 

Tuesday night tradition is a favorite 

every year.  

   Tuesday, September 10

 TIME:  8:00 pm – 10:00 pm 

   Vogue Theatre 

  918 Granville Street 

  Vancouver

  @VogueTheatre



TRAVEL TO VANCOUVER 

Vancouver is served by Vancouver International 

Airport (YVR), with several flights to and from 

the US each day. Travelers from the US also 

have the option of flying to Seattle or other 

West Coast cities and traveling across the 

border on Amtrak or intercity bus.  

 US residents traveling to Canada 

 will need a current passport. Please 

 also be aware of Canadian laws 

 related to previous DWI or DUI 

 convictions. Find more information 

 and tips for travel here: 

 railvolution.org/conference-information

CANCELLATION 

There is a US$100 nonrefundable fee for 

cancellations made between August 17 

and September 7. No refunds for cancellations 

of any kind after September 7.

SCHOLARSHIPS 

Rail~Volution offers a limited number of 

scholarships. Applications open May 17 

and close July 11. Scholarship awards 

will be announced in late July.  

More details and application:  

www.railvolution.org/scholarships

  

20

CONFERENCE LOCATION 

Join us at the Hyatt Regency Vancouver, 

centrally-located in downtown. Walk to the 

Seawall along the harbor, the historic Gastown 

neighborhood, Stanley Park and False Creek. 

The hotel is across the street from the Burrard 

Station on the Expo Line (convenient for 

travelers arriving at Pacific Central Station 

via Amtrak or intercity bus) and a few blocks 

away from Vancouver City Centre station 

(on the Canada Line from the Vancouver 

International Airport). There is a bike-share 

station on Melville Street, next to the hotel.

 

(Valid ID Required)

And After
   EARLY BIRD

For registration questions, please contact:

EMAIL: gts@mngts.org   PHONE: 952.885.7605 

M–F, 8:00 am – 4:00 pm Central Daylight Time

Sending a group of 10 or more from one 

city or region? Contact Dan Bartholomay 

about special delegation benefits. 

Rail~Volution CEO

EMAIL: danb@railvolution.org 

RATES

HOTEL RESERVATIONS
Hyatt Regency Vancouver
655 Burrard Street, Vancouver V6C 2R7 

British Columbia, Canada 

ONLINE: railvolution.org/bookaroom

PHONE: toll-free 1-800-233-1234 

The Hyatt Regency will offer a special group rate of 

CA$299 (roughly US$225) plus taxes and fees per 

night, available until August 16 or rooms are sold out. 

For reservations, please call toll free 1.800.233.1234 

and identify yourself as a Rail~Volution conference 

attendee using the block code G-RVOL.



 
 

 
sponsorshipexhibitor

For full benefits – and to be included 

in the Rail~Volution program – make 

sponsorship and exhibitor commitments 

by June 28. 

The annual Rail~Volution conference would not be possible without our generous sponsors. 

Conference registration covers less than half of the total expenses. Join these organizations 

and support the movement to build livable communities with transit. 

21

 

RAIL~VOLUTION EXHIBITORS

Big thanks to these companies for being 

the first to book space to bring their 

products and services to the Rail~Volution 

Public Square and Exhibitor Showcase. 

There’s still time to join them! Reach 

the stakeholders who direct transportation 

and development decisions in more 

than 300 communities across the 

US and Canada. 

®

Stacy and 
Witbeck

PLATINUM

SILVER

BRONZE

Vix Technology



AECOM

Alliance for Metropolitan Sustainability

American Public Transportation 
Association

City of Charlotte, North Carolina

Dallas Area Rapid Transit

David Evans and Associates, Inc. 

Dialog 

GB Placemaking

HDR

Hennepin County, Minnesota

Herzog 

HNTB

IBI Group

InfraStrategies

Jacobs

Kimley-Horn

Local Initiatives Support 
Corporation (LISC)

Low Income Investment Fund (LIIF)

Maryland Transit Administration 
(Baltimore, Maryland)

Metro (Los Angeles, California) 

Metro (Portland, Oregon) 

Metropolitan Atlanta Rapid 
Transit Authority

Metropolitan Council/Metro Transit 
(Minneapolis-St. Paul, Minnesota) 

Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission (Bay Area, California)

Miami-Dade County

Move Oahu Forward/Pacific Resource 
Partnership (Honolulu, Hawaii)

Otak

Parametrix

Pittsburgh Community Reinvestment 
Group (PCRG)

City of Portland, Oregon

Port Authority of Allegheny County 
(Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania) 

Regional Transportation District 
(Denver, Colorado) 

San Francisco Bay Area Rapid 
Transit District

Sound Transit (Seattle, Washington)

South Florida Regional Transportation 
Authority (Pompano Beach, Florida)

Transdev

TransLink (Vancouver, British Columbia, 
Canada)

TriMet (Portland, Oregon) 

Valley Metro (Phoenix, Arizona) 

Trinity Metro (Fort Worth, Texas)

WSP USA

1624 Harmon Place, Suite 206
Minneapolis, MN 55403 
USA

Return Service Requested

Our Partners are the backbone of Rail~Volution. They are genuinely 
passionate about livability, equitable development and transit. Find 
out more about our partners at: 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



@6? VK
Director CAO

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
ENGINEERING, PARKS AND ENVIRONMENT DEPARTMENT

REPORT

To: Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council

From: Brian Willock, Manager, Engineering Planning and Design

Subject: MOSQUITO CREEK BRIDGE REPLACEMENT - FUNDING
REALLOCATION

Date: June 5,2019 File No: 11-5400-02-0001/1

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Please refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution.

RECOMMENDATION:

PURSUANT to the report of the Manager, Engineering Planning and Design, 
dated June 5, 2019, entitled “Mosquito Creek Bridge Replacement - Funding 
Reallocation”:

THAT $1,480,000 of existing funding from Project 51162 B-Line: Queensbury to 
Heywood be reallocated to fund the Mosquito Creek Bridge Replacement;

THAT “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2018, 
No. 8690, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8724” (Funding Reallocation) be 
considered;

THAT $1,000,000 of existing funding from Project 53226: Moodyville 
Neighbourhood Transportation Improvements be reallocated to fund the 
Mosquito Creek Bridge Replacement;

THAT “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2018, 
No. 8625, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8723” (Funding Reallocation) be 
considered;

THAT $200,000 of existing funding from Project 51168: 2019 Pavement 
Management be reallocated to fund the Mosquito Creek Bridge Replacement;

THAT $190,000 of existing funding from Project 53240: East 3rd: Queensbury to 
Kennard be reallocated to fund the Mosquito Creek Bridge Replacement;

Document Number: 1780309 V2



REPORT: Mosquito Creek Bridge Replacement - Funding Reallocation
Date: June 5, 2019

THAT “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2018, 
No. 8623, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8722” (Funding Reallocation) be 
considered;

THAT $350,000 of existing funding from Project 56084: Watermain Replacement 
East 21st: Lonsdale to St. Georges be reallocated to fund watermain replacement 
associated with the Mosquito Creek Bridge Replacement;

THAT $180,000 of existing funding from Project 56085: Watermain Replacement 
St. Georges: East 21st to East 22nd be reallocated to fund watermain replacement 
associated with the Mosquito Creek Bridge Replacement;

AND THAT $200,000 of existing funding from Project 51089: Bridge 
Rehabilitation be reallocated to fund the Mosquito Creek Bridge Replacement.

ATTACHMENTS:

1. Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2018, No. 
8623, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8722 (CD#1789736)

2. Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2018, No. 
8625, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8723 (CD#1789737)

3. Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2018, No. 
8690, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8724 (CD#1789740)

BACKGROUND:

When constructed in 1952, the Marine Drive Bridge over Mosquito Creek was one of the 
first examples of a post-tensioned reinforced concrete structure in North America. This 
type of reinforced concrete structure relies on pre-stressed steel tendons embedded 
inside the concrete girders.

Inspections conducted in 2015 revealed significant corrosion and damage to three girders 
where concrete had broken away and exposed the corroded steel tendons. Additional 
non-destructive testing and investigation of the remaining girders was inconclusive. Given 
the age of the structure as well as the uncertainty of the condition of the post-tensioned 
tendons in the other girders, the engineering consultant recommended replacement of 
the bridge. A structural engineering consultant has and will continue to inspect the bridge 
periodically to ensure it remains safe for use until its replacement is complete.

A new, wider bridge will improve pedestrian, cycling, and transit connections (including 
bus priority lanes) across Mosquito Creek and will also be designed to meet current 
seismic and flood protection requirements while considering impacts of climate change.

The Marine Drive Bridge over Mosquito Creek has been prioritized for replacement with 
total allocated funding of $9,000,000 from senior government and the City as shown in 
Table 1 below.

Page 2 of 6



REPORT: Mosquito Creek Bridge Replacement-Funding Reallocation

Date: June 5, 2019

Table 1: Existing Funding

Build Canada - Small Communities Fund $3,870,000
TransLink Grant Funding $1,650,000
CNV2018 Financial Plan $3,480,000
Total $9,000,000

Construction tenders closed April 26, 2019 with a low bid of $10,529,219, which exceeds 
the available budget. City policy requires funding to be allocated before awarding a 
contract.

An additional revelation affecting the project schedule concerns private utility relocation. 
TELUS Communications has infrastructure on the existing bridge and despite being 
consulted early and continuously, TELUS recently indicated they now require three 
months to temporarily remove their lines from the bridge. Bridge work cannot begin with 
the TELUS lines in place and will push bridge construction beyond the 2019 window for 
in-stream work in Mosquito Creek.

To accommodate the delay due to the TELUS utility relocation, and to keep the project 
moving forward, staff recommend dividing construction into two phases and reallocating 
funds from existing projects while also continuing to pursue additional funding from senior 
government.

Phase 1 will proceed in 2019 and comprise utility relocations (TELUS, LEG, and water) 
as well as procurement and manufacture of the prefabricated bridge elements. Phase 2 
in 2020 will comprise bridge construction, intersection improvements, and trail 
construction.

DISCUSSION:

The original schedule had planned for all in-stream work to be completed in a single 
season. This was an ambitious schedule given the need to demolish half of the existing 
bridge at a time to allow for the efficient construction of the new bridge and continuous 
traffic movement through the area. Dividing construction over two seasons will reduce 
overall project risk by simplifying the logistics and construction sequencing required for 
both the utility relocations and the bridge construction. Additional benefits of proceeding 
with the project in phases are as follows:

• utility relocations will be complete and costs known before finalizing the 2020 
budget;

• the bridge contract costs are known, the contractor is secured, and pre-fabricated 
components can be procured early to reduce schedule risk;

• reduce risks to schedule for “in-stream work” by spreading the work over two 
seasons; and

• an opportunity for the contractor and design consultant to work together to 
scrutinize the project to find efficiencies and potential scope reductions.

Page 3 of 6



REPORT: Mosquito Creek Bridge Replacement - Funding Reallocation
Date: June 5, 2019

Staff considered the option to cancel the tender and retender the work. This is not 
recommended because a second tender process is unlikely to yield a substantially 
different contract price and construction costs continue to escalate. There is a high 
likelihood that the price will increase in the future, so staff recommend proceeding with 
the low bidder.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:

Total available funding is $9,000,000 (including funds spent to date) and is not sufficient 
to proceed with the project. City policy requires that project funding be available and 
appropriated before a contract can be awarded.

To proceed with the project and award the contract to the low bidder, staff recommend 
reallocating $3,600,000 from existing projects to provide total interim project funding of 
$12,600,000 in 2019. An additional $2,400,000 will be required during either the 2019 
Revised Financial Plan, or the 2020 Financial Plan. The revised budget is summarized in 
Table 2.

Table 2: Revised Budget

2019
Design (includes $800,000 already spent and $200,000 
encumbered)

$1,000,000

Utility Relocations $1,000,000
Bridge Tender Award $10,600,000

Subtotal 2019 $12,600,000

2020
Contract Administration and Inspection $400,000
Contingency (15%) $2,000,000

Subtotal 2020 2,400,000

Total $15,000,000

The proposed funding reallocations are summarized in Table 3.

Table 3: Summary of Proposed Reallocations for 2019

Project Description Rationale Amount
51162 B-Line: Queensbury to 

Heywood
Funded by TransLink’s B-Line 
project

$1,480,000

53226 Moodyville Neighbourhood 
Transportation Improvements

Improvements will be delivered 
by adjacent developments

$1,000,000

51168 2019 Pavement Management Pavement rehabilitation 
adjacent the bridge can be 
funded from 2019 Pavement 
Management

$200,000

53240 East 3rd: Queensbury to 
Kennard

Funded by TransLink’s B-Line 
project

$190,000

Page 4 of 6



REPORT: Mosquito Creek Bridge Replacement - Funding Reallocation

Date: June 5, 2019

56084 Watermain Replacement
East 21st Lonsdale to St. 
Georges

Defer project and include in
2020 water utility budget

$350,000

56085 Watermain Replacement St. 
Georges: East 21st to East
22nd

Defer project and include in
2020 water utility budget

$180,000

51089 Bridge Rehabilitation Defer routine maintenance 
items and include in 2020 
budget

$200,000

Total $3,600,000

These projects were selected either because the funding may not be required, or because 
the work can be deferred to a future year. For example, in budgeting for the B-Line during 
the summer of 2017, the scope of work to be funded by TransLink was unknown so staff 
budgeted for improvements as part of the City’s financial plan. With the B-Line design 
complete and scope defined, TransLink has awarded the construction contract. Much of 
the City funding set aside for the B-Line will not be required and can be reallocated to the 
bridge replacement.

Similarly, the timing of developments in the Moodyville neighbourhood was unknown and 
staff budgeted for civil works adjacent to properties that might not redevelop as well as 
for relocation of the existing BC Hydro transmission lines. With the pace of redevelopment 
much faster than anticipated, the scope of work the City will have to fund is much less 
than anticipated and therefore the funding can be reallocated. Also, the street design has 
been refined and BC Hydro has reduced their estimated costs, therefore some of the 
funding can be reallocated.

Additional funding can be reallocated by deferring projects to future years. For example, 
the two watermain replacement projects are part of the plans for servicing the new Harry 
Jerome Community Recreation Centre and neighbourhood lands, and can be deferred to 
2020. Also, the paving required as part of the bridge reconstruction can be funded from 
the 2019 pavement management budget.

In addition to the above-mentioned amount of $2,400,000 in new funding to be included 
in 2020 to fully fund the Mosquito Creek Bridge Replacement project, the deferral of the 
above-mentioned projects will require the inclusion of the following amounts in the 2020- 
2029 Financial Plan to replenish funding of those projects:

Water Utility Funding: $530,000 for projects 56084 and 56085;
General Capital: $50,000 for project 51089.

By proceeding with contract award in June 2019, the City will be committed to providing 
additional funds in 2020 through some combination of additional reallocations from 
existing projects, senior government funding, the revised 2019-2028 Financial Plan, 
and/or the 2020-2029 Financial Plan. The City continues to communicate with the Federal 
Government in hopes they will increase their contribution to this important project.
The total existing and proposed funding required to proceed with the project is 
summarized in Table 4.

Page 5 of 6



REPORT: Mosquito Creek Bridge Replacement - Funding Reallocation
Date: June 5, 2019

Table 4: Summary of Existing Funds and Additional Funding Required

Existing Funding

Build Canada - Small Communities Fund $3,870,000
TransLink Grant Funding (External) $1,650,000
CNV2018 Financial Plan $3,480,000
Subtotal $9,000,000

Requested Reallocated Funding

Reallocation from existing projects 2019 $3,600,000
Additional funding required 2020 $2,400,000
Total $15,000,000

INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS:

This report was prepared in collaboration with the Finance Department.

As this bridge replacement involves a variety of technical components, transportation 
engineering, utilities upgrades, and parks planning, the project will be delivered by a 
multidisciplinary team with the Engineering, Parks and Environment Department and with 
the assistance of outside consultants.

CORPORATE PLAN AND/OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS:

This proposed work supports the following goals and objectives of the City’s 2014 Official 
Community Plan:

2.1.4 Reduce crossing barriers at locations such as intersections, creeks, 
highways and rail crossings so that walking and cycling are more 
convenient and attractive;

2.3 Support a safe, accessible, resilient, and affordable transportation system;

2.3.1 Maintain the existing transportation infrastructure in good repair;

2.3.9 Design and adapt transportation infrastructure to be resilient to 
environmental changes and natural disasters such as extreme weather 
events.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED:
Brian'Willock, .P.Eng.,
Manager, Engineering Planning and 
Design

Page 6 of 6



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2019, No. 8722 Document: 1789736-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8722 

A Bylaw to Amend “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) 
Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2018, No. 8623” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Development Cost Charge 

(Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2018, No. 8623, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 
8722” (Funding Reallocation). 

 
2. An amount of $94,050 is hereby reallocated from the “3rd Street Transit and Active 

Transportation Improvements” project for the purpose of funding the “Mosquito Creek Bridge 
Replacement” project. 

 
READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2019. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2019. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2019. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2019. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CITY CLERK 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2019, No. 8723 Document: 1789737-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8723 

A Bylaw to Amend “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) 
Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2018, No. 8625” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Development Cost Charge 

(Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2018, No. 8625, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 
8723” (Funding Reallocation). 

 
2. An amount of $495,000 is hereby reallocated from the “Moodyville Neighbourhood 

Transportation Improvements” project for the purpose of funding the “Mosquito Creek Bridge 
Replacement” project. 

 
READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2019. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2019. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2019. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2019. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CITY CLERK 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2019, No. 8724 Document: 1789740-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8724 

A Bylaw to Amend “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) 
Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2018, No. 8690” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Development Cost Charge 

(Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2018, No. 8690, Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 
8724” (Funding Reallocation). 

 
2. An amount of $732,600 is hereby reallocated from the “Marine-Main Corridor: Queensbury 

to Heywood” project for the purpose of funding the “Mosquito Creek Bridge Replacement” 
project. 

 
READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2019. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2019. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2019. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2019. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CITY CLERK 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



|/\A
Di^sion
Manager

[fo/ector CAO

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT

REPORT

To: Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council

From: Jennifer Draper, Deputy Director, Planning & Development
Christopher French, Planning Assistant, Transportation

Subject: BIKE VALET AT COMMUNITY EVENTS - POLICY UPDATES

Date: June 5,2019 File No: 16-8330-05-0001/1

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution.

RECOMMENDATION:

PURSUANT to the report of the Deputy Director, Planning and Development and 
Planning Assistant, Transportation, dated June 5, 2019, entitled “Bike Valet at 
Community Events - Policy Updates”:

THAT the Shipyards & Foot of Lonsdale Events Policy (C59B) and Policy for 
Events in Parks and Public Open Spaces (C57C) be updated to the proposed 
wording outlined in Attachment 1.

ATTACHMENTS:

1. Council Report dated March 20, 2019: Bike Valet at Community Events (doc 
#1791005^

2. Proposed Amendments to Event Policies for Sustainable Transportation (doc 
#17785361

Document Number: 1777204 V2



REPORT: Bike Valet at Community Events - Policy Updates
Date: June 5, 2019

PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is to present for Council consideration, amendments to select 
City event policies (C57C, C59B) to encourage sustainable and active transportation at 
regional events hosted at City venues.

BACKGROUND

On April 1, 2019, staff brought forward a report on the provision of bike valets at 
community events in the City of North Vancouver. In addition to a number of 
recommendations to promote bike valet services, staff received Council direction to 
amend two of the City’s event policies to encourage and support sustainable 
transportation to venues:

THAT Council direct staff to amend The Shipyards and Foot of Lonsdale Events 
Policy (C59B) and Policy for Events in Parks and Public Open Spaces (C57C) to 
require promotion of active transportation modes.

DISCUSSION

When hosting an event at a City venue, an organizer must abide by the City’s event 
policy for that respective venue. The two policies that govern these events are the 
Shipyards & Foot of Lonsdale Events Policy (C59B), and the Policy for Events in Parks 
and Public Open Spaces (C57C).

Per the direction received from Council in April 2019, the following summary of changes 
are proposed:

• Require the promotion of sustainable and active transportation modes for events 
at the Shipyards & Foot of Lonsdale; and for regional events

• Encourage promotion of sustainable and active transportation modes for all 
events through the Policy for Community Events in Parks and Public Open 
Spaces

Reference is to be made to Attachment 2 for the recommended changes to the two 
applicable policies.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

With the adoption of the policy updates, the City will be providing some staff time to 
support and promote the uptake of sustainable transportation options, including bike 
valet services, with event organizers. Furthermore, staff will continue to seek out 
funding and partnerships with local businesses for bike valet services in support of City 
hosted events.

Page 2 of 3



REPORT: Bike Valet at Community Events - Policy Updates

Date: June 5, 2019

INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

The recommended changes to the policies set forth in the appendix were put together in 
collaboration with staff from the Departments of Planning & Development; Engineering, 
Parks & Environment; Community & Partner Engagement; and the North Vancouver 
Recreation & Culture Commission.

CORPORATE PLAN AND/OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS

Changing the selected City event policies to encourage attendees to commute to large, 
regional events via sustainable modes such as cycling, walking or transit is in keeping 
with the goals and objectives of the 2014 Official Community Plan including:

Goal 2.1 - Prioritize walking, cycling, transit and good movement over single-occupancy 
vehicles;

Objective 2.1.7 - Work with partners to encourage and promote the numerous benefits 
of active transportation, including health, social and economic benefits, especially 
amongst young people;

Objective 2.1.8 - Work with partners, including TransLink, employers in the City and 
their labour representatives on transportation demand management measures that 
encourage walking, cycling, and the use of public transit;

Objective 2.3.8 - Encourage transportation options that reduce fossil fuel use, such as 
walking, cycling, transit, carpooling, and low-emission vehicles.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED:

Christopher^rench
Planning Assistant - Transportation

Page 3 of 3



















Proposed Amendments to City Event Policies (C59B, C57C) 

Proposed Amendment to The Shipyards & Foot of Lonsdale Event Policy (C59B) 

Currently, under section 3.0, event organizers are encouraged to advertise sustainable 
transportation to their event. The policy reads: 

“Attendee Transportation: 

Event organizers are encouraged to advertise transit and other sustainable transportation 
options for their event. These venues are a short walk, via the Spirit Trail from the SeaBus 
terminal.” 

The proposed changes to this section, under the same heading, are as follows: 

“Attendee Transportation: 

Event organizers are required to advertise transit, cycling, walking and other sustainable 
transportation options for their event. These venues are easily accessible by the Spirit Trail, and 
located close to Lonsdale Quay SeaBus Terminal and Transit Exchange. 

If hosting a regional event, event organizers are encouraged to provide convenient, secure 
bicycle parking for attendees, such as a bike valet. For more information about bike valet 
services, please visit www.cnv.org/BikeValet” 

 

Proposed Amendment to the Policy for Community Events in Parks and Public Open 
Spaces (C57C) 

The policy does not include any information or encouragement about sustainable transportation. 
Because a lot of these community events may be smaller in comparison to those that happen at 
the Foot of Lonsdale, the proposed amendment does not require, but encourages 
advertisement initiatives for sustainable transportation.  

The following amendment would be inserted under section 8.0 after the description of the 
requirements for a zero waste plan and responsibilities to leave park venues free of litter. The 
policy would read: 

“… 

• Any additional clean-up costs borne by the City will be deducted from the damage 
deposit. The event organizer will be invoiced for any additional costs for park repairs that 
result from the event’s operation. 

• Community event organizers are encouraged to advertise transit, cycling and other 
sustainable transportation options for their event. Many of the City’s parks and public 
open spaces are in close proximity to transit and sustainable transportation networks 
such as the Spirit Trail and Green Necklace. 

• If hosting a large, community event, event organizers are encouraged to provide 
convenient, secure bicycle parking for attendees, such as a bike valet. For more 
information about bike valet services, please visit www.cnv.org/BikeValet ” 

 





















6
4

4

1
2

3

1
1

9

6
1

6

6
1

6

1
4

1

1
5

1

6
1

5

1
2

3

1
1

5

1
1

5

1
8

5

1
2

0

1
6

0

Context Map: Subject Site



SITE CHARACTERISTICS

OCP Designation

Existing Zoning 

Site Area

FLOOR AREA AND HEIGHT Existing Zoning (RH-1)

Total Lot Coverage 50%

Principal Building Height (maximum)
30.48 m                   

(100.0 ft.)

SETBACKS

North (East Keith Road)

East Side Yard

West Side Yard

South (East 6th Street)

BICYCLE PARKING

Residential (stalls for additional units)

VEHICLE PARKING

Total Vehicle Parking (stalls)

Required

7.62 m (25.0 ft.)

Proposed 

2.40 m (7.83 ft.)

29.36 m (96.32 ft.)

1.65 m (5.41 ft.)

1.63 m (5.33 ft.)

Numbers based on plans dated February 4, 2019                                                                                                                           #1765369

40.1%

Building 1 - 16.13 m (52.91 feet)  
Building 2 - 13.26 m (43.51 feet) 

46.0 m                       
(151.0 feet)

Proposed

N/A

Existing Zoning (RH-1)

7.62 m (25.0 ft.)

7.62 m (25.0 ft.)

7.62 m (25.0 ft.)

Existing and Proposed:  77 (includes 13 visitor) 

Required Proposed

62 secured / 6 short term

77 (includes 13 visitor)

60 secured / 6 short term

Existing Building                 
5,962.98 sq. m (64,185.0 sq. ft.)    

2.29 FSR                      
Proposed Addition               

2,288.11 sq. m (24,629.0 sq. ft.)    
0.88 FSR

Proposed Total                 
8,251.09 sq. m (88,814.0 sq. ft)    

3.17 FSR       

Proposed 

PROJECT SUMMARY SHEET
DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION

151 East Keith Road

Residential Level 6 (R6)

2,601.1 sq. m                  
(27,998 sq. ft.)

High Density Apartment 
Residential 1 (RH-1)

Offical Community Plan 

Floor Space Ratio
Maximum 2.60 FSR          
or 6,762.86 sq. m            

(72,795 sq. ft.) 

OCP - 2.30 FSR                
5,982.53 sq. m (64,395.4 sq. ft.)   

Density Bonus - 1.0 FSR         
2,601.1 sq. m (27,998 sq. ft.)

Total Maximum                
8,583.63 m² (92,393.4 sq. ft)      

3.30 FSR       













































































Page 1 of 11 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Community Open House Summary Report 
 

151 East Keith Road  
Starlight Investments 

 
March 27, 2019 

St. Andrew’s Church 
1044 St Georges Avenue 

North Vancouver, B.C. 
 

Final Version Date: April 11, 2019 
  

  



Page 2 of 11 
 

SSummary 
 

Starlight Investments, in collaboration with BHA Architecture, is proposing to increase the rental housing 
capacity at 151 East Keith Road in North Vancouver through modest, infill development. The proposal 
intends to respond to the well documented need for more rental housing in the City of North Vancouver.  
 
The site currently features a 14-storey purpose-built rental tower (built in 1972) and a 2-storey underground 
parking garage. The proposal is strictly for infill housing, meaning the existing building on site will remain in place 
and that no existing tenants will be displaced as a result of this proposal. 
 
The application seeks to rezone the property to allow for the development of 40 new rental homes, which will be 
housed in two 4-storey buildings (townhome building and apartment building), for an additional floor space ratio 
of 0.88. In alignment with the Housing Action Plan (2016), 10% of the homes will be offered at below-market rates. 
These units will be rented at SAFER rates (30% below CMHC average) and secured in perpetuity, exceeding City 
requirements. 
 
The site is designated as Level Six: High Density. The Official Community Plan (2014) notes that “Council may 
approve additional floor area if there is a commitment to provide market or non-market rental housing”. 
(OCP 2014, Section 2.2).  
 
As part of the planning process, a voluntary, applicant-led Neighbourhood Open House was held on 
March 27, 2019 at St. Andrews Church to share the proposal with the community. The purpose of the 
Neighbourhood Open House was to share the revised scheme with the community and gather the 
public’s feedback. The notification and Neighbourhood Open House format adhered to the City of North 
Vancouver’s policy guidelines and requirements.  
 
A turnout of 50 members of the community garnered a total of 26 comment sheets during the duration 
of the Neighbourhood Open House. The applicant team received 2 comments from local residents 
following the Neighbourhood Open House. 
 

Notification 
 

An official letter of notification (Appendix A) was mailed to property owners within a 40 meter radius of 
the subject site. The notification radius provided by the City of North Vancouver included 2059 homes. 
The notification was received two weeks in advance of the Neighbourhood Open House, on March 13, 
2019. In addition to the official notification, two signs were erected on the subject site (fronting East 
Keith Road and East 6th Street) on March 15th, 2019 and the Neighbourhood Open House was advertised 
in the North Shore News on March 20th and 22nd, 2019.  
 

Neighbourhood Open House Summary 
 
 
Date: March 27th, 2019  
Location: The Friendship Room - St. Andrews Church, 1044 St. Georges Avenue, North Vancouver, B.C. 
Hours: 5:00pm-7:00pm  
Registered Attendees: 50 
Comment sheets submitted at Open House: 26 
Comments received after the Open House: 2 



Page 3 of 11 
 

Total comments received: 28 
 
The Neighbourhood Open House followed an informal format with 14 project boards on display 
(Appendix B). Members of the applicant team were present to answer questions. No formal presentation 
was made.  

 
Comment sheets were available for participants to privately record their feedback on the proposal. All 
comments received at the Open House have been transcribed exactly as they appear (no corrections of 
spelling or grammar have been made) and are included in this report.  Scanned copies of the comment 
sheets and email feedback (Appendix C) and the sign-in sheets (Appendix D) are attached herein.   
  
NNeighbourhood  OOpen House Sign--IIn Sheet:   

NName  MMailing Address  EEmail  TTelephone   
W Daal 123 E Keith   
G Daal 123 E Keith   
P Montgomery 123 E Keith   
D. McDowall 123 E Keith   
R. Romano 138 Esplanade E   
Bob Bunting 655 E 9th    
Cathy Lewis 655 E 9th   
Don Petter 678 W Queen   
Linda Jones 123 E Keith   

Bente Nielsen 
1468 St. Andrews 
Av   

Ken Megale 
1601-151 Keith 
Rd   

Linda Heese 1501-140 Keith 
Rd 

  

Bill Heese 
1501-140 Keith 
Rd 

  

Tanya Miller    
Joy Hayden 267 W. Esplanade   
Robert Van 
Veen 

102-151 Keith E 
Rd   

Gabrielle Lonen 1004-175 Victory 
Ship Way 

  

Dean Rath 202-141 E 6th St   

John Kennan 
1401-123 E Keith 
Rd   

Gerry 
Fitzpatrick 

123 E Keith   

David Fawley 1726 Rufus Dr   
H.Thomas 1001-123 E Keith   
T.Lehaullen 902-123 E Keith   
Ken Dueck 309-170 5th St E   
S. Wilson 209-131 E 3rd St   



Page 4 of 11 
 

Smith St N 150 E. Keith   
Schnieder S 140 E Keith   
I Gilbertson 141 E 6th St   
B. Graves 140 E Keith   
Wayne Collett 123 E.Keith   
Emily 
DeGenova 

155 2nd St W   

Hudson 
Francesco 

155 2nd St W   

May Park 123 E.Keith    
B.Clark 123 E.Keith   
Robyn Newton 2104 Grand Blvd   
Kasin Lamers 141 E 6th Ave   

Viire Daniels 
802 - 123 E. Keith 
Rd   

Mitchell Hugh 801-123 E. Keith 
Rd 

  

Elonna Hugh 
801-123 E. Keith 
Rd 

  

Kim Collett 
1501 123 E. Keith 
Rd 

  

B. Kellington 1001-140 E Keith   
Bill Herman 123 E. Keith Rd   
Anne Herman 123 E. Keith Rd   
Chuck Handy 123 E. Keith Rd   
Helen Patuck 123 E. Keith Rd   
Catriona 
Remockez 

66-728 14th St   

  
CComment Sheet Results and Quantitative Analysis:  
  
Of the 28 comments received, we have determined that: 

443%% (122  rrespondents) voiced support for the project. 
339%% (11 respondents) voiced concern for the project.  
118%% (5 respondents) voiced neutral comments toward the project, with suggestions. 
 

KKey Areas of Support: 

339%% (111  rrespondents) expressed support for increased rental, affordable and/or family-oriented 
housing supply in the area.  
332%% (99  rrespondents) voiced support for the design (architecture, landscaping and density) of the 
proposal. 
225%% (77 rrespondents) liked that the proposal is for infill development (ie. no displacement 
associated with this application).  
 

  



Page 5 of 11 
 

KKey Areas of Concern: 

 39% (11 respondents) indicated that they wanted to see the setbacks increased and/or had 
concerns about view corridors.  

 18% (5 respondents) raised concerns about increased street-side parking and/or traffic in the 
area.  

 18% (5 respondents) raised concerns about construction impacts (noise, debris, etc).  
 14% (4 respondents) did not want to see housing developed at this location. 

 
Of the 26 comment cards received at the Neighbourhood Open House, 7 comment cards were submitted 
anonymously (no name or contact information). Below provides an overview of the comments received. 
Please note that comments are transcribed verbatim and have not been corrected, altered, or censored. 
 

1. Tell us a little about yourself. Check those applicable to you? 
 
Transcription of Comments: 
 
 93% (25 respondents) live in the City of North Vancouver 
 19% (5 respondents) work in the City of North Vancouver 
 56% (15 respondents) own their home 
 37% (10 respondents) rent their home 
 7% (2 respondents) did not provide a response  

 
2. Are there elements of the proposed plan that you like? If so, what are they? 

 
Transcription of Comments: 
 
 The below responses to this question were submitted to the applicant team during the 
Neighbourhood Open House: 
 
1.  Larger family units, starter home units (all in one!), Modest infill, fits with character of 

neighbourhood and rooftop patios  
2.  -The design, how it fits in the community  

-Proximity to green space – great for seniors and small families  
-Pleased how it fits into the existing neighbourhood  
-Pleased to see family size units – need some children in the neighbourhood 
-Love the housing available to low-income seniors 

3.  All of them!  
4.  I like that the plan is supporting the development of more rental housing much needed, 

especially in the form of studio and 3-bedroom units, which we are particularly short on. I 
also don’t think this development will be overly disruptive to existing residents on detract 
from their neighbourhood   

5.  -Support for seniors 
-3-Bedroom rentals are needed in North Van! (Affordable) 
-Thrilled to see a progressive plan 
-Better amenities are needed in rental buildings. I am happy to see that there will be 
upgrades 



Page 6 of 11 
 

66.  -Increase to rental stock 
-Seniors below market rental 
-3-bedroom units for families 
-Adaptable units 
-No displacement of existing residents 

77.  -Rental stock will increase without displacing current units. This is a true increase in available 
rentals, not just replacing a building 
-Affordability. Affordability is a real concern in the City of NV. Rental prices seem to increase 
every month and there doesn’t seem to be an end in sight. I want to live in a vibrant and 
diverse city, not a city that is only accessible to the highest income residents 
-I really can’t emphasis enough how much I support this project 

88.  -All! More affordable housing is needed in this city especially projects that do not displace 
current tenants 
-Makes the whole street look better and more modern 

99.  -Like the aesthetics 
-Integrates well with the neighbouring buildings 

110.  -Improves access 
-Revised layout (building 3 removed) 
-More landscapes and trees (Greenery) 

111.  What are you planning to do with the trees on the west side of these buildings? 
How are ya going to accommodate the people with cars? 

112.  NONE 
113.  -Not really – I do not wish this development to proceed 
114.  I do not like any of the plans 

Unnecessary devel 
Construction fatigue – due to 16 storey bld. Next door 
Obstruction to view corridor 
Parking problems 
Noise 

115.  NONE 
116.  No 

We have no need for unaffordable rental housing 
117.  Like that the proponent is willing to buy their plans to the neighbourhood for early views  

I also like the fact that the unsightly piece of land will be addressed 
118.  Too close to Victoria Park & Victoria Place 

No sight lines from Park 
Stairwell lighting impacting wildlife & Area Residents 
Affordable suites – I don’t think so 

119.  That it is 4-storey is good-but I still think this development is misplaced 
That tenants are not displaced-since nobody there!! 
That it would remain “RENTAL” is perpetuity  

220.  I am supportive of an infill project for the site but it must respect neighbourhood values, 
particularly setbacks 

2211..  The walkway is most considerate to all 
2222..  We need more rental housing in NV that is affordable 

Proposed building & landscaping looks attractive in renderings 



Page 7 of 11 
 

 
 

33. Are there elements of the proposed plan that you believe could be improved? If so, do you have 
suggestions on how they might be improved? 
 
Transcription of Comments: 
 
The below responses to this question were submitted to the applicant team during the 
Neighbourhood Open House: 
 
1.  Unsure 
2.  Building 1 is too close to the property line to the west and to Keith road. The setbacks are 

insulting to the community need for open, uncluttered visual space especially as people live 
in smaller + smaller apartments studios 
Building 2 is too close to the property line to the west. 6th street set back is fine it is taking 
advantage of the “air space” left on the ost side of the property to the west (123) 

3.  Build sooner 
4.  DO NOT BUILD 
5.  DO NOT BUILD 

The Corridor is going to disappear. Most of the grocery & park will be obsured by this 
building specially for those that live on East 6th. We are fed up with construction, trucks, no 
parking, excessive noise – ground tremors, smokers, foul language. THE TRAFFIC IS 
OUTRAGEOUS and our patience has reached its limit. 

6.  Setback from E Keith Road, to be improved. The building encroaches on the sidewalk. As a 
pedestrian the building has an overbearing presence. It is totally out of character with the 
neighbourhood 

7.  Yes, atm we the plan we don’t want any more skyscrapers in around Victoria Park 
8.  Excellent response to comments & concerns raised at the public hearing last year  
9.  No view corridors have been maximized already while not over bearing the site 

10.  The plan needs to address the west side variance issue. I live at the 123 E Keith and will 
certainly feel the impact of the solid wall massing in this design. The protruding stairwell 
structure in that wall makes the impact even worse. When the adjacent buildings has an 
open airy side yard it is not fair to the neighbourhood to build so close to the property line 
and expect the adjacent property to provide the ambiance this area projects. Please increase 
the west side setback and redesign your buildings to reflect that. We are well aware that not 
having to build new parking allotments will save this developer a lot of money, but the 
neighbourhood will suffer for it. To allow the project to also destroy our light and openness 
corridors is not acceptable 
 

11.  Increase setbacks at E Keith 
12.  It is not the right place – looks awkward in between the high-rises, and like the previous 

proposal it blocks the park even now that the one building is removed. I don’t think we 
should put anything there just because there aren’t any buildings right now. It seems a bit 
desperate!   

13.  The setback is…. 
14.  No I think it’s great! 



Page 8 of 11 
 

115.  Nope, needs to move forward 
116.  Always curious about Highrise vs 4 storey integrations but can’t think of any changes. 
117.  Yes – abandon this project – not necessary- we don’t need a wall of corridor facing us 
118.  No I just want it to be build 
119.  Victoria Park is probably the highest residential 2 block area in the city despite this density. 

Victoria Park is a very desperate area because of its ambiance. This ambiance is the result of 
the view corridors this project reduces the west view corridor to a minimal width. The 
setbacks should be 25 feet which will be consistent with the eastern setback 

  
4. Do you have any other comments you’d like to share with us? 

 
Transcription of Comments: 
 
 The below responses to this question were submitted to the applicant team during the 
Neighbourhood Open House: 
 
1.  Respect the design principles which have made this area beautiful to live despite the density. 

By eliminating this view corridor, you will set a principle for many other Victoria Park 
properties 

2.  People dislike change, but that shouldn’t impede progress. This development is part of a 
solution to a longer problem. I hope it proceeds 

3.  Pleased to see a well-designed smaller building rather than another 17-storey high rise. Also 
like the changes to the design, greater set back. It ‘softens’ the concrete jungle surrounding 
the area yet it fits in. What a fabulous opportunity for small families with a beautiful park 
across the street 

4.  Great company, great building, great management 

5.  No-DO NOT BUILD-It is enough. Our green corridor will disappear-we will have constant 
noise trucks, tremors, dust garbage-no parking smokers-screaming. Residents on E 6th street 
are worn out. We want a 5-year construction break. I have nothing good to say.  

6.  This is an inappropriate project in an inappropriate place. The feel of the street will be 
completely changed with the units sitting in areas not similar to the rest of the buildings 
surrounding the park on the east & west Keith road. The construct parking problem will be 
exasperated – the underutilized parking is because tenants don’t want to rent spaces out 
because they don’t have cars. The community finds this imposition, and should’ve listened 
too 

7.  I look forward to seeing this project being built! We need more rental apartments! 

8.  Much needed! Thank you! 

9.  This development seems to me to be greed! We already have a concrete wall on our street! 

10.  We have already been through 2.5 years of construction already on this block. Parking on 
street us a real problem. 

11.  I find it very disturbing that having seen this project defeated by a previous city council, it is 
now back in an even more disturbing design. “What” makes the proponent think he has a 
better chance to pass it this time. Do you know something this neighbourhood is not being 
told??  
 



Page 9 of 11 
 

I since really believe something need to be built on this site and badly needed “social| 
housing should be built here. This is exactly the kind of site where the proponent has not had 
factor in acquiring land costs or providing any additional parking that they could provide 
badly needed “social housing” and still make a reasonable profit by building within the OCP 
allowed limits.  

112.  Its so important to recognize progress and growth the city is growing, and people need a 
place to live. I’ve heard so many people against development because they are against 
change and that is unacceptable. We have an enviable lifestyle here in the City of NV and 
that lifestyle is open to everyone. We all need a place to live and a community to call home 
and I for one, love this city. But the nay side is the real problem here. Nimbyism and thinly 
veiled classism hurt this community. Let’s be real about the projects that bring out hardcore 
opponents – its not the luxury towers that seems to bring out the worst. We all need a place 
to live, so build homes. 

113.  “Below Market” – only 4 of 40 units will be “below market” and starlight properties are 
known for charging high rents, so affordability will be an issue (still). 
Starlight properties is North Van make a mocking of your first placard “project team”, which 
says how “excellent” the company is. Example – property at 150 E Keith has been under 
renovation since last November, and is still not finished. (Masking tape for door numbers, 
cardboard still or floor in lobby..etc etc) Most residents see the “upgrade” as a downgrade. 
(ugly gray doors, cement filing) – Not would be okay with that if it could just be finished. 
Lack of attention shows lack of respect for tenants.  

114.  I am very concerned about the construction noise and length of time to build – 1.5 years I am 
also concerned about the additional vehicle traffic on 6th street to the underground parking 
and extra demand for street parking, which is already in very high demand. 

115.  The 4-storey + building needs to be set back further from Keith Rd E. The bylaw regulation 
states 25 feet setback. Too much of this building is not the setback! 
This building is too high to be this close to the sidewalk + road 
-Parking- there are inefficient spaces for parking, the surrounding streets are full day and 
night! This is unacceptable to force more people to park on the street 
Too much potential car parking area is planned for bicycle lockers – too much space 
compound to car parking situation in this area. 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 10 of 11 
 

CComments Received Post Open House 
 
The applicant team received 2 comments from local residents following the Neighbourhood Open House. 
The following correspondence was submitted to the applicant team: 
 
From: Jessie Brock  
Date: April 10, 2019 at 7:23:53 AM  
To: Virginia Bird  
 
Subject: RRental Housing on Keith 
 
To whom it may concern: 
 
I recently received a flyer with an invitation to attend an Open House to view the plans for a new rental 
housing project on East Keith Road, less than a block from where I live (rent). I wasn’t able to attend the 
Open House as I have a very young son but wanted to register my support by email. 
 
Although the project is small in scale, this infill development will add 40 new units of much needed rental 
housing supply to the City of North Vancouver, and is a much better use of land that what is currently on 
site today.  When we moved back to the North Shore from downtown, my family and I struggled to find 
appropriate rental accommodation in this neighbourhood given the lack of larger 2 & three bedroom 
homes. 
 
The location of the proposed development off Lonsdale, opposite Victoria Park, is an ideal location to add 
additional density due to its proximity to services and amenities, outdoor recreation space, and transit.  
Thank you for your consideration. 
 
Jessie Brock 
 
From: Jody Rechenmacher  
Sent: Thursday, April 4, 2019 8:31 PM 
To: Kirsten Avison  
Subject: Keith Road - Infill Development 
 
Hello, 
  
I was unable to attend the open house last week but I am submitting these formal comments iin 
support of the application for infill development on Keith Road. 
  
My husband and I own a townhouse on 4th Street West. We moved to the City of North Vancouver in 
September of 2017 from Vancouver after having our first child. We chose the north shore because of 
proximity to the mountains, but we chose the City specifically because of the type of development that 
has been happening over the recent years. We value living in a walkable community with a vibrant 
streetscape on Lonsdale and the proximity to the seabus. We also value the City’s many parks, including 
Victoria Park. 
  
I support the proposed development for two reasons: 
 



Page 11 of 11 
 

1. I love the mixed use space on Lonsdale and see new businesses starting at other places in the 
City. However, there is still some vacant commercial development and at times it seems some 
businesses struggle with having the population base to support their viability. I welcome 
additional density to certain areas in the City to ensure that we can continue to have access to 
vibrant streetscapes and a diversity of businesses. 
  

2. I’m aware that the City needs to continue to increase housing supply – both market and 
affordable housing. I welcome additional density of the right type and in certain areas to meet 
this need. The proposed development is a perfect example of what I see to be the right type of 
infill density – leveraging existing buildings without evicting existing residents. Having Victoria 
Park across the street from the site maintains a desirable openness to the site without 
compromising the experience of being in the park. Infill development of this type is important 
because it doesn’t sacrifice our City’s green spaces. Approving this development helps the City to 
increase supply of rental stock in a way that protects the character and assets of the City, without 
evicting current residents. 
  

Sincerely, 
 
Jody Rechenmacher 
  
Appendices 
 

 Appendix A: Neighbourhood Open House Notification  
 Appendix B: Project Display Boards 
 Appendix C: Copy of Submitted Comment Cards 
 Appendix D: Copy of Open House Registration  
 Appendix E: Site Signage  

 



This is not a City of North Vancouver event. This Open House is being hosted voluntarily by the applicant team. 
 

For further information please contact:                                                                                         
VVirginia Bird at 604-619-0837 

PLEASE JOIN US 
 

BHA Architecture, together with Starlight Investments, invite you to a Neighbourhood Open House to view their proposal to 
increase rental housing capacity at 151 East Keith Road through modest, infill development. 

 
BHA Architecture, together with Starlight Investments, are pleased to present a proposal to increase rental 

housing capacity at 151 East Keith Road. The proposal aligns with the current allowable density under the City’s Official 
Community Plan (2014) and seeks to respond to the well documented need for rental and family oriented housing in the 
City. In alignment with the City’s Housing Action Plan (2016), 10% of the units will be offered at below market rates. The 

application seeks to rezone the property at 151 East Keith Road to allow for the development of 40 units of purpose-built 
rental housing, which will be housed in two buildings: a 4-storey apartment building and a 4-storey townhome building, 

for a floor space ratio of 0.88. Existing tenants of the property will not be displaced as a result of this proposal. 

The applicant team welcomes your input and invites you to join us to learn about the proposal.  
 

Neighbourhood Open House Details 
 

Date: Wednesday,  March 27, 2019  
Time: 5:00pm – 7:00pm (drop in) 

Place: The Friendship Room,  St. Andrews Church  
Address: 1044 St. Georges Avenue, North Vancouver 

Site 

EAST KEITH ROAD 

SITE 

LO
N

SD
AL

E 
AV

EN
U

E 

EAST 6TH ST REET 



Welcome ______________________

EAST KEITH ROAD

SITE

LO
N

SD
A

LE
 A

VE
N

U
E

EAST 6TH STREET

Starlight Investments, in 
collaboration with BHA Architecture, 
are proposing to increase rental 
housing capacity at 151 East Keith 
Road through modest, low-rise infill 
development.

The purpose of tonight’s 
Neighbourhood Open House is to 
share our vision for the site, provide 
information about the planning 
process and local development 
policies and to gain valuable 
feedback from our neighbours and 
the community.

This Open House is being held 
voluntarily by the applicant team.  

Site Aerial (Above): The site is located at 151 East Keith Road in North Vancouver, between Lonsdale 
Avenue and St. Georges Avenue

EAST 5TH STREET
ST

. G
EO

RG
ES

A
VE

N
U

E

N



Project Team________________________
Starlight Investments Ltd. is a real estate asset management firm with a 
primary focus on multifamily rental properties across Canada and the Southern 
United States. Starlight’s innovative approach to the properties under its 
management is reflected in its commitment to excellence in quality design and 
construction for both existing assets and infill development projects alike. 

BHA Architecture was formed in 1991, and has developed expertise in a variety 
of construction forms and municipal processes. The firm has executed public and 
private sector projects across Western Canada and has developed a track record 
of producing imaginative and functional design solutions. 

Urban Systems is a multi-disciplinary planning firm founded in 1975 whose 
innovative approach to land development has resulted in some of the most 
celebrated development projects in Western Canada. Urban Systems harnesses 
the expertise of professional engineers, community planners, policy analysts, 
landscape architects, environmental scientists, communication experts, 
technologists, legal surveyors, and administrative professionals.

Connect Landscape Architecture is recognized as a leader in the design and 
transformation of healthy vibrant communities. Connect draws inspiration from the 
natural landscape while embracing built form and infrastructure.

Starlight Investments

BHA Architecture

Urban Systems

Connect Landscape Architecture



Site & Neighbourhood Context________

Site Elevations (Above): View of the proposed infill development and neighbouring
buildings. View shown from East Keith Road.

Building 1

31 studio units

Site Context
The site is located on the south side of Keith Road, two 
blocks east of Lonsdale Avenue. Adjacent to the north, is 
Victoria Park, while the existing tower is flanked by a 14 
storey condominium to the west and a 16 storey 
condominium to the east. The immediate area is 
predominantly multi-family dwellings ranging between 2-14 
storeys in height. The site is located within close walking 
distance to shopping, community amenities and transit, 
including the Seabus.

Site Elevations (Above): View of the proposed infill development and neighbouring
buildings. View shown from East 6th Street.

Site Aerial (Above): The site is located at 151 East Keith Road in 
North Vancouver, between Lonsdale Avenue and St. Georges Avenue.

Building 2

3 studio units & 
6 3-bedroom units

N

Proposed Infill 

Housing

Existing Building on Site



Policy Context
Our proposal intends to respond to the well documented need
for more rental housing in the City of North Vancouver. The
City has continued to see a tightening rental market, with the
documented vacancy rate down to 0.8% in 2017 from 1.3%
the previous year. The vacancy rate for family oriented, 3
bedroom rental units in 2017 was even lower at 0% (Source:
CMHC 2018 Rental Housing Market Report).

Official Community Plan (OCP)
The OCP was adopted in 2014 after a 3-year public
consultation process. The project aligns with the current
allowable density bonus as per the City’s Official
Community Plan (OCP 2014).

Current Zoning
The site is zoned as Level Six: High Density. The OCP notes
that “Council may approve additional floor area if there is a
commitment to provide market or non-market rental
housing”. (OCP 2014, Section 2.2).

Housing Action Plan (HAP)
In alignment with the Housing Action Plan (HAP 2016), 10%
of the homes will be offered at below-market rates. These
units will be rented at SAFER rates (30% below CMHC
average) and secured in perpetuity, exceeding City
requirements. The proposal also exceeds the HAP’s family
housing requirement (10% of total units) with 15% of the
proposed units as 3-bedroom, family oriented homes.

Policy Context___________________

Above: City of North Vancouver Land Use Designation Map (2014). The site is zoned as Level Six: 
High Density.



Community Benefits_________________
Increase in Rental Housing Stock

The proposal seeks to add 40 new purpose built rental
homes on the site. 100% of the new homes will be
secured as rental homes.

No Tenant Displacement

There will be no loss of existing rental homes on the
site. None of the existing tenants in the 89 suite
building will be displaced.

Support for Seniors

Starlight has established a partnership with a local
service provider to provide greater below market
housing to seniors.

Design Excellence

The project received unanimous support from the
City’s Advisory Design Panel in February 2017.

Maximization of Existing Site

The development will maximize the use of the existing
site, including the currently underutilized underground
parkade, resulting in minimal disruption to current
tenants and neighbours.

New Pedestrian Crossing

New stairs and landscaped pathways will allow
pedestrian travel from East 6th Street to East Keith
Road and Victoria Park.

Affordable Housing

In alignment with the Housing Action Plan, 10% of the
homes will be offered at below-market rates. These units
will be rented at SAFER rates (30% below CMHC
average) and secured in perpetuity, exceeding City
requirements.

Housing for All

The development will include 34 studio units and six 3-
bedroom units. 14 of the units will be ‘adaptable units’.

Alignment with City Vision

The project aligns with the City’s Official Community Plan
(OCP).

Commitment to Sustainability

A new bike repair station and 68 new bicycle parking
spaces, including some with e-charging stations, will be
provided on-site. A $25,000 contribution will help finance
new EV charging stations in the City.

On-Site Amenities

Communal amenities will be provided for all tenants
including an upgraded gym and rooftop deck. A new
accessible pathway and landscaping will provide
enhanced access to the existing building.



Community Feedback________________

What We Heard How We Responded

Key Areas of Support

• Increased rental and family 
oriented housing supply

• Inclusion of affordable housing 
for seniors

• The design (architecture, 
height and density)

• Better utilization of the site with 
no tenant displacement

• Strategic location (close 
proximity to transit, community 
amenities and retail)

Key Areas of Concern

• Increased density
• Proposed setbacks (proximity to 

Victoria Park and loss of privacy 
of neighbouring buildings)

• Loss of trees and open space 
on the site

• The site is currently is not 
wheelchair accessible 

• Access: A new ramp is proposed to provide barrier-free 
access from East Keith Road to the existing tower, 
proposed apartment building and underground parkade
(via new elevator)

• Green Space: New landscaping and trees will be added 
along the ramp to create a garden path experience

• Building Form: The proposed townhouse building fronting 
East Keith Road (and Victoria Park) from previous 
rezoning application has been removed (reduction in 
density from 0.91 to 0.88 FSR and increased setback)

• Connectivity: New exterior stairs and landscaped, 
accessible pathways will allow pedestrian travel from East 
6th Street through the site to East Keith Road and Victoria 
Park

In response to feedback from the Developers Information Session (April 26, 2017), discussions 
with community stakeholders and the comments at the Public Hearing (April 23, 2018), the 
design team has made a number of changes to the proposal for 151 East Keith Road.



The Proposal_______________________
Project Summary
The application seeks to rezone the property to allow for the
development of 40 new rental homes, which will be housed in two 4-
storey buildings (townhome building and apartment building), for an
additional floor space ratio of 0.88. In alignment with the Housing
Action Plan, 10% of the homes will be offered at below-market
rates. These units will be rented at SAFER rates (30% below
CMHC average) and secured in perpetuity, exceeding City
requirements.

The site currently features a 14-storey purpose-built rental tower
(built in 1972) and a 2-storey underground parking garage. The
proposal is strictly for infill housing, meaning the existing building on
site will remain in place and that no existing tenants will be
displaced as a result of this proposal.

Project Statistics

Site Elevations (Above): View of the proposed infill development and neighbouring
buildings. View shown from East Keith Road.

Building 1

31 studio units

Site Elevations (Above): View of the proposed infill development and neighbouring
buildings. View shown from East 6th Street.

Building 2

3 studio units & 
6 3-bedroom units

Project Summary
Height 4 storeys

Density
Proposed Infill: 0.88 FSR

Existing: 2.29 FSR

Total: 3.17 FSR

Site Area 27997 sq. ft.

Unit Breakdown Building 1 (Apartments)
Building 2 

(Townhomes)

Total Units 31 9
Studio 31 3

3 Bedroom - 6

Vehicle Parking 77 stalls

Bicycle Parking 68 new spaces



Rendering__________________________

View from Victoria Park 
looking southwest



60x32 W
/D

FR
ID

G
E 

24
"

60x32W
/D

FR
ID

G
E 

24
"

60x32 W
/D

FR
ID

G
E 

24
"

60x32 W
/D

FR
ID

G
E 

24
"

adaptable

60x32

FR
ID

G
E 

24
"

3'0"

W
/D

m
ur

ph
y 

de
d

3'0"

60
x3

2

FR
ID

G
E 

24
"

W
/D

m
ur

ph
y 

de
d

3'
0"

E
X

IT

NEW  CONSTRUCTION: NEW   
ENTRY STAIR DOWN TO  

FRONT ENTRY OF EXISTING  
BUILDING

M A IL K IO S K FOR 9   
T O W NH O U S E S

60x32
adaptable

FR
ID

G
E 

24
"

3'0"

W
/D

m
ur

ph
y 

de
d

B G 235 .500'  

71.78m

B G 238 .020'  

72.55m
B G 239 .040'

72.86m

B G 239 .670'

73.05m

B G 240 .320'  

73.25m

B G 240 .160'  

73.20m

EL 232.400'

70.84m

B G 236 .580'

72.11m

B G 238 .850'

72.80m

B G 239 .170'

72.90m

B G 240 .260'  

73.23m

B G 240 .350'  

73.26m

B G 240 .190'  

73.21m

B G 240 .879'

73.42m

EL 240.250'  

73.23m

EL 237.850'  

72.50m

EL 232.500'  

70.87m

EL 237.750 ' 

72.47m

EL 235.800'

71.87m

EL 238.550'  

72.71m

EL 238.400'  

72.66m

EL 234.100'

71.35m

EL 236.500'  

72.08m

EL 234.500'  

71.48m

EL 238.500'  

72.69m

BUILDING

M A IL K IO S K FOR 9  
T O W NH O U S E S

B G 240 .260' 

73.23m

EL 240.250' 

73.23m

2 
R

IS
E

R
S

@
6.

5"

EL 232.500'  

70.87m

3 RISERS @ 6. 5 "

EXIT

SL
O

PE
2%

3%

3 RISERS @ 6. 5 "

4 RISERS @ 6. 5 "

1 2 3 4 5 6
18'-10"
[5.74m]

18'-8"
[5.69m]

18'-8"
[5.69m]

18'-8"
[5.69m]

18'-10"
[5.74m]

A
B

C
D

21
'-0

"
[6

.4
0m

]
5'

-4
1/

2"
[1

.6
4m

]

21'-0"
[6

.4
0m

]

60x32 W
/D

FR
ID

G
E 

24
"

60x32 W
/D

FR
ID

G
E 

24
"

E
X

IT

E
X

IT

LANDSCAPED  
TERRACE

LANDSCAPED  
TERRACE

WALKWAY

CCTV MONITORING ROOM

EL 232.900'

70.99m

EL 232.900'EL 232.900'

70.99m
70.99m

L
REFER TO  

ANDSCAPING

REFER TO  
LANDSCAPING

70.99m

60x32 W
/D

FR
ID

G
E 

24
"

LANDSCAPED  
TERRACE

EL 234.500' 

71.48m

EXISTING ROOF

E
32

'-0
 1

/4
"

[9
.7

6m
]

21
'-0

"
[6

.4
0m

]

LAN LANDSCAPE PLANTINGLANDSCAPE PLANTING

RELOCATE  
EXHAUST  
GRILLE

REVISE EXIT  
STAIR TOTHE  
EXTERIOR
WESTSIDE 
YARD

EXISTING PARKINGENTRANCE

60
x3

2

3'0"

EL 218.500'  
66.60m

EL 216.680'
EL 216.680'

EXITEL 221.750'  
67.59m

E
X

IT

NEW EXTERIOR  
STAIR UP TO  
COURTYARD

S TA IR U P T O LE VE L 2 S T E P S
O V E R P A RKING S TRUCTURE .

S TA IR U P T O LE VE L 2 S T E P S
O V E R P A RKING S TRUCTURE .

PMT

NEW PMT RELOCATED AS  
SHOWN.

48 49464566.04m 44 5606.04m

67 .67m

B G 222 .000'

67.67m

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 S

L
EX

IS
TI

N
G

 S
LO

PE
11

.9
% GARBAGE STAGING  

AREA

B G  220.670' B G 220.670'  
67.26m           67.26m

EX
IS

TI
NG

 R
ET

AI
NI

N
G

 W
AL

L

EX
IS

TI
NG

 R
ET

AI
NI

N
G

 W
AL

L

EX
IS

TI
NG

 S
ID

EW
AL

K

EX
IS

TI
NG

 S
ID

EW
AL

K

18'-5"
[5.61m]

3'0"30

EL 221

67

B G 222 .000'.500'

.51m

3'0"

E L 221.500'
67.51m

STEPPED  
PLANTERS

6767 6767

B G 222 .000'

60
x3

2

S TA IR U P T O LE VE L 2 S T E P S
O V E R P A RKING S TRUCTURE .

3'0"

EL 221.500'

67.51m

EL 218.500'  
66.60m

B G 221 . 785 ' 
67 . 60m

B G 221 .190'  
67 . 42m

B G 221 .130'  
67 . 40m

B G 220 .670 ' 
67 . 26m

B G 224 .705 ' 
68 . 49m

B G 221 .690'
67. 57m

B G 221 .520'
67. 52m

B G 221 .230'  
67 . 43m

B G 221 .460'  
67 . 50m

B G 221 .060 ' 
67 . 38m

E L 221 .230 ' 
67 . 43m

E L 221 .300 ' 
67 . 45m

E L 221 .120 ' 
67 . 40m

E L 221 .300 ' 
67 . 45m

STEPPED  
PLANTERS

R O O F A B O V E

DSCAPE PLANTING

F
G

21
'-0

"
[6

.4
0m

]

22 3 4

REFER TO  
LANDSCAPING

18'-10"
5.74m

18'-8"
[5.69m]

18'-8"
[5.69m]

1

CCTV MONITORING ROOM

E
X

IT

E
X

IT

EXIT

EXISTING 
RESIDENTIAL
TOWER (151 E 

KEITH RD)

EXISTING  
RESIDENTIAL 

TOWER
(161 E KEITH RD) 

EXISTING  
RESIDENTIAL
TOWER (123 E 

KEITH RD)

setback at
ground floor

29
'-3

 3
/4

"
[8

.9
3m

]

8'
-0

1/
2"

[2
.4

5m
]

9'
-2

"
[2

.7
9m

]

33'-0 1/4"
[10.06m]

9'-11 3/4"
[3.04m]

29'-7 7/8"
[9.04m]

5'
-4

"
[1

.6
3m

]

28
'-0

 1
/4

"
[8

.5
4m

]

56'-4 1/8"
[17.17m]

10'-1"
[3.07m]

93'-8"
[28.55m]

51
'-4

 1
/2

"
[1

5.
66

m
]

47
'-2

 1
/2

"
[1

4.
39

m
] EXISTING  

BUILDING EXIT  
ACCESS TO  

STREET

setback at
level 2

SIDEWALK

REFERREFER TOTO
LANDSCAPINGLA
NDSCAPING

B G

73

79'

B GBB GB GB GB GB GBB G 240 .320' 

73.27337373.25m733733

BBB GB GBB GB GGG 240 .350' 

777373.26m73.77737

BB GBBBB GB GB G 240 .190' 

7773.21m3777

B G 240 .87

73.42m

EL 237.850' 2333737

7772.502.50m.50m572.5000m.50m772.50m72.5022.550m2.50m772. EL 237.750 '

72.47m

EL 238.550'  

72.71m

EL 222338.400'  44 0'238.400'  223223

72.66m66666666

3%%%%%3%3

3 RISERSS @@@@ 66. 5 "

4 4 RISERISERS @@ 6. 5 "

240 .16

0m

2

2

G

2

B GG 22122122211221211 .0.0.060 '
67 . 38m

E L 221 .120 '
67 . 40m

NG  TINN
G EXIT  

TO  S 
TEEE

0' E L 221 .300 '
67 . 45m

E L 221 .33030300.3033000000 '
67 . 45mmmmmmmm

4'
-1

1
1/

8"
[1

.5
0m

]

SIDEWALKSIDEWALK SIDEWALK

LETDOWNBOULEVARD BOULEVARDEXISTING LETDOWN

5'
-1

0
5/

8"
[1

.8
0m

]

REFER TO  
LANDSCAPING

NORTH

1

2

3

EAST 6TH STREET

EAST KEITH ROAD

4

4. ENHANCED STREETSCAPE
• A 1.5m LANDSCAPED BOULEVARD AND A WIDENED SIDEWALK WILL

BE  ADDED ALONG EAST 6TH ST TO ENHANCE THESTREETSCAPE.

2. BUILDING 2 - TOWNHOUSE BUILDING  

(4-STOREYS)
• 9 UNITS:  3 STUDIOS AND 6 3-BEDROOM UNITS

5. NEW EXTERIOR STAIRS & PATHWAY ACROSS THE SITE
• NEW EXTERIOR STAIRS AND LANDSCAPED PATHWAYS ALLOW PEDESTRIAN TRAVEL  

FROM EAST 6TH STREET THROUGH THE SITE TO EAST KEITH RD AND VICTORIAPARK.

5

1. BUILDING 1 - APARTMENT BUILDING  (4-

STOREYS)

• 31 STUDIO APARTMENT UNITS  (14 ADAPTABLE UNITS)
• ELEVATOR LOCATED TO PROVIDE BARRIER-FREE  ACCESS 

FROM ALL LEVELS OF THE PARKADE
• ROOFTOP GARDEN AND AMENITY SPACE

3.  NEW ACCESSIBLE RAMP / PATHWAY
• PROVIDES BARRIER-FREE ACCESS FROM KEITH RD TO  

EXISTING TOWER, APARTMENT BUILDING AND PARKADE  
VIA NEW ELEVATOR.

• NEW LANDSCAPING AND TREES TO CREATE A "GARDEN  
PATH" EXPERIENCE

• PROPOSED TOWNHOUSE BUILDING FROM PREVIOUS  
REZONING APPLICATION DELETED FROM THIS LOCATION

Site Plan___________________________



Landscape Plan_____________________
Planting Character

Evergreen & Shade Plants

Pacific Northwest Plants

NEW ACCESSIBLE RAMP / PATHWAYNEW ROOFTOP GARDEN & AMENITY SPACE

.NEW LANDSCAPING AND TREES TO CREATE A 

GARDEN  PATH" EXPERIENCE

NEW EXTERIOR STAIRS & LANDSCAPED PATHWAY ACROSS 

THE SITE (ALLOWS PEDESTRIAN TRAVEL  FROM EAST 6TH 

STREET THROUGH THE SITE TO EAST KEITH ROAD AND 

VICTORIA PARK.)

NEW LANDSCAPED BOULEVARD AND A

WIDENED SIDEWALK WILL BE  ADDED ALONG 

EAST 6TH STREET TO ENHANCE THE

STREETSCAPE.



EAST KEITH ROAD - LOOKING EAST

EAST KEITH ROAD ELEVATION

EAST KEITH ROAD - LOOKING WEST

3D Studies_________________________



EAST 6TH STREET - LOOKING EASTEAST 6TH STREET - LOOKING WEST

EAST 6TH STREET ELEVATION

3D Studies_________________________



Process Timeline____________________
The following diagram provides an overview of the steps ahead and opportunities for public input on the infill rental 
housing proposal for 151 East Keith Road.

Additional 
Neighbourhood & 

Community 
Meetings

November 2017-
March  2018

Developer 
Information 

Session
April 2017

Advisory Design 
Panel Review

February 2017

Application 
Submission

December 2016

Neighbourhood & 
Community 
Meetings

November 2016

Tenant Open 
House 

October 2016

Public Hearing
Anticipated 
for Summer 

2019

Neighbourhood
Open House
We Are Here

Staff Review
Spring 2019

Revised 
Proposal & 
Stakeholder 
Engagement
Early 2019 -

Ongoing

Public Hearing 
& 3rd Reading

April-May 
2018

Staff Report & 
1st-2nd Reading

March 2018



Thank You ______________________

Thank you for attending our Neighbourhood Open House.

Your feedback, insights and ideas are important to us. Please take a moment to fill in a 
comment card to share your feedback with the project team.

EAST 5TH STREETT



















































































































 

 



 









































SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



SUPERSEDED



6/12/2019

1

Public Hearing
151 East Keith Road
Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 8618
Housing Agreement Bylaw No. 8622

Presented June 17, 2019

Planning and Development

Introduction
For Council’s 
consideration, a rezoning 
application at 151 East 
Keith Road to support the 
development of two infill 
buildings, to add 40 
residential rental units to 
the property.

2



6/12/2019

2

Background
April 2018
• Council considered a proposal for three 

separate infill buildings:
– 33 studio units;
– 5 two bedroom townhouse units; and
– 2 three bedroom townhouse units.

• Council did not grant 3rd Reading.

3

Background
Current proposal
• Changes to the current proposal:

4

Removed the three unit townhouse building fronting the existing tower;
Added an access ramp from East Keith Road to the main entrance
of the existing tower and proposed courtyard;
Added three units to the proposed Building 2 for a total of nine units; and
Adjusted the parkade to accommodate more secured bike areas
and recycling and garbage enclosures.



6/12/2019

3

5

Site Location and Context

17 stories

15 stories

17 stories

3 stories

3 stories

5 stories

6

Official Community Plan

OCP Designation: Residential Level 6
(2.30 FSR with 1.0 FSR Density Bonus provision)
Height – 46 metres
Existing Zoning: RH‐1

Residential Level 5 
(1.6 FSR + 1.0 D.B)
6 Storeys



6/12/2019

4

Proposal – Site Design

7

The two proposed buildings are 
located to the west of the existing 
tower, and placed on top of the 
existing parkade structure.

Building 1 is a 4 storey apartment 
consisting of 31 studio suites, an indoor 
amenity area and a roof‐top deck.

Building 2 is a 9 unit townhouse, 
consisting of 3 studio units and 6 three 
bedroom units.

Proposed Setbacks

8

7.83 feet

10.0 feet

5.33 feet



6/12/2019

5

Proposed Access

9

Transportation and Parking

10

Recycling and 
garbage

Secured bike 
parking



6/12/2019

6

Official Community Plan
Limits density to 2.30 FSR with a potential bonus of 1.0.  
Maximum 3.30 FSR.

– Existing tower is 2.29 FSR.
– Infill buildings will add 0.88 FSR
– Total FSR = 3.17 FSR

11

Maximum Height is 46.0 metres.
– Tallest infill building will be 16.13 metres tall.

No amendment to the OCP is required.

Zoning Bylaw

12

The proposal will require an amendment to the Zoning 
Bylaw.  Using the current RH-1 Zone as a base, the 
following variances will be required:

Density increase to a maximum of 3.17 FSR.

Allow the minimum parking stall width to be reduced from 
2.5 metres (8.2 feet) to 2.44 metres (8.0 feet).

Reduce building setbacks from 7.62 metres (25.0 feet) to suit the 
locations of the proposed infill buildings.



6/12/2019

7

Other Policies
Housing Action Plan

All infill units will be secured as rental. 10% below market through SAFER.
Nine 3 Bedroom Units.

13

Active Design Guidelines
Indoor and rooftop amenity areas in the infill apartment for all tenants.
Stairway dominant. Common Courtyard.

Sustainability
Using an existing site. Connection to LEC.
Contribution to electrical charging station. No tenant displacement.

Urban Design
• Encourages pedestrian 

use.

14

• Helps frame Victoria 
Park.

• Provides a clear definition 
between public and 
private space.



6/12/2019

8

Conclusion
• Proposal does not require an amendment to the OCP.

15

• Requires a Zoning Bylaw amendment to support increase in density, 
adjusted building setbacks and parking stall size.

• Proposed infill buildings to be secured as rental.
• 10% of the infill units to be rented below market rates.

• Active Design Guidelines upheld.

• Most oppose the proposal with several in favor.

16

Thank you.



6/12/2019

1

151 E. Keith Rd. 

40 New Purpose-built Rental Homes in Lower Lonsdale

Community Benefits 

Increase in Rental Housing Stock

The proposal seeks to add 40 new purpose-
built rental homes on the site. 100% of the
new homes will be secured as rental homes.

No Tenant Displacement

There will be no loss of existing rental homes
on the site. None of the existing tenants in the
89-suite building will be displaced.

Support for Seniors

Starlight has established a partnership with a
local service provider to provide below-market
housing to vulnerable seniors.

Design Excellence

The project received unanimous support from
the City’s Advisory Design Panel in February
2017.

Maximize Existing Site

The development will maximize the use of the
existing site, including the currently
underutilized underground parkade, resulting
in minimal disruption to current tenants and
neighbours.

Affordable Housing

In alignment with the Housing Action Plan, 10% of the
homes will be offered at below-market rates. These units
will be rented at SAFER rates (30% below CMHC
average) and secured in perpetuity, exceeding City
requirements.

Housing for All

The development will include 34 studio units and six 3-
bedroom units. 14 of the units will be ‘adaptable units’.

Alignment with City Vision

The project aligns with the City’s Official Community Plan
(OCP).

Commitment to Sustainability

68 new bicycle parking spaces, a bike repair station, and
e-bike charging infrastructure will be provided on-site. A
$25,000 contribution will help finance a new EV charging
station in the City.

On-Site Amenities

Communal amenities will be provided for all tenants
including a new gym and rooftop deck. A new accessible
pathway and landscaping will provide enhanced access
to the existing building.



6/12/2019

2

Community (Re)Engagement

• Since May 2018, Starlight has reached 
out with a voluntary re-engagement 
program:

• Open house for 151 E. Keith Rd. residents
• Meetings with local stakeholders 
• Neighbourhood Open House (including full 

DIS notification)
• Meeting with neighbours at 123 E. Keith Rd.

Design Considerations

• Sensitive to 
site and 
neighbourhood 
context

• Respecting our 
neighbours

• Design 
excellence

• Activate and 
connect the 
streets

• Design for 
livability



6/12/2019

3

Design Changes

1. Removal of 
street-facing 
townhouse 
building

2. Addition of three 
units to building 2

3. Accessible ramp 
provided from 
street level to 
main entrance of 
existing tower

4. Additional 
elevator stop 
added at plaza 
level (between 
buildings 1 and 2)

Design Changes

5. Additional 
elevator stops 
added in 
parkade

6. Bicycle 
enhancements



6/12/2019

4

Landscape Design & Sustainability

• No excavation or 
greenfield 
development

• Refreshing a 40-year-
old site

• Retaining 9 existing 
trees and adding 50 
new trees

• Extensive green roof 
and rooftop amenity 
space

• Over 60% of site is 
open space

• Designed to meet 
Step Code 3 for 
energy efficiency

• Accessible, walkable, 
bikeable location

Thank 

you!



1

Subject: FW: 151 East Keith Road

From: Angela Girard (Councillor) <agirard@cnv.org> 
Sent: May-13-19 2:06 PM 
To: Don McDowall < > 
Cc: Karla Graham <kgraham@cnv.org> 
Subject: RE: 151 East Keith Road 

Hello Mr. McDowall, 

Thank you for your emailing me your comments and concerns regarding 151 East Keith Road. 

I appreciate you taking the time to write in to me, and will consider your comments when making my decision on this 
proposed project. 

Kind regards, 

Angela Girard 
Councillor, City of North Vancouver 
E: agirard@cnv.org | C: 604-209-6927 

From: Don McDowall < >  
Sent: Sunday, May 12, 2019 7:19 PM 
To: Angela Girard (Councillor) <agirard@cnv.org> 
Subject: Councillor Angela Girard 

Dear Councillor, 
I am writing to you concerning the third attempt by Starlight Holdings to build thirty six rental units and 
an undefined number of Townhouses with reduced setback at 151 East Keith Road North Vancouver 
V7L 1V1. 

In this particular case I am talking about a redevelopment to be built on top of an existing 
underground Parking Lot, adjacent to a fourteen storey high rise owned by the same Company who 
intend to reduce the size of their Parking Lot from 129 to 77 parking stalls including bicycle storage in 
an area of the City where parking is at a premium and virtually non existent after 6pm every night. 

The Official Community Plan for the City of North Vancouver states that developers should respect 
open spaces and surrounding properties. Starlight’s plan does not meet these criteria.  With reduced 
set back the buildings will further encroach East Keith Road and Victoria Park to the North and 6th 
Avenue East to the South, not a very pretty sight when one building sticks out further than all the 
others as one drives by Victoria Park along East Keith Road or 6th St East. 

Victoria Park on either side of Lonsdale Ave is without doubt  the most beautiful park in the City of 
North Vancouver multitudes of people spend time there, enjoying the well looked after landscaping 
and trees and flowers having picnics, watching children playing, people sunbathing and take great 
pleasure in walking their dogs or just going for a stroll. Not only that it is the site of our Cenotaph and 
on Remembrance Day each year thousands of people attend the Remembrance Day Service “Lest 

Received May 13, 2019
PH 151 East Keith Road
File: 01-0550-20-0315/1



2

we Forget” celebrations to remember the men and woman who never returned after the Great wars 
as well as other groups throughout the year. 

Rather than leave this pristine area well enough alone it appears that the City wishes to prioritise new 
building and do away with the sightlines looking down on the City of Vancouver in between the 
current high rises. This in itself does not undermine the integrity of the City’s Planning Department 
but begs the question does all  this make sense? 
You have no doubt heard about CBC News Posted May 5th 2019 where you would have seen that 
Developers and Landlords are now offering bonuses such as a free months rent or paying for move 
in expenses in an attempt to woo prospective tenants for the first time in six years. It is now officially 
a buyers market and there is now more supply than demand for rental space. 

Not only that but rental prices are falling and it is believed that the empty home tax and speculation 
tax paired with the completion ofso many new apartment buildings in the Greater Vancouver are 
driving the supply.  Fair to say it is time for our Mayor and Council to review our building policies 
bearing in mind the expected drop in rental prices that are happening now.  Surely it is not necessary 
to overbuild around a Place of Beauty like Victoria Park and shutting out the views of downtown 
Vancouver when there are other sites that one can focus on with more pleasing results and at the 
same time building bridges  instead of dissatisfaction with the local inhabitants elsewhere. 

Sincerely, 
Don McDowall 



1

Subject: FW: 151 East Keith Road

From: McGregor Wark < > 
Sent: June-01-19 1:24 PM 
To: Karla Graham <kgraham@cnv.org> 
Subject: 151 East Keith Road 

Mayor and Council, 

My name is McGregor Wark and I’d like to lend my support for Starlight’s 151 East 
Keith Road project. 

I think this project has a lot of merit for our community and I’d like to encourage you to 
formally approve the proposed rezoning at the public hearing. North Vancouver is in 
desperate need of more rental housing and projects like this are a fantastic way to 
deliver it in a way that doesn’t relocate anyone. As someone who is lucky to have a 
secondary suite to rent, I know there is a high demand for new rental.  

In the context of the site and it’s surroundings, I also think the design is really well 
thought-out and will add to the existing streetscape on East Keith. Residents of this 
project would be really fortunate to live in this quality project. 

All in all, I think 40 new rental apartments, with opportunities for seniors, on a site that 
will allow for infill development, is a fantastic way to go and I really hope its approved! 

Appreciate your time, 
McGregor Wark 
455 East 6th Street, North Vancouver 

Received June 1, 2019 
PH 151 East Keith Road
File: 01-0550-20-0315/1



1

Subject: FW: 151 East Keith Road

From: SPotter < >  
Sent: June-01-19 4:15 AM 
To: Karla Graham <kgraham@cnv.org> 
Subject: 151 East Keith Road  

Dear Mayor and Council, 

I’m writing to share my support for the rental housing project proposed for 151 East Keith Road that 
was recently referred to a Public Hearing for a second time. As a North Shore resident, living off of 
Ridgeway and 6th, and someone aware of the housing pressures our community faces, I’ve been 
following this project for some time. I am pleased to see it back before you for consideration as I think 
this is a worthwhile development for the community. 

This project is an absolute win for North Vancouver given it’s location and the fact that there is 
already room on site to build. Projects that look for infill opportunities like this are a really great way to 
deliver more housing, without displacing anyone in the process. I especially appreciate that the 
applicant has also included below market rental options targeted at seniors looking to age in the 
community – this is a really important demographic that will benefit hugely as a result of this project.  

I look forward to hearing of your decision. Thank you for the opportunity to comment. 

Sincerely, 
Samantha Potter 
455 East 6th Street 
North Vancouver, BC 

Received June 1, 2019 
PH 151 East Keith Road
File: 01-0550-20-0315/1



1

Subject: FW: 151 East Keith Road

From: T A < >  
Sent: June-06-19 5:07 PM 
To: Submissions <input@cnv.org> 
Subject: 151 East Keith Road  

Dear City Clerk, 

REFERENCE: Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8618 (CD-702) 
   Housing Agreement Bylaw. 2018, No. 8622 

   151 East Keith Road 
   Public Hearing Monday, June 17, 2019 at 7:00PM 
   Council Chamber, City hall 
   141 West 14th Street, North Vancouver 

As a senior tenant, for the last two years, at suite 905 – 151 East Keith Road, North Vancouver, V7L 
4M3, where we pay monthly for one bedroom suite $1,876.46 CND including garage (the landlord 
already recently increased 2%), we consider we have the right of tranquility, and peaceful life and 
environment we have not had for the last year. 

So far, during the last year and the current year we have had always renovations in all our 
suits around ours, causing tremendous noise every day, drilling, hammering and bumping 
and sometimes also on Saturdays. 

On top of that, the loses we have had in our suite flooding due to the old age of the heating system 
pipes, and also the leaking during rainy days in the garages, for which we pay $60 CND a month, 
and also in our storage locker, which we have been changing twice for flooding, and no matter the 
problem persists and the landlord/management recognized only 50% of our loses, still, today June 6, 
2019. administration has not been able to resolve the issue of flooding and leaking in storage area 
we were assigned. 

Last but not least, we had recently two days without fire alarm system, and the 
landlord/management had to pay for a security guard on site, and we have had enough with 
the noise caused by the construction of a new building  at 161 Keith Road East, besides ours.

All the above, in order to understand the following: if they are not been able to resolve yet the current 
issues and problems in this more than 42 years old building , why they are trying to build three more 
located at  the main façade of the building? 

Also several questions arise to me: 

1. How is going to be the entrance for tenants to our building with a big construction projects
obstructing our main entrance?

2. How is going to be the level of noise caused with this 2 infill residential buildings construction
added to the one we have already indoors due to the suites renovations?

Received June 6, 2019 
PH 151 East Keith Road
File: 01-0550-20-0315/1



2

3. How is going to be deteriorated and obstructed the road and Victoria Park located in front of
our rented building? Already damaged due to the construction of the 161 East Keith Road new
building.

4. How this project will obstruct the traffic, when we already have frequently in front of our
building heavy traffic because the bottle neck we continuously face in North Vancouver?

Honestly, this is not fair to any tenant in this building, when we pay high rent, and so far for 
more than two years we have been facing hell no matter we pay our rent on time. 

Regards, 
Tomas Alba 
905-151 Keith Road East
North Vancouver, V7L 4M3



1

Subject: FW: proposal for 151 East Keith Road

-----Original Message----- 
From: szabo 
Sent: June-07-19 7:57 AM 
To: Karla Graham <kgraham@cnv.org> 
Subject: proposal for 151 East Keith Road 

Dear Council, 

I am totally appalled that this proposal is before Council ...so many things wrong with it. 
However, if approved, it will close in our lovely Victoria Park which is such a jewel in our 
City. Do let us keep this openness with its nature that fits so well with our beautiful 
Park. Please carefully consider the implications of allowing encroachment and building 
concrete walls instead of trees and bushes.  

Thank you. 

Judith and Kalman Szabo 
1002-140 East Keith Road 
North Vancouver 

Received June 7, 2019 
PH 151 East Keith Road
File: 01-0550-20-0315/1



1

Subject: FW: 151 east keith road

From: Fredrick Pascal < >  
Sent: June-07-19 9:28 PM 
To: Submissions <input@cnv.org> 
Subject: 151 east keith road 

What can I say CNV spends time and our money establishing building guidelines like FSR, building 
height, setbacks etc and here we have another developement that ignores them and yet CNV allows 
them to be heard. Enough of this. 

This developemnt looks like David and Goliath. Sandwich between 2 towers. How can this be 
attractive. 

There is absolutely no parking at all in and around east 6th residences. I am having to find parking 
along lonsdale, St Georges, east 5th. With this develpemnt I'll be parking near the quay. 

More construction Yeah, Can hardly wait for more dust, construction noise, street closures. 

Buildings are too close together, which means a fire hazard. 

Again treees are being cut down thanks to CNV. Planting new trees in lieu does not work, as they 
take up to 20- 30 years to develope into having the ability to clean our air. 

In other words please do not let this development proceed. Do not follow in the shoes of the previous 
mayor who seems to enjoy increasing our population faster than improving our infastructure. 

Thanks for listening. But time will tell I guess. 

Fred Pascal 
104-123 east 6th street

Received June 7, 2019 
PH 151 East Keith Road
File: 01-0550-20-0315/1



1

Subject: FW: 151 East Keith Road

From: David Everett < >  
Sent: June-08-19 5:22 PM 
To: Submissions <input@cnv.org>; David Johnson <djohnson@cnv.org> 
Subject: Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8618 (CD-702)/Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2018, 
No.8622 

Dear David Johnson, Development Planner/North Vancouver City Clerk 

I have lived, and am currently living, in the area bounded by Lonsdale Avenue and St. Georges 
Avenue in the 100 block East 6th Street almost continually since 1972. I have gradually seen 
this neighborhood be transformed from a quiet low-density area to a noisy, difficult to find 
street parking hub of activity. The residents of this area have recently recovered from a two-
year construction disruption of a high-rise rental building next door and East of 151 East Keith 
Road. Your proposal of adding another estimated two years of construction to this area will not 
bode well for the current residents. 

* The estimated 70 vehicles parked in the undercover parking garage located under
the proposed construction zone will have to be displaced for the period of
construction. Where will the displaced vehicles be relocated?
   Parking on the 100 block of East 6th street is already at a premium. 

* How will the current residents navigate the 100 block of East 6th Street while
sharing the street with the multitude of construction related vehicles and also be
impeded by the necessary digging of the street to allow additional utilities
installation?

* The noise resulting from the construction activity will add to the stress of residents
after just recovering from the construction disruption of the high-rise rental building
next door to the proposed construction zone.

* Where will the additional vehicles resulting from the completion of construction be
parked?

I respectfully request that you vote down the proposed construction for the reasons I have 
mentioned. 

Sincerely, 

David Everett 
#209 - 141 East 6th Street 
North Vancouver BC   V7L 1P1 

Received June 8, 2019 
PH 151 East Keith Road 
File: 01-0550-20-0315/1



1

Subject: FW: 151 East Keith Road INFILL Rezoning Application

From: Audrey Brown < >  
Sent: June-09-19 2:02 PM 
To: Karla Graham <kgraham@cnv.org> 
Subject: 151 East Keith Road INFILL Rezoning Application 

To the Mayor and Council: 

I am contacting you to voice my disagreement with the above mentioned application and I am urging 
you to vote against it. 
Reasons: 

- the “street wall” as described by our city planner, will NOT “significantly improve the pedestrian
experience” 

- a building will never improve ones view over a garden or trees.
- rezoning this property to accommodate a developer/owner is the “thin edge of the wedge” to

future requests. 
- this company, Starlight, owns the property immediately east of where I live. I fear that will be the

next application. 
- traffic flow on upper and lower East Keith is already very busy
- the “street wall” on the north side of the property will darken the area and lessen the sunlight to

the park, thus closing in the existing openness. 
- offering 4 studio units at slightly reduced rates and utilizing the SAFER program (taxpayer

supported senior housing) is not a reasonable tradeoff 

On a positive note: 
- building smaller rental units along the west side of the building will not inhibit the park, however

they should be within the current setback bylaws 
- we all know that affordable housing is needed but to what end?

Audrey Brown – Owner 
#1201 – 140 East Keith Road, North Vancouver, B.C. V7L 4M9 

Received June 9, 2019 
PH 151 East Keith Road 
File: 01-0550-20-0315/1



1

Subject: FW: Rezoning Application for 151 East Keith Road submitted by Starlight Investments.

From: wayne collett  
Sent: May 17, 2019 2:56 PM 
To: 'lbuchanan@cnv.org' <lbuchanan@cnv.org>; 'hback@cnv.org' <hback@cnv.org>; 'dbell@cnv.org' <dbell@cnv.org>; 
'agirard@cnv.org' <agirard@cnv.org>; 'thu@cnv.org' <thu@cnv.org>; 'jmcilroy@cnv.org' <jmcilroy@cnv.org>; 
'tvalente@cnv.org' <tvalente@cnv.org> 
Cc: 'David Johnson' <djohnson@cnv.org> 
Subject: Rezoning Application for 151 East Keith Road submitted by Starlight Investments. 

Dear Mayor Buchanan and City of North Vancouver Council Members 

Re: The Charm and Beauty of Victoria Park and Its Surrounding Neighbourhood 

Victoria Park is formally recognized in The Canadian Registry of Historical Places. 

The Canadian Registry is a Federal, Provincial and Territorial collaboration which recognizes the 
contribution historic places make to communities. 

The Statement of Significance is reported upon as follows in The Canadian Registry. 

1. Description of Historic Place
2. Heritage Value
3. Character-Defining Elements

Received June 10, 2019 
PH 151 East Keith Road 
File: 01-0550-20-0315/1



2

I would emphasise two of the comments in the Character– Defining Elements section. Namely, 
“setting within a high density residential neighbourhood” and “open spatial qualities” because these 
two observations would usually be mutually exclusive. 

Achieving these two objectives is what has created the charm and beauty of Victoria Park and its 
surrounding neighbourhood.  



3

How was this accomplished? 

In a nutshell, by constructing high rise buildings with generous property line setbacks. The 
construction of high buildings created the “setting within a high density residential neighbourhood” 
and the design principle using generous property line setbacks created the “open spatial qualities”. 

Attached are several pictures which show the result of applying these two planning and design 
principles for the Victoria Park neighbourhood.  



4

' '1miiw&

nili SI
Bn"; i'i s

■"

l. -I -Si 'M M-.Iif’ ‘ -vk? ; ii Vo/ ■bm ;-'v/•N. ■ 'i -m*' -»
Sfi ‘ ^V / ^...virr

e;a, ■tv <

PP^I
1is-- - «•

H*1'V
•/V'

mv u
. i '

>ttn'.i T*

r'^1 5^

r
, /'.a-.i 11

4*: i
-

Ir' j

■ .> •

UMM
•’»: %«#r»• *

'MJJ:.

Wyb< ^-J

fey^'/V • ;
' -r*

(
*

I

u.‘•V .v

fcg’o . •y, i
•• i

<
'S' >J/S , 1S ’ t /.4'iWJ ,4»l.'V.- * ;'v

ssi#^P < 2
■ -V*

msms
-_4>. , : .:■

'— ■'9

■PL'Td



5

mm
ir —

• V-z rm
tPmvtrir m ■ ii*
J l.f.B -i fcTi ■ ''i.-i' S'vm?,

? Ait's'-

\ ? V.- •

n sgHk^ij.1

I i £\--i: . ii .
ni inBH Mi' i.J,

ii'If
■

WMiV*
-iLj P<»:

i it

. —-'
7-^rr

T.- .

M.-'
y -r~

_ ^ Ct3]= ^ni
^ CQ- 
? ^ ‘33

■ ^ ns
T?' S31
"H Bl|
^ai

*n ::7mn c ^
.-'■j

/
3H vtj3»-sr. 

JrFyx&SurnZ?

Z yy.

I
>’■.
V -■•

--B
4j/. > IEtj6^ k*.

■i '»V ■

■■B"—
BBH



6

This application fails to meet the design principles which have been responsible for creating the 
charm and beauty of the Victoria Park Neighbourhood. 

The most offensive request for approval is the radical reduction of property line setbacks both for the 
Victoria Park street setback and the western property line setback.  

Council should not approve these setbacks which totally ignore, and will destroy, the charm and 
beauty of Victoria Park and surrounding neighbourhood.  

Infill projects must respect neighbourhood values and characteristics. 

Should this application be approved, it will set a precedent for a couple of other properties adjoining 
Victoria Park and I am sure that the owners of these properties are watching the consideration of this 
application very closely.  

This project, if approved, is a developer’s dream as no additional costs will be incurred for land, 
parking or amenities. Additionally, the developer will not incur any financial expenses for relocating 



7

tenants and most significantly, will not suffer any rental revenue reductions during the construction 
period.  

What will enable this developers dream project to become a reality? 

Councils’ approval of the virtual disappearance of property line set backs which have been 
responsible for creating the charm and beauty of Victoria Park and neighbourhood.  

This is not a NIMBY argument. 

The charm and beauty of Victoria Park and neighbourhood are not exclusive benefits to only the 
surrounding residents but are enjoyed by all visitors to the park.  

Victoria Park is a gemstone in the City of North Vancouver’s Green Necklace bicycle and walking trail 
system and is used by many from other areas in the city.  

Annually the Remembrance Day Ceremony bring crowds to Victoria Park as does the Slide the City 
summer weekend program. 

This project, if approved, will destroy the values created for Victoria Park users and neighbourhood. 
These values have been created by past wisdom and vision applied to planning and development 
decisions.  

Please recognize, respect and sustain this wisdom and vision by not approving this application which 
has been rejected by council on two previous occasions. 

Respectfully submitted by: 
Wayne Collett 
#1501 – 123 Keith Road East 
North Vancouver  

Cc David Johnson, who I kindly request to forward a copy of this submission to all members of the 
Advisory Design Panel given the joint declaration of Victoria Park as a Canadian Historic Place.  



1

Subject: FW: 151 East Keith Road

-----Original Message----- 
From: Mike Holliday < >  
Sent: June-10-19 6:56 PM 
To: Karla Graham <kgraham@cnv.org> 
Subject: 151 East Keith Road 

To the Mayor and council, 

I wish to register my objection to the proposed infill rezoning application and I am requesting 
that you please vote against it. 

The green space as home to wildlife, trees, shrubs and greenery doesn’t need further 
encroachment. 

A “street wall” is a horrible idea! 

The park will lose its present openness. Instead it will feel closed-in and will reduce sunlight. 
This is not a beneficial step. 

I think this sets a precedent that will be hard to stop later on. There are several older affordable 
rentals around the park and the developers will surely look at those for tear down opportunities 
next. This will just be the beginning. 

Regards 
Mike Holliday 
Resident 1403-140 Keith E. Road 
North vancouver BC V7L 4M9 

Received June 10, 2019 
PH 151 East Keith Road 
File: 01-0550-20-0315/1



1

Subject: FW: 151 East Keith Road - Infill Rezoning Application

From: kcorson  
Sent: June-11-19 9:47 AM 
To: Karla Graham <kgraham@cnv.org> 
Subject: 151 East Keith Road - Infill Rezoning Application 

Hi, 

I understand that if I have comments on this proposal I send them to you and you forward them to 
members of city council.  If this is not the case please let me know how to direct the e-mail. 

I wish to make a few comments for council’s consideration in relation to my concerns about the above 
noted application 

I note that the application is a slightly revised proposal to one that was rejected earlier.  Having 
looked at the newest proposal in relation to the old I note that, though there have been some 
refinements, the revised proposal continues to ignore some major issues most of which were 
identified when the proposal was first rejected by council: 

Some of the comments are related to the proposal versus the Official Community Plan (“OCP”).  I 
would like to believe that the time and effort spent developing he OCP was with the intention of 
setting out basic principles and a  cohesive framework of development.  One of the main guiding 
principles is to create a liveable community recognizing the unique nature of established 
neighborhoods and the natural beauty of the North Shore.  This particular project “fails” in this regard.

First, the new buildings will mainly be built in areas of the property that are currently within the 
setback allowances specified on the area under the OCP. This alone should be enough to disqualify 
the project.  Ignoring lot line setbacks will change the nature of the surrounding area.    

Secondly, the project’s height (five stories plus service floor) and the fact that it will, for all practical 
purposes, be built to the edge of Keith Road (less a small allowance for sidewalk and a fringe of 
grass) will have a significant impact on the nature of Victoria Park.  Strictly speaking it will not 
physically encroach on the park as a structure but it will remove the “openness” members of the 
public using the park feel when they are in that area of the park.  In particular the area impacted is 
the area of highest family and group use within the park.  To make the concept of openness slightly 
more concrete let us consider an example.  If you stand at the corner of Lonsdale and 13th Street you 
feel hemmed in.  On the flip side there are a lot of amenities and residences there so this constriction 
can be seen as justified.  Now consider standing in the middle of Grand Boulevard Park.  Here you 
immediately feel the open spaces and unobstructed views.  Though the section of Victoria Park that 
will be affected does not have a total feeling of openness it is very close to that ideal because of set- 
backs and spread out buildings.  The proposal will significantly decrease the feeling of openness of 
the key area of the park.   

Thirdly, the proposal will set an incredibly dangerous precedent.  At the meeting where the proposal 
was originally rejected there was a statement by council that setting a precedent is not true.  Perhaps 
you will forgive my skepticism because I am given to understand that there are two potential similar 

Received June 11, 2019 
PH 151 East Keith Road 
File: 01-0550-20-0315/1



2

infill proposals waiting in the wings.  Is it council’s desire to totally ignore the OCP through zoning 
exemptions and have Victoria Park and/or Green Necklace shrink in stature until it becomes little 
more than a bike path with a couple of trees instead of the open area that gives life to the center of 
the City.  Is the Council prepared to set in stone that this is not precedent setting? 

Before continuing, there are some terms that have come into use in connection with the re-
submission of the proposal of which I take umbrage.  One is the term “street wall”.  Supposedly this is 
a valuable thing and we are told follows many precedents elsewhere.  The street wall is still a wall 
and will subtract from this particular area.  Also I do not see any mention of which parks that were 
enhanced by the street wall concept.  Most of the parks that I know of in Western Canada do not 
have street walls with the exception of one or two which are designed as English walled gardens or a 
classical Chinese garden.  How can such a term (street wall) be justified or used to say that the 
obstructive building enhances the character of a very nice park?  In addition the street wall is 
supposed to enhance the pedestrian experience.  What about the pathways that run though the park 
itself? 

Another term that seems to be floating around is “living edge”.  While the proposal has re-oriented the 
project so that the new residents will have a nicer access to the park,  it benefits only the residents of 
the new buildings.  To claim that it enhances the park for other North Vancouver residents is 
nonsensical. 

In addition, the arithmetic connected with the value to the City of the low rental units for seniors 
seems a bit off.  The contribution by Starlight seems to be $36,000 per annum.  Assuming inflation 
offset by the time value of money, it will take 100 years to get to $36 million, also only assuming that 
the Hollyburn contract is not cancelled at any time. 

Finally, and perhaps most important, an article in the June 6, 2019 edition of the Vancouver Sun calls 
into serious doubt the population projections that the City of Vancouver is using to drive its housing 
decision making.  Is The City Of North Vancouver also being driven by this overstatement?  If so can 
the City justify the allowances being made to get extra rental units that may not really be needed 
given current building efforts in progress? 

From the above I sincerely urge the council to reject the revised proposal. 

Respectfully yours, 

Keith Corson, 
301, 140 East Keith Road 
North Vancouver, 



1

Subject: FW: 151 Keith Rd East, North Vancouver 

-----Original Message----- 
From: Susan Brinton < >  
Sent: June-10-19 10:13 PM 
To: Karla Graham <kgraham@cnv.org> 
Subject: 151 Keith Rd East, North Vancouver  

To the Mayor and Council Members 

I am a resident of Keith Road East and I wish to strongly object to the proposed infill rezoning 
application at the above address. I strongly urge you all on Council to vote against this 
application. 

In a busy city, we value Victory Park and the surrounding green space for its openness and the 
home it provides for birds and other wildlife. We appreciate the beauty and pleasure its trees, 
shrubs and flowers give to all nearby residents and North Van in general. This should not be 
encroached upon for any reason. 

Allowing this rezoning application and erecting a ‘street wall’ is a terrible idea and will disrupt 
the light and open nature of the green space, sidewalks and pathways. Zoning regulations, 
particularly in residential neighbourhoods, exist for a reason and one is to limit development at 
the expense of neighbourhood green spaces. Allowing this application would set a dangerous 
precedent and lead to further developer requests to encroach and build ‘street walls’ along Keith 
Road.  

You would lose my support and my vote as Mayor and Council members if you allow this type of 
application to proceed.  

Sincerely, 
Susan Brinton  
Resident 
1403-140 Keith Road East, 
North Vancouver  

Received June 10, 2019 
PH 151 East Keith Road 
File: 01-0550-20-0315/1



North Vancouver City Hall 

141 West 14th Street, 

401- 140 Keith Road East,

North Vancouver, BC V7L 4M9

North Vancouver, BC V7M 1H9 

Subject: 151 Keith Road East - Rezoning Application 

To: Mayor Buchanan and Councillors Back, Bell, Girard, Hu, Mcilroy and Valente 

I want to express my total disagreement with this application and request Council to reject it. 

Starlight submitted a very similar request that went to Council a year ago which was not accepted. Now 

a slightly modified proposal has come forward again. Starlight is obviously hoping the new Council will 

not be aware of the community opposition. 

This proposal completely ignores the bylaws that require buildings to be set back 25 feet from the 

property lines. These bylaws are in place for good reasons and need to be respected. They ensure that 

buildings that surround the park are spaced so that sunlight is not cut off and buildings do not 

overshadow the park. I have seen the description in the application saying that buildings set close to the 

park will _'provide a sense of enclosure'. I have never read such nonsense. That would be the 

destruction of the park! The application also describes the building on Keith which would be 45 feet 

high as 'human scale'. Hardly - this is totally the opposite. 

There are approximately ten older rental buildings around the park. The owners of these buildings will 

be watching this decision. If Council allows owners to build covering the 25 foot setback, the whole park 

area will soon be wall-to-wall buildings - 'street walls'. These older buildings are well kept and are some 

of the most affordable living accommodation we have in our City. We cannot do anything that will 

encourage these buildings to be torn down and replaced with more 'market rentals' which are 

unaffordable for most people. 

The offer being put forward by Starlight to allow four affordable units out of the 40 additional units is 

totally weighted to provide Starlight with generous profits. They are targeting monthly rents of $1,550 

for 400 square foot units and $3,200 for 1,100 square foot units. They will still get at least $800 for each 

of the four studio SAFER units (including a taxpayer subsidy on each). Starlight would collect over 

$800,000 in rent from these 40 units and would only forego $36,000 income on the 4 units. This is no 

deal. 

Please stop this travesty on June 17. This is proposal is unacceptable for our City. 

Ellen Henshaw 

June 8, 2019

Received June 11, 2019 
PH 151 East Keith Road 
File: 01-0550-20-0315/1



1

Subject: FW: Proposed Development on East 6th Street

From: Dean Rath < >  
Sent: June-12-19 5:50 AM 
To: Submissions <input@cnv.org>; David Johnson <djohnson@cnv.org> 
Subject: Proposed Development on East 6th Street 

Re: Zoning Agreement Bylaw, 2018, No. 8618 
  Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2018, No. 8622 

Dear Council 

On the North side of 6th Street East, between Lonsdale Avenue and St. Georges Avenue, 
there are already three high density towers adjacent to each other. Adding 2 infill buildings 
with another 40 residents to the property of the high density tower in the middle, seems to 
me overly ambitious and greedy. It would be an addition to an already very densely-
populated small stretch of land. What next, more condominiums arching across the three 
tower-rooftops or some other crazed idea for ever-more-dense housing? 

Since the addition of the third adjacent tower, completed in 2018, (160 East 6th Street), I 
have noticed the already high premium for street parking on 6th Street become even 
worse. How? People seem to be squeezing their vehicles into tighter and tighter spaces. I 
marvel at times at how some vehicles manage to leave on occasions when there are only 
inches of space between the vehicle in front and in back of them. On Sunday May 26, 
2019, I saw a vehicle with only 6 inches of space between it and the car parked in front of 
it. I have never noticed such ‘sandwiching’ anywhere else in the City of North Vancouver.  

Yes, the 40 new residents would have their own parking “within the existing parking 
structure” but their guests would strain even further the already very in-demand street 
parking on this block of 6th Street East between Lonsdale Avenue and St. Georges 
Avenue.  
It seems to me that this would create an even more untenable situation. How long before 
someone reacts violently as they are unable to maneuver out from their parking spot on 
the street? Increased fender benders already seem inevitable. 

Plus, often, people are parked in front of the fire hydrant at The Arlington apartment 
building at of 141 East 6th Street. This poses a danger to access to the hydrant. And the 
situation would certainly not be improved with even more people clamoring for street 
parking space.  

Received June 12, 2019 
PH 151 East Keith Road 
File: 01-0550-20-0315/1



2

Question: If this project went through, where would all of the people from the 151 East 
Keith Road high rise tower park while their underground parking is being dug up? What a 
nightmare that would create. 
  
Finally, the apartment building just west of the three high density towers on East 6th 
Street is scheduled for demolition in the future. 
No doubt, another high density  tower will be erected. That will make 4 towers in a row, 
side-by-side, on this block. Is there another residential block in the City of North 
Vancouver with so many high density towers on one street? I do not think so. 
  
I implore you to consider how densely populated this section of 6th Street between 
Lonsdale and St. Georges already is.  
Please vote down this housing proposal. 
  
Thank you. 
Best, 
Dean Rath  
#202 – 141 East 6th Street, 
North Vancouver, BC, V7L 1P1 



I have many issues with this application and request Council to reject it.

A similar rezoning application was brought to Council in March 2018 and was soundly rejected by the 
community and was defeated in Council. It has now returned in a slightly modified form containing 
some very questionable comments and financial considerations.

1. This development proposal violates our stated OCP goals and objectives.

• CNV OCP Goals and Objectives Section 1.3, one of the first points states:
'Ensure that new development is compatible with the established urban form.'

• However, this proposal is not compatible with this established neighbourhood. In the 
'Public Realm' section of this application a number of statements are included seemingly 
supporting the incompatible building forms being proposed - including the following:

- this development proposes providing 'an active edge and street wall to the public realm';

- and 'consistent with many great and large parks across the country, there is a need to
provide a sense of enclosure through the provision of a street wall';

- and 'the proposed development incorporates a mid-rise form that is human scaled'.

Where is this coming from? I do not see or want 'street walls' around any of our parks! I do not see 
'street walls' in any park in Vancouver or anywhere else in Canada. Our OCP does not include 'street 
walls' for any park.

And when did buildings 59 feet high set only 8 feet from the property line become 'human scaled'?

These statements show exactly why this proposal does not belong in our City. The bylaw requires 
setbacks of 25 feet in order to enhance the park itself. This is important for the enjoyment of all the 
people from blocks around who come to this park.

151 East Keith Road - Rezoning Application - May 6, 2019

-Submitted by David Johnson, Development Planner

To the Mayor and Council - Input for the Public Hearing - June 17, 2019

2. Estimated Income for the Owner versus Density Bonus Benefit for our City

• The Density Bonus Policy 'seeks to ensure the City receives value for additional density';
- the report calculations show the Density Value as $3.45 million.

• However, based on target rental rates provided ($1,550 for 400 sq. ft. studio units, $3,200 
for 1,100 sq. ft. townhouses), the 40 units will bring in about $825,000 per year, (including 
the 4 units supported by the SAFER program at $800 per month). The total annual rent to 
be foregone by Starlight is $36,000.

How does this translate into a $3.45 MILLION value for our City? - in 100 years?

3. The Housing Action Plan is not necessarily in perpetuity

• The report states 'rents would revert to mid-market rates in accordance with City Policy if 
the contract with Hollyburn Family Services is terminated'.

• If this happens, the value from Starlight would be even less - the rent foregone would drop 
from $36,000 to $20,000 per year - an even worse deal.

Page 1 of 4

Received June 12, 2019 
PH 151 East Keith Road 
File: 01-0550-20-0315/1



4. Positioning of Infill Buildings

° The setbacks required on this property are 25 feet from the lot lines.
e This proposal is asking for 8 feet on the north side; 5 feet on the south; and about 10 feet 

for most of the west side.
• About 75% of the units would be located on the 25' setback area - this is an extreme and 

unacceptable situation.

5. Advisory Design Panel Review - from Feb. 15, 2017 - no further review has been done
o The 2017 review comments several times that buy-in by the neighbouring building (123 East 

Keith) would be necessary - including the following:
'I think we are allowing this building owner to do something which is not really in the 
zoning.'
'The setbacks are aggressive and neighbours to the east and west need to be satisfied.'

e There is no buy-in from their building or from others around the park.

6. Precedent Setting with Unwanted Consequences

• Allowing such reduced setbacks would cause other building owners to reconsider their 
options.

• There is already a development application in for 185 East Keith (80 rental units) which 
would require reduced setbacks. The owners of other well maintained, more affordable, 
older rental buildings all around the park (14 buildings with 560 rental units - home to 
more than 1,000 people) will be watching this requested bylaw change. If accepted, this 
change could lead to massive reconstruction and loss of our most affordable rentals - the 
exact opposite to what is needed.

7. Community Feedback

• The people who live in the immediate vicinity are totally opposed to the reduced setbacks 
and have major concerns with the impact on the park - both immediate and future.

Summary:

Our City already has over 2,000 units of rental housing built or in process - just counting mid and high- 
rise buildings - in the last seven years. We are providing substantial amounts of rentals.

This a Market Rental Project with only 4 units being offered at a subsidized rate in return for a multi
million dollar income stream for the owner. The benefit is insufficient to support such a major variance 
from the 25 foot setback. The community would be supportive of a small infill project but the majority 
of the footprint needs to fit within the buildable area on this lot, along with providing some SAFER units.

This is not a good deal financially for the City, it is not supported by the people who live around the park, 
and it could trigger a wave of proposals from other building owners who will demand similar variances.
A walled-in Victoria Park is certainly not my vision for this City and I hope it is not the vision for the 
majority on council. Please vote against this application.

Linda Fleese- #1501 -140 Keith Road East

Page 2 of 4



' Ground)
EAST KEITH ROAD

,> •. ,vi
f <i' ^ i/-97.3m

I/-210.0m MHto MH

EAST SIXTH STREET

■— cr\.<G^ir-JS-

ed Infill Development Starlight
Investments

Page 3 of 4



‘S
'l "

R
-

0
f\~

 (QsUfi^-

O
 

(^r?
~U

s^

Page 4 of 4



141 WEST 14TH STREET / NORTH VANCOUVER / BC / V7M 1H9
T 604 985 7761 / F 604 985 9417 / CNV.ORG                  

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING

Notice is hereby given that Council will consider:

Zoning Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8618
Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2018, No. 8622
to rezone the subject property from a High 
Density Apartment Residential (RH-1) Zone to 
a Comprehensive Development 702 (CD-702) 

buildings that would add 40 residential rental 

would add 0.88 FSR to the property, with 
the tallest building being approximately 18.1 
metres (59.3 feet) tall.  A total of 77 parking 
stalls would be located within the existing 
parking structure.

All persons who believe they may be 

an opportunity to be heard in person and/
or by written submission.  Written or email submissions must include your name 
and address and should be sent to the City Clerk, at input@cnv.org, or by mail 
or delivered to City Hall.  Submissions must be received no later than 4:00 pm, 
Monday, June 17, 2019, to ensure their availability to Council at the Public Hearing.  
Once the Public Hearing has concluded, no further information or submissions can 
be considered by Council.

The proposed Zoning Amendment and Housing Agreement Bylaws and background 
material will be available for viewing at City Hall between 8:30 am and 5:00 pm, 
Monday to Friday, except Statutory Holidays, from June 7, 2019, and online at 
cnv.org/PublicHearings.

Please direct any inquiries to David Johnson, Development Planner, at 
djohnson@cnv.org or 604-990-4219.

140

644

216

54
0

123

165

11
9

150

20
1

61
661

6

17
5

141
54

515

151

61
5

650

12
3

11
5

115

136

185

12
0

16
1

Lo
ns

da
le

 A
ve

St
 G

eo
rg

e’s
 A

ve

E Keith Rd

E Keith Rd

E 6th St

E 5th St

E 8th St

151 E Keith Rd

WHO: Urban Systems
WHAT: Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment
 Bylaw, 2018, No. 8618 (CD-702)
 Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2018, No. 8622
WHERE: 151 East Keith Road
WHEN: Monday, June 17, 2019 at 7:00 pm
 Council Chamber, City Hall
 141 West 14th Street, North Vancouver



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2018, No. 8618 Document: 1628354-v4 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8618 

A Bylaw to amend “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, 

Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8618” (Urban Systems / IMH 151 E Keith Apartments 
Ltd., 151 East Keith Road, CD-702). 

 
2. Division VI: Zoning Map of Document “A” of “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby 

amended by reclassifying the following lots as henceforth being transferred, added to and 
forming part of CD-702 (Comprehensive Development 702 Zone): 

 
 Lot Block D.L. Plan 
 
 B 114 274 15049 from RH-1 
 
3. Part 11 of Division V:  Comprehensive Development Regulations of Document “A” of “Zoning 

Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby amended by: 
 

A. Adding the following section to Section 1100, thereof, after the designation “CD-701 
Comprehensive Development 701 Zone”: 

 
“CD-702 Comprehensive Development 702 Zone” 

 
B. Adding the following to Section 1101, thereof, after the “CD-701 Comprehensive 

Development 701 Zone”: 
 

“CD-702 Comprehensive Development 702 Zone” 
 

In the CD-702 Zone, permitted Uses, regulations for permitted Uses, regulations for 
the size, shape and siting of Buildings and Structures and required Off-Street Parking 
shall be as in the RH-1 Zone, except that: 

 
(1) The permitted Principal Use on the Lot shall be limited to: 

 
(a) Rental Apartment Residential Use: 

 
i. Accessory Home Occupation Use subject to section 507(5), (6) and 

(7) of this bylaw; 
ii. Accessory Off-Street Parking Use; 
iii. Accessory Home Office Use; 

 
(2) Three Principal Buildings shall be permitted on one Lot; 
 
(3) Gross Floor Area 
 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2018, No. 8618 Document: 1628354-v4 

 
The maximum Gross Floor Area may be increased upon entering into a Housing 
Agreement with the City from a base density of 2.3 FSR to a maximum of 3.17 
FSR as follows: 

 
BASE DENSITY 

OCP 
Schedule ‘A’  

2.30 FSR  

ADDITIONAL (BONUS) DENSITY 
ADDITIONAL 
DENSITY 
CATEGORY 

DESCRIPTION 
ADDITIONAL 

DENSITY (BONUS) 
POLICY 

REFERENCE 

100% Rental 
Housing 

Secured rental 
apartment 
building  
(all units) 

0.88 FSR 
OCP 
Section 2.2 

 
TOTAL  3.17 FSR  

 
Such that the total effective on-site Gross Floor Area is not to exceed 3.17 FSR; 

 
(4) The north west building shall be sited as follows: 

 
(a) 3. metres (9.8 feet) from the west property line; 
 

(i) Notwithstanding 4(a), the secondary stairway may extend closer to 
the west property line, but the setback shall not be less than 1.65 
metres (5.41 feet); 

 
(b) 2.4 metres (8.0 feet) from the north property line; 

 
(5) The south west building shall be sited as follows: 

 
(a) 3.0 metres (9.8 feet) from the west property line; 
(b) 1.6 metres (5.2 feet) from the south property line; 

 
(6) The fifteen (15) storey tower shall be sited as follows: 

 
(a) 14 metres (45.9 feet) from the north property line; 
(b) 8 metres (26.2 feet) from the east property line; 
(c) 65 metres (19.7 feet) from the south property line; 
(d) 29 metres (95.1 feet) from the west property line; 

 
(7) The minimum separation distance between the north west and the south west 

building shall be no less than 8 metres (26.2 feet). 
 
(8) Figure 9-2 shall be varied to permit a parking stall width of no less than 2.4 

metres (8.0 feet); 
 

(9) Section 906(3)(a)(i)(a) to permit a parking stall width to be no less than 2.4 
metres (8.0 feet); 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2018, No. 8618 Document: 1628354-v4 

(10) All exterior finished, design and landscaping to be approved by the Advisory 
Design Panel. 

 
 

READ a first time on the 12th day of March, 
2018. 

READ a second time on the 12th day of March, 
2018. 

SECOND READING RESCINDED on the 13th 
day of May, 2019. 

READ a second time, as amended, on the 13th 
day of May, 2019. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2018. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2018. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CITY CLERK 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2018, No. 8622 Document: 1626592-v3 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8622 

A Bylaw to enter into a Housing Agreement (151 East Keith Road) 

WHEREAS Section 483 of the Local Government Act R.S.B.C. 2015 c.1 permits a local 
government to enter into a housing agreement for rental housing; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open 
meeting assembled enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2018, 

No. 8622” (Urban Systems / IMH 151 E Keith Apartments Ltd., 151 East Keith Road, 
CD-702, Rental Housing Commitments). 

 
2. The Council hereby authorizes the agreement substantially in the form attached to this bylaw 

between The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver and IMH 151 E Keith Apartments 
LTD with respect to the lands referenced as 151 East Keith Road, “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 
6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2018, No. 8618” (Urban Systems / IMH 151 E Keith Apartments 
LTD, 151 East Keith Road, CD-702). 

 
3. The Mayor and City Clerk are authorized to execute any documents required to give effect 

to the Housing Agreement. 
 
 

READ a first time on the 12th day of March, 
2018. 

READ a second time on the 12th day of March, 
2018. 

SECOND READING RESCINDED on the 13th 
day of May, 2019. 

READ a second time, as amended, on the 13th 
day of May, 2019. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2018. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2018. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CITY CLERK  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2018, No. 8622 Document: 1626592-v3 

TERMS OF INSTRUMENT – PART 2 
 

HOUSING AGREEMENT & SECTION 219 COVENANT - RENTAL BUILDING 
 
WHEREAS: 
 
A. The Owner is the registered owner of the Lands;  
 
B. Section 219 of the Land Title Act (British Columbia) permits registration of a covenant in 

favour of a municipality in respect of the use of land or the use of a building on or to be 
erected on land, that land is or is not to be built on except in accordance with the covenant 
and that land is not to be subdivided except in accordance with the covenant;  

 
C. Section 483 of the Local Government Act (British Columbia) permits a local government 

to, by bylaw, enter into a housing agreement that may include terms and conditions 
regarding the occupancy of the housing units identified in the agreement, including 
respecting the form of tenure of the housing units, the availability of the housing units to 
classes of persons, the administration and management of the housing units and the rents 
and lease, sale or share prices that may be charged; 

 
D. The City has enacted a bylaw authorizing this Agreement; and  
 
E. The Owner and the City wish to enter into this Agreement pursuant to section 219 of the 

Land Title Act and section 483 of the Local Government Act. 
 
NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the sum of $10.00 now paid by the City to the Owner and 
for other good and valuable consideration (the receipt and sufficiency of which the Owner hereby 
acknowledges), the Owner and the City covenant each with the other as follows: 
 
1. INTERPRETATION 
 
1.1 Definitions 
 
In this Agreement: 
 

(a) “Affordable Rent" means an amount equal to of the “Private Apartment Average 
Rents” for the corresponding bedroom type in the City of North Vancouver as 
published by Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation on its Housing Market 
Information Portal, using the most recently available Canada Mortgage and 
Housing Corporation information at the time the applicable Tenancy Agreement is 
entered into.  

 
(b) “Agreement” means, together, Part 1 and these Terms, including schedules 

attached hereto. 
 
(c) “Building” means two separate buildings to be constructed on the Lands following 

the registration of this Agreement on the LTO (the “New Buildings”), to be 
comprised of: 

 
i) a four storey building at the north west corner of the Lot, containing 31 

studio units; 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2018, No. 8622 Document: 1626592-v3 

ii) a four storey townhouse building at the south west corner of the Lot, 
containing 3 studio units and 6 three bedroom units; and 

 
iii) 2 levels of below-ground parking. 

 
(d) “City” means the Corporation of the City of North Vancouver. 
 
(e) “Claims and Expenses” means all actions, causes of action, suits, judgments, 

proceedings, demands and claims, whether at law or in equity, losses, damages, 
expenses and costs (including legal fees and disbursements on an indemnity 
basis) of any kind or nature whatsoever, at law or in equity, for any damage, loss, 
injury or death. 

 
(f) “CPI” means the All-Items Consumer Price Index for Vancouver, B.C. published 

from time to time by Statistics Canada, or its successor in function. 
 
(g) “Daily Amount” means $50.00 per day as of January 1, 2018 adjusted annually 

thereafter by adding thereto an amount calculated by multiplying $100.00 by the 
percentage change in the CPI since January 1, 2018, to January 1 of the year that 
a notice of default referred to Section 6.1(b) is delivered to the Owner by the City. 

 
(h) “Household” means the individuals who occupy a Mid-Market Rental Unit. 
 
(i) “Household Income” means the aggregate of income from all sources of all the 

occupants of an Affordable Housing Unit, based on the tax returns filed by such 
occupants with Canada Customs and Revenue Agency for the most recent 
taxation year. 

 
(j) “Lands” means those lands and premises legally described in Item 2 of Part 1. 
 
(k) “LTO” means the Vancouver/New Westminster Land Title Office. 
 
(l) “Mid-Market Income Level” means an amount equal to the Affordable Rent for a 

Mid-Market Rental Unit with respect to the proposed tenancy agreement, multiplied 
by 12 and divided by 0.3 (i.e. 30%). 

 
(m) “Market Rental Units” means all residential dwelling units in the New Buildings 

other that than the Mid-Market Rental Units. 
 
(n) “Mid-Market Rental Units” means those residential dwellings designated by the 

owner as Mid-Market Rental Units pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
(o) “Owner” means the person described in Item 5 of Part 1. 
 
(p) “Part 1” means the General Instrument – Part 1 (Land Title Act Form C) to which 

these Terms of Instrument are attached as Part 2. 
 
(q) “Rental Purposes” means an occupancy or intended occupancy which is or 

would be governed by a tenancy agreement as defined in the Residential Tenancy 
Act (British Columbia). 

 
(r) “Rental Units” means all residential dwellings in the Buildings. 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Bylaw, 2018, No. 8622 Document: 1626592-v3 

 
(s) “Rent Charge” has the meaning set out in Section 6.1. 
 
(t) “Section 219 Covenant” means a covenant pursuant to Section 219 of the Land 

Title Act. 
 
(u) “Tenancy Agreement” means an agreement, whether written or oral, express or 

implied, between the Owner and a tenant respecting possession or occupancy of 
a Mid-Market Rental Unit. 

 
1.2 Interpretation 
 
In this Agreement: 
 

(a) words importing the singular number include the plural and vice versa and words 
importing the neuter gender include the masculine and the feminine genders; 

 
(b) the division of this Agreement into articles and sections and the insertion of 

headings are for convenience only and will not affect the construction or the 
interpretation of this Agreement; 

 
(c) references to any article, section or schedule will, unless the context otherwise 

requires, mean that article, section or schedule of this Agreement;  
 
(d) every reference to each party is deemed to include the heirs, executors, 

administrators, personal representatives, successors, servants, employees, 
agents, contractors, officers, licensees and invitees of such party, wherever the 
context so requires or allows; 

 
(e) the words “include” and “including” are to be construed as meaning “include 

without limitation” and “including without limitation”;  
 
(f) all payments to be made will be deemed to be payments in lawful currency of 

Canada;  
 
(g) reference to “business day” means all days other than Saturday, Sunday and 

statutory holidays in the Province of British Columbia;  
 
(h) reference to “party” and “parties” means the one or more parties to this Agreement, 

as the context demands;  
 
(i) reference to a whole, for example, the “Lands”, includes reference to a portion 

thereof; and 
 
(j) unless expressly stated otherwise, the term “enactment” has the same meaning 

as under the Interpretation Act (British Columbia) and reference to a specific 
enactment shall be to that enactment, as amended or replaced from time to time, 
unless otherwise expressly provided. 

 
1.3 Acknowledgements 
 
The Owner acknowledges that: 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 5 
Bylaw, 2018, No. 8622 Document: 1626592-v3 

 
(a) nothing in this Agreement will relieve the Owner from any obligation or requirement 

arising under any enactment, including City bylaws, in respect of the use, 
subdivision and development of the Lands; and 

 
(b) nothing contained or implied in this Agreement will prejudice or affect the City's 

rights, powers, duties or obligations in the exercise of its functions pursuant to the 
Local Government Act (British Columbia), the Community Charter (British 
Columbia) or other enactment, including City bylaws.  

 
2. SECTION 219 OF THE LAND TITLE ACT 
 
2.1 Section 219 Covenant 
 
The Owner hereby covenants and agrees with the City, as a covenant in favour of the City 
pursuant to Section 219 of the Land Title Act (British Columbia), it being the intention and 
agreement of the Owner that the provisions in this Agreement be annexed to, and run with and 
be a charge upon the Lands, that notwithstanding the enactment of the Rezoning Bylaw, the 
Lands will be subdivided, used, built and used only in strict compliance with the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement.  
 
2.2 Section 219 Indemnity 
 
As an indemnity pursuant to section 219(6) of the Land Title Act (British Columbia), the Owner 
shall indemnify the City against all Claims and Expenses arising out or, in any way related to or 
that would not or could not be sustained but for, this Agreement, including, but not limited to, the 
exercise by the City of any rights granted in this Agreement, or any restrictions imposed 
pursuant to this Agreement, except if resulting from a negligent action or omission by the City. 
 
2.3 Registration of the indemnity in the LTO 
 
At the City’s direction, the indemnity contained herein will be filed for registration in the LTO 
under a separate registration number from the Section 219 Covenant contained in this 
Agreement. 
 
2.4 Release  
 
The Owner hereby releases the City from all Claims and Expenses arising out of or in any way 
related to this Agreement, including, but not limited to, the exercise by the City of any rights 
granted in this Agreement, or any restrictions imposed pursuant to this Agreement, except if 
resulting from a negligent action or omission by the City. 
 
2.5 Survival of release and indemnity 
 
The indemnity and release in this Section 2 will survive any discharge, expiration, termination or 
cancellation of this Agreement. 
 
3. RENTAL UNITS 
 
3.1 Rental Units 
 
The Rental Units shall only be used for Rental Purposes.  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 6 
Bylaw, 2018, No. 8622 Document: 1626592-v3 

 
3.2 No Subdivision 
 
The Lands shall not be subdivided pursuant to the Land Title Act (British Columbia), the Strata 
Property Act (British Columbia) or otherwise without the prior written consent of the City, except 
that this Section 3.2 shall not prevent the Owner from proceeding to subdivide the Lands to 
create one or more air space parcels (but not strata lots), provided that each Building is entirely 
contained within a single air space parcel. 
 
3.3 No Separate Sale or Transfer 
 
In the event that the Lands are subdivided (pursuant to the Land Title Act (British Columbia), the 
Strata Property Act (British Columbia) or otherwise), in accordance with section 3.2, with the 
written consent of the City or in contravention of Section 3.2, the resulting parcels (including 
strata lots) shall not, without the prior written consent of the City, be sold or otherwise 
transferred separately. 
 
4. MID-MARKET RENTAL UNITS 
 
4.1 Mid-Market Rental Unit Designation 
 
Four of the Rental Units within the New Buildings shall be used, occupied and rented in 
accordance with the requirements of this Section 4 and shall constitute the Mid-Market Rental 
Units.  Before using or occupying the New Buildings, and before issuance of an occupancy 
permit for the New Buildings, the Owner shall designate, in writing, to the City which the Rental 
Units in the New Buildings are the Mid-Market Rental Units.  
 
4.2 Mid-Market Rental Unit Mix 
 
The Mid-Market Rental Units shall meet the following ‘unit mix’ requirements, and the Owner’s 
designation under section 4.1 shall comply with such requirements: 
 

(a) 4 studio units; 
 
4.3 Rent Restrictions & Tenure Requirements 
 

(a) Mid-Market Rental Units shall only be rented to and occupied by a Household 
having a Household Income less than or equal to the Mid-Market Income Level. 

 
(b) Before entering into a Tenancy Agreement for a Mid-Market Rental Unit, the 

Owner shall: 
 

(i) obtain from the prospective tenant, in writing, the names of all members of 
the Household that will occupy the Mid-Market Rental Unit; 

 
(ii) obtain, from the prospective tenant, the tax returns filed with Canada 

Customs and Revenue Agency for the most recent taxation year for each 
individual identified under Section 4.3(a)(i) who was required to file a tax 
return for that taxation year; and 

 
(iii) take such other steps as may be reasonably necessary, in the opinion of 

the Owner, to confirm that the Mid-Market Rental Unit shall be occupied by 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 7 
Bylaw, 2018, No. 8622 Document: 1626592-v3 

a Household having a Household Income less than or equal to the Mid-
Market Income Level. 

 
(c) If a Tenancy Agreement is entered into in respect of a Mid-Market Rental Unit, 

the Owner shall retain copies of all documents obtained pursuant to Section 
4.3(b) and will make and retain records of any information obtained pursuant to 
Section 4.3(b) in respect of such tenancy for a period of no less than one year 
following the expiration or earlier termination of such Tenancy Agreement, 
subject to any applicable restrictions under the Personal Information Protection 
Act (British Columbia) or other applicable privacy legislation, and the Owner 
shall, within 14 days following a request from the City from time to time, provide 
copies of such documents and records to the City, subject to any applicable 
restrictions under the Personal Information Protection Act (British Columbia) or 
other applicable privacy legislation. 

 
(d) The Owner shall not enter into a Tenancy Agreement for a Mid-Market Rental 

Unit unless the requirements of Sections 4.3(b) and 4.3(c) have been satisfied in 
relation to such Tenancy Agreement. If those requirements have been satisfied, 
the Owner will have no liability to the City in the event that any information 
provided by the tenant to the Owner under Section 4.3(b) in relation to the 
Tenancy Agreements proves to be false or if the Household Income of the 
occupants of the Mid-Market Rental Unit increases during the term of the 
Tenancy Agreement. 

 
(e) The monthly rent payable for a Mid-Market Rental Unit shall not exceed the 

Affordable Rent, except that the Owner may increase the rent under a Tenancy 
Agreement in accordance with the provisions of the Residential Tenancy Act 
(British Columbia). 

 
(f) The Owner shall not require a tenant of a Mid-Market Rental Unit to pay any 

extra charges or fees for use of any common property, limited common property, 
or other common area, for property taxes or for sanitary sewer, storm sewer, 
water utilities and similar services, except in respect of the following: 

 
(i) any utilities not included in the Tenancy Agreement, including without 

limitation, television/cable, internet and telephone; 
 
(ii) any utilities for which individual meters are provided by the Owner, from 

time to time; 
 
(iii) parking; 
 
(iv) use of bicycle storage lockers or other facilities; 
 
(v) use of storage lockers; and 
 
(vi) booking for exclusive use of any common amenity spaces as may be made 

available for such booking by the Owner from time to time. 
 
(g) Mid-Market Rental Units shall be occupied only pursuant to a written Tenancy 

Agreement; 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 8 
Bylaw, 2018, No. 8622 Document: 1626592-v3 

(h) The initial term of every Tenancy Agreement for a Mid-Market Rental Unit shall 
be for 1 year. 

 
(i) Every Tenancy Agreement for a Mid-Market Rental Unit will identify all members 

of the Household and will stipulate that anyone not identified in such Tenancy 
Agreement will be prohibited from residing at the Mid-Market Rental Unit for more 
than 30 consecutive days or more than 45 days total in any calendar year.  

 
(j) Every Tenancy Agreement for a Mid-Market Rental Unit shall provide that the 

tenant shall not sublease the Mid-Market Rental Unit or assign the Tenancy 
Agreement, without the consent of the Owner.  

 
(k) The Owner shall not consent to a sublease of a Mid-Market Rental Unit or to an 

assignment of a Tenancy Agreement in respect of a Mid-Market Rental Unit, 
except if the requirements of Sections 4.3(b) and (c) are first satisfied in relation 
to the proposed subtenant or assignee. 

 
(l) The Owner shall deliver a copy of every Tenancy Agreement in respect of a Mid-

Market Rental Unit to the City within 14 days following a request from the City 
from time to time. 

 
(m) The restrictions under Sections 4.3(a), (b) and (c) shall not apply to a Tenancy 

Agreement in respect of a Mid-Market Rental Unit entered into within 6 months 
following the date of issuance of an occupancy permit for the New Buildings if the 
tenant under the Tenant Agreement was a tenant of the Existing Building on the 
date of registration of this Agreement. 

 
(n) The requirements of this Section 4.3 shall cease to apply from and after the 10th 

anniversary of the date this Agreement is registered in the LTO. 
 
(o) The Owner shall, within 14 days following a written request from the City, but no 

more than once each calendar year, provide the City with a statutory declaration 
in a form determined by the City, sworn by the Owner, or by an officer or director 
of the Owner if the Owner is a corporation, before a commissioner for taking of 
affidavits for British Columbia under the Evidence Act (British Columbia) setting 
out the current monthly rent amounts for each Tenancy Agreement in respect of 
a Mid-Market Rental Unit as of the date of the statutory declaration. 

 
4.4 Partnership with Hollyburn Family Services 
 
Notwithstanding Section 4.3, the Owner may enter into a partnership (by way of a signed, 
written agreement) to secure the four Mid-Market Units with Hollyburn Family Services, or 
similar organization approved in writing by the City, for the purposes of providing affordable 
housing to vulnerable seniors through the SAFER subsidy, which purposes shall be expressly 
stated in the agreement and if, and for so long as a Mid-Market Rental Units is subject to such 
an agreement, the restrictions under section 4.3 shall not apply to such Mud-Market Rental Unit.  
The Owner shall provide to the City a copy of every such lease, and every amendment thereto, 
promptly following the execution thereof. 
 
5. DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 
 
5.1 Default and remedies 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 9 
Bylaw, 2018, No. 8622 Document: 1626592-v3 

 
(a) If the Owner fails to comply with any of its obligations under this Agreement, the 

City may notify the Owner in writing (at the address shown on title to the Lands in 
the LTO at the relevant time) that the Owner is in default, describe the default, 
and instruct the Owner to correct the default within 15 days of receiving the 
notice, or such longer period as the City may consider necessary to correct the 
default given the nature of the default (the “Cure Period”). 

 
(b) Upon receipt of a notice from the City under Section 5.1(a), the Owner will 

diligently proceed to correct the default within the Cure Period. 
 
(c) The Owner agrees that the public interest in ensuring that all of the matters 

described in this Agreement are complied with strongly favours the award of a 
prohibitory or mandatory injunction, or an order for specific performance or other 
specific relief, by the Supreme Court of British Columbia at the instance of the 
City, in the event of an actual or threatened breach of this Agreement.   

 
(d) No reference to or exercise of any specific right or remedy by the City, shall 

prejudice or preclude the City from exercising any other right or remedy, whether 
allowed at law or in equity or expressly provided for in this Agreement, and no 
such right or remedy is exclusive or dependent upon any other such remedy and 
the City may from time to time exercise any one or more of such remedies 
independently or in combination.   

 
5.2 City may perform Owner’s obligations  
 
Without limiting Section 5.1, if, following notice from the City under Section 5.1(a), the Owner 
fails to correct the default within the Cure Period, the City may (but is not obligated to), upon 
giving to the Owner five days’ prior written notice describing the default, or immediately in the 
case of an emergency, perform such obligations, for and on behalf of and at the sole cost of the 
Owner. 
 
5.3 Owner will reimburse City for its costs 
 
Upon receipt of written demand for same, the Owner will pay to the City all costs incurred by the 
City under Section 5.2, including a 30% administrative fee.  
 
6. RENT CHARGE 
 
6.1 Rent Charge 
 

(a) The Lands are subject to a daily rent charge (the “Rent Charge”), payable by the 
Owner on the first of each calendar month (the “due date”), in the amount equal 
to the Daily Amount, which Rent Charge is deemed to accrue day to day, from 
and after the Rent Charge Default Date until the Default Correction Date (each 
as defined in subsection (b) below). 

 
(b) The Rent Charge shall abate against the Lands, and no amounts will accrue or 

be payable by the Owner thereunder, until such time (the “Rent Charge Default 
Date”) as the Owner does not comply with section 4.3(e) in relation to a Mid-
Market Rental Unit and the Owner does not, within Cure Period, correct that 
default by reducing the rent under the Tenancy Agreement to the Affordable Rent 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 10 
Bylaw, 2018, No. 8622 Document: 1626592-v3 

plus any increase permitted under the Residential Tenancy Act (British 
Columbia).  For clarity, the Rent Charge shall to accrue on a day to day basis for 
every day that a default continues after Cure Period until the Owner has 
corrected that default by reducing the rent under the Tenancy Agreement to the 
Affordable Rent plus any increase permitted under the Residential Tenancy Act 
(British Columbia) (the “Default Correction Date”).   

 
(c) Any arrears of Rent Charge shall bear interest from the due date until payment at 

the rate of eleven per cent (11%) per annum and shall be a charge upon the 
Lands in the same manner as the Rent Charge hereby charged on the Lands. 

 
(d) The Rent Charge ranks prior to all other financial charges and encumbrances 

registered at any time against the Lands.  
 
(e) The Rent Charge is granted both under section 219(6)(b) of the Land Title Act 

(British Columbia) as an integral part of the Section 219 Covenant contained in 
this Agreement, and as a fee simple rent charge at common law.  

 
(f) The City may enforce and collect the Rent Charge by any combination or all of: 

 
(i) an action against the Owner for the Rent Charge; 
 
(ii) distraint against the Lands to the extent of the Rent Charge; 
 
(iii) an action for appointment of receiver in respect of the Lands; or 
 
(iv) an order for sale of the Lands 

 
7. GENERAL 
 
7.1 Building manager 
 
If the Owner retains a building manager in respect of the Building, the Owner shall instruct and 
ensure that the building manager complies with the terms of this Agreement. 
 
7.2 Severance 
 
If any portion of this Agreement is held invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the invalid 
portion will be severed and the decision that it is invalid will not affect the validity of the 
remainder of this Agreement. 
 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 11 
Bylaw, 2018, No. 8622 Document: 1626592-v3 

7.3 Runs with the Lands 
 
The Section 219 Covenant (including the Rent Charge) herein will run with, and bind the 
successors in title to, the Lands and each and every part into which the Lands may be divided 
or subdivided, whether by subdivision plan, strata plan or otherwise. 
 
7.4 Notice of Housing Agreement 
 
This Agreement constitutes both a covenant under section 219 of the Land Title Act and a 
housing agreement entered into under section 483 of the Local Government Act.  The Owner 
acknowledges that the City is required to file a notice of housing agreement in the LTO against 
title to the Land; and once such a notice is filed, this Agreement binds all persons who acquire 
an interest in the Land as a housing agreement under section 483 of the Local Government Act. 
 
7.5 Limitation on Owner’s Obligations 
 
In accordance with section 219(8) of the Land Title Act (British Columbia), a person is not liable 
for a breach of this Agreement occurring after that person has ceased to be an owner of the 
Lands.   
 
7.6 Further Assurances 
 
The parties will execute and do all such further deeds, acts, things and assurances that may be 
reasonably required to carry out the intent of this Agreement. 
 
7.7 Waiver 
 
Waiver by the City of a default by the Owner will be in writing and will not be deemed to be a 
waiver of any subsequent or other default. 
 
7.8 Enurement 
 
This Agreement will enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their 
respective successors and assigns. 
 
7.9 Priority 
 
The Owner will take all steps necessary to ensure that this Agreement is registered in the LTO 
in priority to all charges and encumbrances which may impair the covenants granted in this 
Agreement and, in any event, in priority to all financial charges. 
 
7.10 Counterparts and Electronic Delivery 
 
This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and delivered via facsimile or 
e-mail, each of which will be deemed to be an original and all of which taken together will be 
deemed to constitute one and the same instrument, provided that any party delivering this 
Agreement via facsimile or e-mail will deliver to the other party an originally executed copy of 
this Agreement forthwith upon request by the other party. 
 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 12 
Bylaw, 2018, No. 8622 Document: 1626592-v3 

IN WITNESS OF THIS AGREEMENT the City and the Owner have executed this Agreement by 
signing the “Form C - General Instrument - Part 1” or “Form D – Executions Continued” attached 
hereto: 
 
 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER
 
 
  
MAYOR 
Linda C. Buchanan 
 
 
  
CITY CLERK 
Karla D. Graham 
 

 
 
IMH 151 E KEITH APARTMENTS LTD  
 
 
 
  
Authorized Signatory 
 
 
Printed Name 
 
 
 
 
Authorized Signatory 
 
 
Printed Name 

 


	1 Agenda
	2 Minutes - June 10, 2019�
	3 Minutes - June 11, 2019
	IR Jun 5 2019 - Cool It Challenge�
	IR Jun 5 2019 - Living City Awards
	*4 Bylaw 8711�
	5 NVFC
	5 Delegation�
	5 Correspondence�

	6 Cycling Without Age
	6 Delegation�
	6 Correspondence�

	7 Cor - Rail-Volution Conference�
	8 Mosquito Creek Bridge�
	9 Bylaw 8722�
	10 Bylaw 8723�
	11 Bylaw 8724�
	12 Bike Valet�
	12-1 Rpt Mar 20 2019�
	12-2 Proposed Amendments�

	PH 151 E Keith
	Rpt - May 6 2019
	1-Map
	2-Revised Summary
	3-Revised Plans
	4-Consultation - Updated
	5-Affordability - Updated
	6-Sustainability
	7-Original Rpt Mar 7 2018
	8-Original Plans

	Staff PP - 151 E Keith�
	Applicant PP - 151 E Keith�
	Submissions - 151 E Keith
	Notice - 151 E Keith�

	13 Bylaw 8618�
	14 Bylaw 8622�
	15 NOM - Land and Housing Strategies



